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Our New Nomenclature
 
We are now Bharat Financial Inclusion 
Limited.
 
SKS was an abbreviation for Swayam 
Krishi Sangam. the name was adopted 
at the time of inception. At that point in 
time, the company ran its operations in 
a single state – the undivided Andhra 
Pradesh and offered a single product – an 
income generation loan. today, 12 years 
later, we have emerged as one of the 
largest microfinance companies in india 
with presence across 18 states, covering 
1,00,000 villages and catering  to its 69.7 
lakh women  members. We leveraged 
our distribution network and close-
to-the-consumer model to facilitate 
purchase of productivity enhancement 
tools.
 
During the last two decades, the 
old paradigms of the microfinance 
business have changed. Within the 
company, value has now migrated from 
competition centricity to customer 

centricity; Scale to Efficiency; and, 
Growth to Profitable Growth. today, we 
have established our position in the 
marketplace for responsible lending, 
delivering promises, best-of-breed 
efficiency and paperless centre meetings. 
Having undergone a transformation in 
the last five years, it was only appropriate 
and natural for us to consider a new 
name reflecting our new brand and 
delivery capabilities. 
 
With a pan-india presence, a large 
member base and a multiple-product 
delivery capability, we are well equipped 
to play a complimentary role in fulfilling 
the national priority of financial inclusion. 
‘Bharat’ , the Sanskrit name of india, is 
truly national. ‘Financial Inclusion’ is 
the delivery of financial services at an 
affordable cost to economically weaker 
sections of the society – which is our core 
business. We have a unique distinction 
of having a formidable, pre-dominantly 
rural network across the country, making 
the new name perfectly suited for us. 
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We are the largest MFI in India by 
number of borrowers, branches and 
districts as on March 31, 2016 and have 
a gross loan portfolio of  `7,677 crore*. 
We are primarily engaged in providing 
microfinance for income generating 
activities to low-income individuals in 
rural India.

Our Unique service proposition are:

yy We lend only to Women

yy We lend for Income generation 
activities

yy We offer loans with repayment 
frequency mirroring cash flows of our 
customers

yy We follow Joint liability group model

yy We provide door step delivery of our 
services through center meetings in 
villages 

yy We primarily focus on rural areas

Our operating model gives us an edge in 
understanding and servicing the needs 
of our customers and places us at a 
leading position in most of our operating 
geographies.

We offer the lowest interest rate 
among private sector mFis

We offer microfinance loans at  
19.75%, which makes us the lowest cost 
private sector microfinance institution in 
the globe.

Most 
EFFIcIEnt 
MFI on the 
GlObE

Oct-14Jan-11  
Sep 14

23.55% 22.00%

4.8% reduction in 1.5 years

Lowest 
interest rate 
charged by 
any private 
sector MFI on 
the globe

20.75%

19.75%

Jul-15 Oct-15 Dec-15

IntErESt ratE rEDUctIOn

24.55%

*Outside the states of andhra Pradesh and telangana
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oVERVIEW 
We,  bharat Financial Inclusion limited (formerly ‘SKS Microfinance limited’), are the 
second largest microfinance company in India with a gross loan portfolio of ` 7,677 
crore*, a membership base of 5.6* million and 1,324 branches. We are the most efficient 
MFI providing loans for income generating activities to low income women borrowers at 
industry’s lowest lending rate of sub 20%.

Our core business is providing small value loans and certain other basic financial services 
to our members. Our members are predominantly located in rural areas in India and 
we extend loans to them mainly for income generating activities and not for personal 
consumption. these individuals often have no, or very limited, access to loans from 
institutional sources of financing. We believe that non-institutional sources typically charge 
very high rates of interest.

We intend to grow at a healthy pace, driven by our vast geographical presence, 
experienced management, efficient operating metrics, a comfortable capital position and 
optimal utilisation of existing infrastructure. 

 large unmet credit demand in the microfinance sector, low competitive intensity, 
supportive regulations, strong balance sheet and best-in-class operating metrics help us 
secure leadership position in the industry.

* Outside the states of andhra Pradesh and telangana

Most efficient MFI 
providing loans for 
income generating 

activities to low 
income women 

borrowers at 
industry’s lowest 

lending rate of  
sub 20%

AT A

gl
an

ce

ouR MIssIon
Our mission is to provide 
financial services to the 
economically weaker 
sections.

ouR VIsIon
Our vision is to serve 
50 million households 
across India and other 
parts of the world and 
also create a commercial 
microfinance model that 
delivers high value to our 
customers.

coRE VALuEs

Right Focus – Customer First
Our products, processes and people are all focused on creating the highest value for 
the customer. this includes being respectful to customers, understanding the needs of 
customers and being transparent with customers.

Right Means – Ethics Always
We will follow ethical practices in all our relationships at all times, including following 
the law both in letter and spirit. this includes not offering bribes, not paying or taking 
commissions, or any other short-cuts.

Right Way – Consistent Quality
We will have standardised processes as this will enable us to reach out to the most 
customers cost effectively. We will foster innovation but in a way that ensures consistent 
quality.
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* Outside the states of andhra Pradesh and telangana

**  Excluding Security Deposit

^ Includes on and off balance Sheet  borrowings and 
processing fees for Q4FY16

^^  Excluding Managed loans (`1,064 crore)

# net fee post the incentive payout and sans transfer 
pricing of other operating cost
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1,324  
branches 

6,323 
Sangam Managers* 

5.6 
million
Members* 

Up 
24%

Up 
84%

`52,040 
crore 
cumulative Disbursement 
till FY16 

`12,088 
crore
Disbursements 

Up 
75%

`7,677 
crore
Gross loan Portfolio* 

`1,383 
crore
networth 

23.1%
capital adequacy  
ratio

`7,317 
crore
Drawdowns^^ 

`1,660 
crore
cash & cash Equivalents** 

9.3%
Marginal cost of  
borrowing^ 

48.3%
cost to Income

9.3%
Facilitation Fee from cross 
Sell Income % of Pat 
For FY16#
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Unmatched
leadership

UnIqUe OperatIng MOdeL extensIve reach

100%
Group 

lending

75%
rural  

customer base

305
Districts#

5.6 Mn
total  

Members#

Best OF Breed FInancIaL ratIOs

7.1%
Opex to GlP

61% YoY
Earnings Growth

48.3%
cost to Income

9.3%
Marginal cost of 

borrowing*

lowest interest rate of 

19.75% 
among Global Private Sector MFIs

externaL 
endOrseMents

Highest Long-term rating (a+) 
and Short-term rating (a1+)  

among nbFc - MFIs

LOwest cOst prOdUcer

#Outside the states of andhra Pradesh and telangana
*Includes on and off balance sheet borrowings and processing fees for Q4 FY16
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Bfil’s financial  
inclUsion  
coverage

strOng reach In Under-Banked areas
weaker & MInOrIty  
sectIOn cOverage

DooR sTEP  
sERVIcE

FInAncIAL  
LITERAcy

DEDIcATED 
cusToMER sERVIcE

Doorstep delivery (i.e. at 
center meetings).

68% of bFIl branches 
are in rbI underbanked 
district list

bFIl covers 68% of below 
average & low financial 
districts identified by 
crISIl

2-day pre-disbursement 
training consisting of hour-
long sessions designed to 
educate clients on bFIl  
processes and credit discipline.

toll-free helpline number with 
seven different vernacular 
languages.

BFIL toll free number

1800 300 10000
calling timings:

Morning 7:30 am to  
Evening 9:00 pm

^BFIL data as on September 30, 2014
* Source: RBI under-banked districts data
[1] Source: CRISIL Inclusix: An index to measure India’s progress on Financial Inclusion,  
June 2013

96

200

175

RBI  
375 districts*

BFIL  
296 districts^

CRISIL level of 
financial  
inclusion

BFIL Coverage 
of those 
districts

High 18%

above 15%

below average 51%

low 16%

Grand Total 100%

68%}
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KeY performance  
indicators
The Company is well capitalised with a networth of `1,383 crore 
and capital adequacy of 23.1% as on FY16, which is above 
the mandated regulatory requirement of 15%. During FY16, the 
Company’s incremental drawdowns grew by 46% and, it maintained 
adequate liquidity (i.e. Cash and Cash  equivalents of `1,660 crore 
as on FY16), in line with the business requirements.

FY2014 FY2015 FY2016

nEtWOrtH
amount in ` crore

 1,383 

 1,046 

 459 

FY2014 FY2015 FY2016

DraWDOWnS^

amount in ` crore

 5,020 

3,503 

 7,317 

^ Excluding Managed Loans

FY2014 FY2015 FY2016

caSH anD caSH EQUIvalEntS*

amount in ` crore

 1,660 
 1,437 

415 

* Excluding Security Deposits

caPItal aDEQUacY ratIO % aGaInSt rbI 
StIPUlatED 15% 

23.07% 

FY2016

15.00% 
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During FY16, the Company witnessed robust growth in 
disbursements, which grew by 75% over the last year, while Gross 
Loan Portfolio grew by 84%  year-on-year. The Company also had  
robust growth in Net Interest Income, which grew by 69% over the 
last year. In line with the overall strong performance, PAT grew by 
61% year-on-year. 

FY2014 FY2015 FY2016

DISbUrSEMEntS
amount in ` crore

 6,891 

 4,788  

 12,088 

FY2014 FY2015 FY2016

GrOSS lOan POrtFOlIO*

amount in ` crore

 4,171 

2,837 

 7,677 

* Outside the states of  Andhra Pradesh and Telangana

FY2014 FY2015 FY2016

nEt IntErESt IncOME^
amount in ` crore

423

278

714

FY2014 FY2015 FY2016

PrOFIt aFtEr tax
amount in ` crore

188

303

70

^ Interest income on Portfolio loans + Excess interest spread on securitization/Income 
from assignment + Loan processing fees + BC Fee – Financial Cost
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KeY performance  
indicators

FY2014 FY2015 FY2016

OPEx tO GrOSS lOan POrtFOlIO %
amount in ` crore

9.5%
9.6%

7.1%

FY2014 FY2015 FY2016

cOSt tO IncOME
%

61.1% 

74.5% 

48.3% 

FY2014 FY2015 FY2016

MarGInal cOSt OF bOrrOWInG^

%

11.9% 
12.6% 

 10.2% 

^ Includes on and off Balance Sheet borrowings, including processing fees

The Company’s marginal cost of borrowing witnessed a sharp 
decline of 1.7% (170 basis points) in FY16 and was at 9.3% for 
Q4FY16. Operating expenses to Gross Loan Portfolio reduced from 
9.5% in FY15 to 7.1% in FY16 and Cost to Income  declined from 
61.1% in FY15 to 48.3% in FY16. Net facilitation fee income* from 
cross-sell products (such as Mobile Phones, Solar Lamps, Sewing 
Machines, Bicycles, Bio-Mass Stove, Water Purifier and Solar Fans) 
contributed to 9.3% of Profit After Tax in FY16.

*Net fee post the incentive payout and sans transfer pricing of other 
operating cost

FY2016

FacIlItatIOn FEE FrOM crOSS SEll 
IncOME % OF Pat*

 9.3% 
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GEOGraPHIcal cOncEntratIOn % OF GrOSS lOan POrtFOlIO

POrtFOlIO OUtStanDInG bY EcOnOMIc actIvItY

 Odisha    Karnataka    Maharashtra    bihar    West bengal    Uttar Pradesh    Kerala    Madhya Pradesh   

 rajasthan    Jharkhand    Haryana    Punjab    chhattisgarh    Uttarakhand

2%
4%

5%
5%

6%
9%

10%

18%
1%

2%
1%

14%

12%

11%
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Most CoMpetItIve Rates

We are the second largest 
microfinance company 
in India with a gross loan 
portfolio of ` 7,677 crore*. 
We serve more than 4.6 
million low-income women 
borrowers with loans at the 
lowest interest rate in the 
industry. 

With all other leading players 
offering interest rates in the 
low to mid twenties, we are 
the first MFI to break the 
20% barrier by offering loans 
at 19.75% to our borrowers. 
At this rate, we are clearly 
the lowest cost private 
sector MFI lender across the 
globe.

We reduced interest rates thrice, bringing it down by 4.8% in 
a matter of 1.5 years. this, despite anchor rates having been 
reduced by only 1.5% (150 basis points). this is the lowest 
interest rate charged by any private sector MFI in the world. 
Our interest rate is at least 2% to 4% lower than our peers.

Our industry lowest lending rates are the result of our ability 
to substantially reduce our marginal cost of borrowings 
and our ability to operate more efficiently in an increasingly 
competitive market. We have been able to optimise our cost 
of operations successfully and then pass on these benefits to 
our customers without diluting profitability.  

We enjoy the advantages of our last mile credit delivery skills 
and have access to dedicated refinance lines at concessional 
rates from MUDra (availed `100 crore at 10% in FY16), and 
other refinancing institutions. apart from being the only MFI 
with a sub-20% interest rate, we are also the only MFI with a 
marginal cost of borrowing of 9.3%#. In addition, we are the 
only MFI with a cost-to-income ratio as low as 48.3%. 

loWest rate AMONG 
private sector mfi 
GLOBALLY

* Outside the states of andhra Pradesh and telangana
^ Includes on and off balance Sheet  borrowings and processing fees for Q4FY16
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“WE arE tHE lOWESt cOSt lEnDEr 
In tHE MFI SEGMEnt, WItH a 
cUMUlatIvE DISbUrSEMEnt OF  
` 52,040 crOrE  In lOanS. WE arE 
tHE OnlY MIcrO lEnDEr tO OFFEr 
lOanS at SUb 20%”.



Bharat Financial inclusion limited Annual Report 2016

11

opeRatIoNaL eFFICIeNCY

To be the most efficient 
MFI in the business takes 
a mindset that respects 
the meticulous. In terms 
of all efficiency metrics, 
be it cost to income, or 
operating cost to gross 
loan portfolio, or marginal 
cost of borrowing, we are 
the lowest cost MFI in the 
business. Our marginal 
cost of borrowing has 
come down to 9.3%^ from 
a high of 12.6% just two 
years back. The strength 
of our profitability persists 
even after offering interest 
at low rate.

the strength of profitability persists even after offering interests at 
a low rate. Our net profit stood at `303 crore in FY16, against `188 
crore in the previous year, due to our efforts to reduce operational 
costs and lower cost of funds. 

We recovered from the microfinance situation in andhra Pradesh 
and witnessed a strong turnaround (from a heavy loss of `1,361 
crore in FY12 and another `297 crore in FY13) and turned to profit. 
the turnaround has been marked by our ability to clean the toxic 
exposure of andhra Pradesh and telangana, repaying all our debt 
obligations in a timely manner, resuming credit growth outside 
the states of andhra Pradesh and telangana, optimising the cost 
structure and returning to profitability.

With women as our primary interaction point for loans, lending for 
income generation activities, repayment frequency mirroring cash 
flows of customers, lending in joint liability group format, door step 
delivery at center meetings in villages and primarily focus on rural 
areas - all this has helped to have low credit costs (Gross nPa 0.1% 
for FY15 and FY16).

Our Gross loan Portfolio (GlP) grew by 84%  year-on-year to `7,677* 
crore, primarily driven by an increase in the number of borrowers 
(up 27%),  average ticket size (up 22%) and  change in loan duration 
(up 18%), due to continuous strong credit demand from the target 
segment. For FY14 and FY15, we had moderate increase in ticket 
sizes i.e. 4% and 6% respectively. Our average ticket size stands at 
`18,128 for income generating loans.

the company believes that its national presence and the ability 
to access a large member base gives it the leverage to negotiate 
favourable terms with institutions which would like to distribute 
their products through its network. this, in turn, results in lower 
pricing for the products that are distributed to its members. the 
facilitation fee income from cross-sell contributed 9.3%*  of profit 
after tax.

Strong client addition (27% in FY16), improved cost to income 
(reduced from 61.1% in FY15 to 48.3% in FY16), stable asset quality 
with Gross non-Performing asset at 0.1% and reduced marginal 
cost of funding (reduced from 11.9% in FY15 to 10.2% in FY16) are 
key drivers to our earnings growth.

MAiNTAiNiNG The 
highest STANdArdS Of 
operational efficiencY

* Outside the states of andhra Pradesh and telangana
^ Includes on and off balance Sheet  borrowings and 
processing fees for Q4FY16
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“OPEratIOnallY anD FInancIallY 
WE arE In tHE PInK OF HEaltH. cOSt-
tO-IncOME ratIO HaS cOME DOWn 
tO 48.3% in FY16 FrOM 61.1% In FY15. 
OUr aSSEt QUalItY HaS bEEn StablE 
WItH nPa at 0.1%. OUr OPEratInG 
ExPEnSE tO GrOSS lOan POrtFOlIO 
ratIO rEDUcED tO 6.5% In Q4 FY16 
FrOM 9.5% In FY15. WE rEDUcED OUr 
MarGInal cOSt OF bOrrOWInGS tO 
9.3% In Q4FY16 FrOM 11.9% In FY15. 
tHESE acHIEvEMEntS HavE MaDE 
US tHE MOSt EFFIcIEnt MFI In tHE 
GlObE.”

FY2014FY2014 FY2015FY2015 FY2016FY2016

cOSt tO IncOME ratIOMarGInal cOSt OF  
bOrrOWInG*

74.5%12.6%

61.1%11.9%

48.3%10.2%

*Includes on and off balance sheet 
borrowings, including processing fees.
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CapItaL adequaCY

We believe solvency and 
liquidity are two most 
important things. Our 
motto is to remain well 
capitalised, stay liquid and 
contain the concentration 
risk. We have a capital 
adequacy ratio of 23.1%. 
With a networth of ` 1,383 
crore, we choose prudence 
over profitability.

We are well capitalised with a networth of ` 1,383 crore and capital 
adequacy of 23.1% as of March 31, 2016, which is well above the 
mandated regulatory requirement of 15% prescribed by rbI. Our 
cash and cash equivalents stood at ` 1,660 crore to ensure sufficient 
liquidity in line with the business requirements.

Our marginal cost of borrowing*  reduced from 11.9% in FY15 to 
10.2% in FY16 and was at 9.3% during for  Q4FY16.  this has helped 
us to reduce our weighted average cost of borrowing and thus 
reduce the interest rate offered to our customers from 24.55% (in 
Oct’14) to 19.75% (in Dec’15). We ensure competitive borrowing of 
funds from the market at low interest rates. Our full year drawdowns 
in FY16 were `7,317 crore (growth of 46% YoY) excluding 
origination under managed loans. We have also originated `1,064 
crore loans under managed portfolio and completed securitization 
transactions of `2,320 crore rated as ‘aa(SO)’ and asset assignment 
of `507 crore in FY16. the company now has access to low cost 
refinance and has received ` 100 crore refinance from MUDra  
in FY16.

the company is eligible to borrow funds from banks which are 
classified as priority sector lending. 

as of March 31, 2016, the average maturity of its arrear-free Gross 
loan Portfolio as assets was 6.2 months, while the average maturity 
of its outstanding borrowings including principal amounts 
outstanding for securitisation transactions was 10.2 months. the 
company believes this strategy allows it to better manage liquidity 
and meet the growing loan demands of an increasing membership, 
even if external borrowings and funding sources face temporary 
disruption. 

prUdent mindset 
GOVerNiNG capital 
adeQUacY & cost-
effective fUnding

*Includes on and off balance sheet borrowings, including processing fees
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carE has provided the company with a grading of ‘MFI 1’ or 
‘MFI One’ as an MFI, which is the highest obtainable grading 
on an eight-point scale. the company has also obtained bank 
debt ratings for a funding exposure of ` 4,500 crore as carE 
‘a1+’ (for its short-term facilities) and carE ‘a+’ (for its long-
term facilities). the company also has a long-term ncD rating 
of ‘a+’  for ` 400 crore and short-term (cP/ ncD) rating of ‘a1+’ 
for ` 200 crore from carE. the company has also obtained 
long term debt rating of ‘a+’ and short-term debt rating of 
‘a1+’ for a total sum of ` 750 crore from Icra. the company’s 
securitised transactions during FY16 were provisionally rated 
by carE at ‘aa(SO)’ and Icra at ‘aa(SO)’, signifying levels of 
safety regarding timely servicing of financial obligations and 
levels of credit risk.
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Efficient usage of technology 
enabled us to improve our 
work efficiency and service 
our customer base in 
FY16. We adopted several 
technological innovations 
to become more efficient. 
We partnered with IBM 
to enhance the use of 
technology in our operations 
and make our processes 
paperless. This is aimed 
towards reducing the time 
consumed in completing loan 
disbursal related transactions, 
saving back office time, 
improving staff productivity 
and customer addition. 

With this, each Sangam Manager saves approximately one-
and-a-half hours and serves more members per day. the 
Sangam Manager is able to do six centre meetings per day 
as against the earlier five, registering a 20% increase in field 
productivity and reducing concomitant costs.

We have 6,323 loan officers operating out of 1,191* branch 
offices. a centre meeting, where women borrowers who 
are part of a group come together to discuss the progress 
in utilising the loans and making repayments, earlier took 
around 45 minutes to conclude. However, with our new 
technology, we have brought the time down to 30 minutes.

2000 Installed computers at all branches 
with in-house lending system

2012 all branch connectivity with daily 
data receipt (1,215 remote locations)

2014-15 re-factoring of in-house lending 
system

2015-16 Equipped loan Officers with tablets

teCHNoLoGICaL eFFICIeNCY

iNVeSTiNG iN The latest 
technologY TO Keep 
AheAd iN efficiencY

* Outside the states of andhra Pradesh and telangana
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“OUr EnD-tO-EnD tEcH SOlUtIOn bY IbM InclUDES PrOvIDInG 7,000 
tablEtS tO OUr rUral anD SEMI-rUral lOcal arEa OFFIcES, a HElP DESK 
tO ManaGE tHESE DEvIcES In EacH OF tHESE cEntrES, anD SOFtWarE 
SErvIcES SUcH aS IbM MObIlEFIrSt DEvIcE PrOcUrEMEnt anD DEPlOYMEnt 
SErvIcES anD IbM’S MObIlEFIrSt ManaGED MObIlItY SErvIcES tO taKE lOan 
PrOcESSInG OnlInE.”
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yy strengthening privacy of its client data: Ensuring that clients data is kept confidential at all levels and shared only with 
government agencies, government appointed agencies, or on approval of the concerned member.

yy transparent and responsible pricing of loans: lowest cost microfinance lender in the Industry by offering 
loans at sub 20%. all the pass books/ loan documents are printed in the respective vernacular language for better 
communication and understanding of client. 

yy timely redressal of queries and grievances of its members: Dedicated customer helpline served in seven languages, 
to address the customer grievances and ensure the timely resolution. 

yy avoidance of over-indebtedness and multiple borrowing among its borrowers: We adhere to rbI mandated credit 
bureau checks for each loan application and mandated KYcs with application to avoid multiple borrowing among our 
borrowers.  

yy establishing appropriate collection practices by its employees: Design and Implementation of collection practices 
in alignment with the rbI and SrO guidelines. 

CLIeNt pRoteCtIoN



Bharat Financial inclusion limited Annual Report 2016

18

tHE cOMPanY HaS bEEn cOnDUctInG clIEnt 
PrOtEctIOn aWarEnESS PrOGraMMES FOr 
ItS MEMbErS anD EMPlOYEES Pan-InDIa In 
MaJOr vErnacUlar lanGUaGES. tHE clIEnt 
PrOtEctIOn PrOGraMME OF tHE cOMPanY 
HaS bEEn cErtIFIED bY SMart caMPaIGn, USa
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The core business of The company 
is providing small value loans 
and cerTain oTher basic financial 
services To iTs members. The 
business model relies on a form 
of social collaTeral and ensures 
crediT discipline Through peer 
supporT wiThin The group.

OvervIew
bharat Financial Inclusion limited (bFIl) (Formerly known as 
‘SKS Microfinance limited’) is the second largest microfinance 
institution (MFI) in India by Gross loan Portfolio as on March 31, 
2016 and the first MFI to be publicly listed in India. the company 
is primarily engaged in providing microfinance to low income 
households in India. the company focuses its operations in 16 
states (excluding andhra Pradesh and telangana) in India, has 
1,324 branches and 11,991 employees as on March 31, 2016.

the core business of the company is providing small value 
unsecured loans and certain other basic financial services to its 
Members (Individuals from low income households who are 
clients of the company are classified as “Members” and Members 
whose loans are outstanding are classified as “borrowers”). 
these individuals often have no, or very limited, access to 
loans from institutional sources of financing. the company 
believes that non-institutional sources typically charge very 
high rates of interest. the company aims to bridge this gap by 
providing financial services at the doorstep of its Members. the 
Members are predominantly located in rural areas in India, and 

the company extends loans to them mainly for use in small 
businesses or for other income-generating activities and not for 
personal consumption. 

In its core business, the company follows a village-centric, 
group-lending model to provide unsecured loans to its 
Members. this model relies on a form of  ‘social collateral’, and 
ensures credit discipline through peer support within the 
group. the company believes this model makes its Members 
prudent in conducting their financial affairs and prompt in 
repaying their loans. Failure by an individual borrower to make 
timely loan repayments will prevent other Members in the 
group from being able to borrow from the company in future. 
therefore, the group will use peer support to encourage the 
delinquent borrower to make timely repayments or will often 
make a repayment on behalf of a defaulting borrower, effectively 
providing an informal joint guarantee on the borrower’s loan.
In addition to its core business of providing micro credit, the 
company uses its distribution channel to provide certain other 
financial products and services that its Members may need. 

management 
discUssion and 
analYsis

1
#
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In its core business, the company 
follows a village-centric, group-
lending model to provide 
unsecured loans to its Members. 
this model relies on a form of 
‘social collateral’, and ensures credit 
discipline through peer support 
within the group.
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the company offers loans for the purchase of mobile phones 
and solar lamps. the company also operates a number of 
pilot programmes that may gradually convert into separate 
business verticals or operate through subsidiaries, subject to 
satisfactory results of the pilot programmes and receipt of 
regulatory approvals. the existing pilot programmes primarily 
relate to giving loans to its Members for the purchase of certain 
productivity-enhancing products such as sewing machines, 
bicycles, bio-mass stoves and water purifiers. the company 
intends to expand its involvement in these other financial 
products and services to the extent consistent with its mission, 
client-focus and commercial viability.

In 2005, the company registered with and has since been 
regulated by the reserve bank of India (rbI) as a non-Deposit 
taking non-banking Financial company (nbFc-nD). In 2009, the 
company became a public limited company. the company 

completed its IPO and its equity shares were listed on bSE 
limited and the national Stock Exchange of India limited 
in august 2010. In november 2013, the rbI re-classified the 
company as an nbFc-MFI permitting it to carry on the business 
of a non-banking Financial company - Micro Finance Institution, 
a separate category of non-Deposit taking non-banking 
Financial companies engaged in microfinance activities.
For FY16, the company’s total revenue and profit after tax was 
` 1,320.7 crore and ` 303.0 crore respectively. as on March 31, 
2016, the company had 69.7 lakh Members (55.7 lakh members 
outside the states of andhra Pradesh and telangana), including 
58.1 lakh borrowers (46.4 lakh borrowers outside the states of 
andhra Pradesh and telangana), with a Gross loan Portfolio of 
` 7,688.0 crore (` 7,676.9 crore outside states of andhra Pradesh 
and telangana) and 1,324 branches (1,191 branches outside the 
states of andhra Pradesh and telangana). the company charges 
the lowest interest rate at 19.75% among all private sector MFIs.
 

I. INDUSTRY STRUCTURE AND DEVELOPMENTS

the MIcrOFInance IndUstry
FY16 witnessed strong growth in the microfinance industry in India, continuing the momentum from the last two years. the 
microfinance industry posted strong growth in increase in new loan disbursements, loan Portfolio, clients, employees and branches.

During FY16, the Microfinance Institution (“MFI”) industry disbursed new loans of ` 61,860 crore representing a 65% increase over 
previous year. this resulted in 84% growth in the total Gross loan Portfolio (“GlP”) to ` 53,233 crore. During the same period, the 
number of clients increased by 44% to 3.25 crore, while the number of people employed by the industry grew by 38% to 85,888 and 
the number of branches rose by 22%. average loan amount disbursed per account was ` 17,805.

Particulars Fy16 Fy15 % increase
Disbursements (` crore) 61,860 37,599 65%
Gross loan Portfolio (` crore) 53,233 28,940 84%
no. of clients (crore) 3.25 2.26 44%
no. of employees 85,888 62,407 38%
no. of branches 9,669 7,934 22%

Source: MFIn Micrometer, 2016
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portfolio growth – shg and MFI
In contrast to the MFIs, the self-help group (“SHG”) portfolio grew by 20% (as compared to 66% YoY for MFIs) in FY15. the total 
portfolio outstanding of SHGs as on March 31, 2015 was ` 51,545 crore.

GrOSS lOan POrtFOlIO 
amount in ` crore

53,233

2013 2014 2015 2016

17,100

42,927

28,940

51,545

11,636

39,375

47%

84%
69%

8% 9% 20%

4%

MFI SHG Growth  MFI Growth  SHG

n/a

Source: SHG data – Status of Microfinance 2014-15; MFI data - MFIn Micrometer 2016 

geographical Mix
the SHG portfolio remains concentrated in the states of andhra Pradesh (hitherto undivided state including telangana), tamil nadu, 
Karnataka and West bengal with a 76% share. the SHG exposure in these states is given in the graph below.

SHG POrtFOlIO In tOP 4 StatES

andhra Pradesh tamil nadu Karnataka West bengal

47%

12% 11%

6%

Source – nabarD – Status of Microfinance 2015
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18%
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16%
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Source – MFIn Micrometer 2016

MFIs now cover 30 states/ union territories of India. the coverage 
of microfinance institutions is now geographically well dispersed 
with GlP in South at 35%, East at 15%, north at 25% and West 
at 25%. tamil nadu has the largest MFI exposure at 16% of gross 
loan portfolio.

credit quality of MFIs
Portfolio at risk (Par) figures (Par 30, 90, 180 days) remained under 
1% as on March 2016 (excluding figures from MFIs under cDr)
Source: MFIn Micrometer 2016

debt funding to MFIs
During FY16, MFIs received a total of ` 33,706 crore in debt 
funding from banks and other financial institutions. Out of the 
total debt funding, 60% came from banks and the rest came 
from other financial institutions. 29% of total debt funding was 
through securitization of MFI’s portfolio at ` 9,632 crore.

Source: MFIn Micrometer 2016
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MFIs and Market share
as on March 31, 2016, top five (5) nbFc-MFIs accounted in 
aggregate for approximately 54% of the Gross loan Portfolio 
(outside andhra Pradesh and telangana) of all nbFc-MFIs. top 2 
MFIs were Janalakshmi Financial Services (GlP - ` 10,983 crore) 
and SKS Microfinance limited (now known as “bharat Financial 
Inclusion limited”) (GlP - ` 7,677 crore).

Source: MFIn Micrometer 2016 

Overview of the regulatory Framework and 
recent regulatory developments
the non-banking Financial company - Micro Finance Institutions 
(reserve bank) – Directions, 2011 (“nbFc-MFI Directions”) were 
issued in December 2011 by the reserve bank of India (rbI) 
pursuant to the reserve bank of India act, 1934 (“rbI act”). the 
nbFc-MFI directions apply to all non-Deposit taking non-

banking Financial companies (“nbFcs”) (other than companies 
registered under Section 25 of the companies act, 1956) 
(now section 8 of the companies act, 2013 that satisfy certain 
conditions.

the company satisfies these conditions and was re-classified as 
a non-banking Financial company - Micro Finance Institution 
(“nbFc-MFI”) on november 18, 2013. as a result, the company 
is required to comply with the nbFc-MFI Directions. these 
Directions include guidelines on qualifying assets criteria, asset 
classification and provisioning, pricing of credit, capital adequacy 
and fair practices.

changes in nBFc – MFI directions
On november 26, 2015, the rbI vide its notification Dnbr.
cc.D.no. 047/03.10.119/2015-16 modified certain regulations 
related to operations. Key guidelines and modifications are 
highlighted below:

Earlier/Existing Revised
nbFc – MFIs Qualifying assets to constitute not less than 

85% of its total assets(excluding cash and bank 
balances)

no change

at least 50% of loans for income generation 
activities

no change

Qualifying assets criteria
annual Income of borrowers Household rural <= ` 1,00,000 no change

non-rural <= ` 1,60,000 no change
ticket Size <= `60,000 - 1st cycle no change

<= ` 1,00,000 - subsequent cycle no change
Indebtedness <= ` 1,00,000 no change
tenure If loan amount > ` 15,000, then >= 24 months If loan amount > ` 30,000, 

then >= 24 months
collateral without collateral no change
repayment frequency Weekly, Fortnightly and Monthly no change
Pricing guidelines  no change

a. Margin cap - 10% above cost of borrowings no change
Interest rate b. avg. base rate of top 5 commercial banks x 

2.75
no change

lower of the a and b. no change
Processing Fee <= 1% of the loan amount no change
Insurance Premium actual cost of insurance can be recovered from 

borrower and spouse
no change

administrative charges can be recovered as per 
the Insurance regulatory and Development 
authority

no change

Security deposit no security deposit/ margin to be taken no change
capital adequacy 15% no change
Margin cap 10% for MFIs with loan portfolio > ` 100 crore no change

ManaGEMEnt DIScUSSIOn & analYSIS
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priority sector Lending (psL)
Priority Sector funds have been a major contributor to the funding source for the overall MFI sector. On april 23, 2015 and July 16, 
2015, the rbI issued revised guidelines (FIDD.cO.Plan.bc.54/04.09.01/2014-15 & FIDD.cO.Plan.bc.08/04.09.01/2015-16) for PSl, which 
are as follows:

s.no. sector category Target for Banks %*

1

agriculture target 18%

- Direct agriculture Sub-target ~13.5%#

- Direct Small & Marginal Farmers Sub-target
7% (with effect from Mar’16)

8% (with effect from Mar’17)

2 Weaker target 10%

3 Micro-enterprises
7% 7% (with effect from Mar’16)

7.50% 7.5% (with effect from Mar’17)

* target details given in the table are applicable to domestic scheduled commercial banks and foreign banks with 20 branches and above
# as per rbI notification dated July 16, 2015, banks are directed to ensure that overall direct lending to non-corporate farmers does not fall below the 
system wide average of last three years achievement. In an rbI notification dated november 18, 2015, the applicable system wide average figure for 
FY15-16 was notified as 11.57%. banks should also continue to maintain all efforts to reach the level of 13.5% direct lending to beneficiaries.

the revised guidelines envisage banks to monitor their PSl 
compliance every quarter (with effect from FY17) instead of 
annually, which will lead to a flow of PSl funds throughout the 
year rather than being skewed towards financial year-end.

On april 7, 2016, the rbI has issued guidelines on priority sector 
lending certificates (PSlcs) that detail criteria for banks to issue 
and invest in PSlcs.

credit Bureau reporting
as per the Microfinance India Social Performance report 2014 
(an accESS publication), crIF High Mark credit Information 
Services Private limited and Equifax credit Information Services 
Private limited collect and collate data from MFIs and banks’ 
lending directly to the client segment of MFIs. MFIs use credit 
bureau data for checking regulatory compliances.

In February 2015, the rbI mandated all nbFcs to become 
members of all credit bureaus, viz credit Information bureau 
(India) limited, Equifax credit Information Services Private 
limited, Experian credit Information company of India Private 
limited and crIF High Mark credit Information Services Private 
limited and submit data with respect to lending to its clients 
(including historical data).

the company is a member of all the above-named credit 
bureaus.

andhra pradesh & telangana – the ap MFI act
In January 2011, the then Government of the hitherto undivided 
andhra Pradesh state enacted the andhra Pradesh Micro 
Finance Institutions (regulation of Money lending) act, 2011 

(the “aP MFI act”) to regulate the activities of the microfinance 
institutions in the hitherto undivided andhra Pradesh. the 
aP MFI act imposed significant restrictions on the business 
and operations of microfinance companies in the hitherto 
undivided andhra Pradesh, and several companies, including 
your company, challenged the validity of the aP MFI act. the 
proceedings are pending before the Honourable Supreme court 
of India and, pursuant to the interim orders of the Honourable 
Supreme court in March 2013, the company is required to 
comply with only Sections 9 and 16 of the aP MFI act to carry 
on its business in the hitherto undivided andhra Pradesh. these 
provisions limit the amount of interest recoverable on loans to 
no more than the principal amount loaned as well as prohibit 
coercive actions in connection with the conduct of microfinance 
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business. the company complies with the interim orders of the 
Honourable Supreme court and the two provisions of the aP 
MFI act.

MFI as Business correspondents
the reserve bank of India permitted non-Deposit taking nbFcs 
to act as business correspondents for banks with effect from 
June 2014. the company has an arrangement to act as business 
correspondent with a leading private sector bank and had a 
managed loan portfolio of ` 688.5 crore as on March 31, 2016 
under the said arrangement. 

small Finance Bank License
In november 2014, the rbI issued guidelines for licensing of 
‘Small Finance banks’ in the private sector. the objectives of 
setting up of small finance banks will be to further financial 
inclusion by (a) provision of savings vehicles, and (b) supply of 
credit to small business units; small and marginal farmers; micro 
and small industries; and other unorganised sector entities, 
through high technology-low cost operations. 

(Source – rbI Small Finance bank Guidelines)

On September 16, 2015, rbI granted “In-Principle” approval to 
10 applicants to set up small finance banks. Of the 10 applicants 
who received the “in-principle” approval, 8 are nbFc-MFIs. the “in-
principle” approval will be valid for 18 months to allow applicants 
to comply with the requisite conditions stipulated by rbI. On 
being satisfied that applicants have complied with the requisite 
conditions, rbI would consider granting them a license for 
commencement of banking business under Section 22(1) of the 
banking regulation act, 1949.Until a regular licence is issued, the 
applicants cannot undertake any banking business. 
Source – rbI Press release 
 

government’s promotion on Financial Inclusion 
schemes  
pradhan Mantri Jan dhan yojana (pMJdy)
the Pradhan Mantri Jan-Dhan Yojana (PMJDY) is a national 
Mission for Financial Inclusion to ensure access to financial 
services, namely, banking/ savings and deposit accounts, 
remittance, credit, insurance and pension in an affordable 
manner. accounts can be opened in any bank branch or 
business correspondent (bank Mitra) outlet. PMJDY accounts 
are being opened with zero balance. these accounts can help 
the MFI industry to implement cashless disbursements directly 
to customer bank accounts and help MFIs reduce the related 
operating cost.

as on June 1, 2016, 22 crore bank accounts have been opened 
under this scheme (public sector banks opened 17.3 crore 
accounts, regional rural banks 3.9 crore accounts and private 
sector banks opened 0.81 crore accounts). the balance per Jan 
Dhan account has seen a consistent rise from ` 1,065 in March 
2015 to ` 1,745 in June 2016. the non-operative accounts also 
have seen a consistent decline from 58% in March 2015 to 26% 
in June 2016.

Source: http://www.pmjdy.gov.in/

Micro Units development & refinance agency Ltd. 
(MUdra)
the central Government proposes to set up a Micro Units 
Development and refinance agency (MUDra) bank through 
a statutory enactment. Pending the enactment it has been set 
up as a subsidiary of SIDbI. MUDra would be responsible for 
developing and refinancing all MFIs which are in the business 
of lending to micro/ small business entities engaged in 



26

Bharat Financial inclusion limited Annual Report 2016

manufacturing, trading and service activities. MUDra would not 
only help in increasing access to finance to the unbanked but 
also bring down the cost of finance for the last-mile financers 
and, in turn, to the micro/ small enterprises, most of which are in 
the informal sector.

In budget 2015-16, it was decided that a sum of ` 20,000 crore 
would be allocated to MUDra from the money available from 
the shortfall of Priority Sector lending for creating a refinance 
Fund to provide refinance to the last-mile financers. another 
` 3,000 crore would be provided to MUDra from the Union 
budget to create a credit guarantee corpus for guaranteeing 
loans being provided to the micro enterprises. 
Source – http://pib.nic.in/newsite/Printrelease.aspx?relid=116209

the Secretary of the Department of Financial Services clarified in 
January 2016 that MUDra will not be the regulator of nbFc-
MFIs. nbFc-MFIs will continue to be under the supervision of rbI.  

Source – Indian Express http://indianexpress.com/article/business/
business-others/mudra-not-to-regulate-micro-finance-institutions-govt/

there are three offerings, based on the ticket size, launched 
under MUDra as part of PMMY (Pradhan Mantri MUDra Yojana).

1) Shishu – for ticket size less than ` 50,000

2) Kishore –for ticket size between ` 50,000 to ` 5 lakh

3) tarun – for ticket size between ` 5 lakh and ` 10 lakh 

as on March 25, 2016, the performance of 3 schemes is as 
below-

scheme no. of 
sanctions

Disbursed  
(` cr)

Avg. Ticket 
size (`)

Shishu 3,02,75,600 56,884 18,789

Kishore 20,31,902 39,354 1,93,681

tarun 3,82,497 27,705 724,327

total 3,26,89,999 1,23,943 37,915

Source: http://www.mudra.org.in/PMMYreport

During FY16, the total disbursements made under Prime 
Minister Mudra Yojana (PMMY) scheme was ` 1.24 lakh crore. In 
budget 2016-17, the target of amount to be sanctioned under 
Prime Minister Mudra Yojana has been set at `1.85 lakh crore. 
also ` 2,400 crore has been allocated as equity capital to MUDra 
and credit Guarantee Fund under Pradhan Mantri Mudra Yojana.

Source – India budget 2016-17

nBFc-MFIs to act as channelizing agents for schemes 
operated by central/state government agencies
rbI vide circular dated april 13, 2016 permitted nbFc-MFIs to 
act as channelizing agents for distributing loans under special 

schemes of central/State government agencies to targeted 
socio-economic sections of the population.

Source: rbI circular notification no. Dnbr 041/cGM (cDS)-2016

II. OUTLOOK ON THE SECTOR BY ICRA
according to the Icra report “Microfinance Institutions: Industry 
Outlook and Performance review of Microfinance Institutions”, 
the MFI industry market size as on September 30, 2015 was only 
20-30% of the total potential market, leading to tremendous 
scope for growth. 

Icra estimates the potential size of the Microfinance market 
at `2.8-3.4 trillion against the current market size of ` 1.1 
trillion as on September 30, 2015, covered by Self Help Groups, 
Microfinance Institutions and bandhan bank. Given the large 
potential, Icra suggests that the overall MFI industry can grow 
at 30-35% in the next three years, while non-aP MFIs can report 
a growth of 40-50%.

the report also states that while the asset quality indicators for 
MFIs continue to hold, the sector is still vulnerable to political 
risks, increase in competitive pressures, expansion to newer 
geographies, marginal borrower profile and high employee 
attrition across the industry. 

Source – Icra report - Industry Outlook and Performance review of 
Microfinance Institutions, January 2016

III. OPPORTUNITIES AND STRENGTHS
the Microfinance industry continues to be one of the sectors in 
India that has a huge potential for sustainable growth, based on 
industry reports. according to MFIn Micrometer, as on March 
31, 2016, the MFI industry GlP grew by 84% YoY while the 
disbursements during the year grew by 65%. the industry grew 
by 69% in FY15 and 47% in FY14. as on March 2016, the MFI 
industry served 3.25 crore clients.

World bank and EDa rural Systems’ reports indicate that 150 
million households in India require microcredit with an average 
credit requirement per household at ` 20,000. this translates into 
an annual aggregate demand of ` 2,40,000 crore for microcredit 
in India (post 20% downward adjustment for inaccessible 
households in rural and urban areas). 

GlP outstanding for MFI and SHG together was ` 1,04,778 crore 
(GlP for SHG for - `51,545 crore  for FY15 and GlP for MFI –  
` 53,233 crore FY16).

Source –MFIn Micrometer 2016; nabarD - Status of Microfinance 2015

Hence there is a huge demand-supply gap and a large part of 
this gap is currently being met by informal sources, including 
moneylenders.
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the recent financial inclusion schemes introduced by the 
government complement the existing MFI outreach. the 
accounts opened through PMJDY can help the MFI industry 
to implement cashless disbursements directly to the customer 
bank accounts and help MFIs reduce the related operating cost. 
through the Pradhan Mantri’s Mudra Yojna, MFIs will have access 
to low cost refinancing from MUDra.

With the rbI granting “in-principle” approval to 10 applicants to 
set up Small Finance banks (SFbs), nbFc-MFIs will continue to 
enjoy the following benefits over SFbs:

yy  continue to generate agri-allied/ Priority Sector lending for 
banks.

yy  leverage their distribution network through business 
correspondent (bc) model to offer bank accounts and 
saving products to customers without crr and Slr drag.

the company is well placed to reap the benefits as an nbFc-MFI. 
With the increase in demand for microfinance, the company 
believes that, with its operating strength and focus on 16 
states (excluding aP and telangana), it will be able to capture 
a significant share of the demand for micro credit in India. the 
company believes the following competitive strengths will 
enable it to better leverage the opportunities: 

yy Market leadership: the company is the second largest 
MFI in India by Gross loan Portfolio. the company believes 
that its consistent position among the leading MFIs in the 
microfinance sector enhances its reputation and credibility 
with its members and its lenders. this enhanced reputation 
and credibility has numerous benefits, including the ability 
to secure capital at lower costs, recruit and retain skilled 
employees, optimize staff productivity, retain existing 
borrowers and add new Members, and also expand into 
new regions and product areas.

yy Lowest cost lender: the company has the lowest lending 
rate (19.75%) amongst private sector MFIs. the lending rate 
of the company is lower by 2.25-4% than the lending rate 
of other major nbFc-MFIs in India. the low lending rate 
enables the company to enhance the value proposition of 
its products by bringing down the cost to its borrowers.

yy expertise in the microfinance industry and ability 
to adapt to changing regulatory environment: the 
company believes that its long-standing experience 
in the microfinance industry has given it a specialized 
understanding of the needs and behaviour of the borrowers 
and lenders in this industry, particularly in rural areas across 
India, the complexities of lending to these individuals and 
issues specific to the microfinance industry in India. the 
company believes this expertise gives it a competitive 
advantage in this industry.

 the company has developed skills in training its members. 
the company uses its knowledge of its members, including 
their culture, habits and education, to design customized 
financial products and pricing plans. Further, consultation 
and dialogue with regulators and policy-makers has 
provided the company with an opportunity to understand 
their concerns while growing its business in a prudent 
manner.

yy Improving profitability, stable financial condition and 
emphasis on asset and liability management:  
although the company’s financial condition deteriorated 
in the aftermath of events in andhra Pradesh and the 
company incurred losses during FY12 and FY13, the 
company believes it has maintained sufficient financial 
discipline as well as a relative degree of financial strength 
during these periods. For instance, the company satisfied 
all its debt repayment obligations even during the andhra 
Pradesh microfinance situation, that is, in FY12 and FY13, 
and thereafter. Its revenues grew at a caGr of 55.3% from 
FY13 to FY16, and the company reported a profit of ` 303.0 
crore for FY16, the third consecutive year of profit post the 
turnaround.

 as of March 31, 2016, the company’s net worth was ` 
1,383.0 crore and its debt to equity ratio was 3.7. the 
company’s capital adequacy ratio was 23.1% (without the 
andhra Pradesh and telangana dispensation as the entire 
old portfolio in these two states is written off ) of risk-
weighted assets as of March 31, 2016, which is well above 
the requirement of 15% of risk-weighted assets prescribed 
by the rbI under the nbFc-MFI Directions. Moreover, the 
company’s gross nPa and net nPa were at 0.08% and 0.04% 
respectively as of March 31, 2016. the company believes 
that these factors provide it with a competitive advantage 
when borrowing funds for its operations.

 In addition to traditional cash flow management techniques, 
the company also manages its cash flows through an active 
asset and liability management strategy. the company has 
structured its model to primarily borrow for a longer tenure 
while lending for a shorter tenure, and hence the company 
has a positive asset liability management structure. as of 
March 31, 2016, the average maturity of its arrear-free Gross 
loan Portfolio as assets was 6.2 months, while the average 
maturity of its outstanding borrowings including principal 
amounts outstanding for securitization transactions was 
10.2 months. the company believes this strategy allows 
it to better manage liquidity and meet the growing loan 
demands of an increasing membership, even if external 
borrowings and funding sources face temporary disruption.

 access to several sources of capital and cost-effective 
funding: the company constantly strives to diversify its 
sources of capital. During FY11, the company raised ` 722.2 
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crore through its IPO, followed by a QIP and preferential 
allotment, raising ` 263.5 crore in FY13 and another QIP 
raising ` 397.6 crore in May 2014. Its incremental borrowings 
from banks and financial and other institutions, including 
net proceeds from securitizations between april 1, 2011 
and March 31, 2016 were ` 20,199.6 crore. as on March 31, 
2016, the company had an outstanding debt in principal 
amount of ` 5,129.7 crore (` 7,382.7 crore outstanding in 
principal amount including securitization and assignment 
transactions) from more than 15 banks, financial and 
other institutions. During FY16, the company received 
net proceeds of ` 2,620.5 crore from securitization and 
assignment of loans and also raised ` 200.0 crore through 
private placement of non-convertible Debentures (ncDs) 
rated ‘a+’ and ` 677.3 crore through issuance of commercial 
Papers (cPs) rated ‘a1+’.

 Historically, the MFI sector has significantly relied on PSl 
funds from commercial banks. the company believes that 
the cost of such funds is considerably lower than the cost 
of other bank funds. the company is eligible to borrow PSl 
funds from banks as an nbFc-MFI. 

 carE has provided the company with a grading of ‘MFI 1’ or 
‘MFI One’ as an MFI, which is the highest obtainable grading 
on an eight-point scale. the company has also obtained 
bank debt ratings for a funding exposure of ` 4,500 crore 
as carE ‘a1+’ (for its short-term facilities) and carE ‘a+’ (for 
its long-term facilities). the company also has a long-term 
ncD rating of ‘a+’ for ` 400 crore and short-term (cP/ ncD) 
rating of ‘a1+’ for ` 200 crore from carE. the company has 
also obtained long term debt rating of a+ and short-term 
debt rating of ‘a1+’ for a total sum of ` 750 crore from Icra. 
company’s securitized transactions during FY16 were 
provisionally rated by carE at ‘aa(SO)’ and Icra at ‘aa(SO)’, 

signifying levels of safety regarding timely servicing of 
financial obligations and levels of credit risk.

yy  streamlined and scalable operating model with 
effective use of technology: the company recognizes that 
establishing and growing a successful rural microfinance 
business in India involves the significant challenge of 
addressing a borrower base that is quite large and typically 
lives in remote locations. to address this challenge, the 
company believes it has designed a streamlined and 
scalable model, and developed systems and solutions for 
the following three components, which the company 
believes are required to effectively scale up its business:

 - capital: Historically, the company has successfully 
obtained a variety of funds required to finance its 
lending operations;

 - capacity: With its pan-India presence and extensive 
distribution network, the company believes it has the 
capacity to provide products and services to a large 
number of members;

 - cost reduction: the company believes it has 
implemented process-based systems and customized 
software that reduce the cost of conducting 
transactions across a widespread branch network and 
a substantial member base. to manage its operating 
expenses and increase efficiency, the company has 
deployed ‘SKS Smart’ (a significant upgrade to the earlier 
Portfolio tracker), a customized and comprehensive 
software which simplifies data entry and targets to 
improve accuracy and efficiency of collections and fraud 
detection. the company has provided all loan officers 
with tablets (handheld devices) to increase efficiency, 
data integrity and ease of operations.
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 the company’s business processes, from member 
acquisition to cash collections, have been standardized 
and documented. Its branch offices are similarly structured, 
allowing for quick rollout of new branches. In addition, the 
terms and conditions of its loan products are generally 
uniform throughout India. Further, the company has 
standardized its recruitment and training programmes 
and materials so that they are easily replicated across its 
entire organization. this standardized approach also allows 
employees to efficiently move from one region to the other 
based on demand and growth requirements.

yy pan-India presence and extensive distribution network: 
as of March 31, 2016 the company had 69.7 lakh Members 
(55.7 lakh members outside the states of andhra Pradesh 
and telangana), including 58.1 lakh borrowers (46.4 lakh 
borrowers outside the states of andhra Pradesh and 
telangana)  and 1,324 branches. the company focuses 
its operations across 16 states (excluding andhra Pradesh 

and telangana) in India. Further, as of March 31, 2016, the 
company had 10,468 (9,695 outside the states of andhra 
Pradesh and telangana) branch Managers, assistant branch 
Managers and Sangam Managers, including trainees, who 
comprise 87.3% (86.9% non-aP) of its total workforce. 
During FY16, each of its Sangam Managers managed 880 
members on an average in states other than andhra Pradesh 
and telangana. the company believes that its presence 
throughout India and its distribution network in rural India 
results in significant competitive advantages, particularly in 
the following areas: 

 Distribution platform: the company’s pan-India presence 
allows it to lend across the country and enables it to mitigate 
its exposure to local economic factors and disruptions 
resulting from political circumstances or natural disasters. 
Furthermore, its well-developed distribution network in 
rural India gives it the capability to offer a variety of financial 
products nationally in areas that the company believes most 
companies do not currently reach.
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 Product pricing power: the company believes that its national 
presence and the ability to access a large member base 
gives it the leverage to negotiate favourable terms with 
institutions which would like to distribute their products 
through its network. this, in turn, results in lower pricing for 
the products that are distributed to its members. 

 For instance, the company currently works with Microsoft 
corporation (India) Private limited for the financing of 
mobile phones, with D. light Energy Private limited and 
Green light Planet India Private limited for the financing 
of solar lamps, Environfit (India) Private limited for the 
financing of bio-mass stove, Usha International limited and 
Singer India limited for the financing of sewing machine, 
Eureka Forbes limited for the financing of water purifier and 
Hero cycles limited and t.I.cycles of India for the financing 
of bicycle. the company financed 7.1 lakh mobile phones 
and 5.3 lakh solar lamps during FY16.

yy  experienced management team and Board: the 
company’s board comprises experienced investors, industry 
experts and management professionals. the company 
believes that it has a strong Senior Management team to 
lead it, which includes Mr. M. r. rao, Managing Director and 
chief Executive Officer, as well as Mr. S. Dilli raj, President. 
the company’s Senior Management team has members 
who have significant experience in the microfinance and 
financial services industry. the team has developed the 
knowledge to identify and offer products and services that 
meet the needs of its members, while maintaining effective 
risk management and competitive margins. the company’s 
mid-level management personnel also have years of 
experience, in-depth industry knowledge and expertise.

IV. BUSINESS STRATEGY
target a large share of industry’s portfolio 
outside the states of andhra pradesh and 
telangana 
Given the huge gap in demand and supply in micro credit in 
India and that a large part of this gap is serviced by informal 
sources, including moneylenders, this represents an attractive 
business opportunity for MFIs such as SKS Microfinance 
limited (now known as ‘bharat Financial Inclusion limited’). the 
company believes that, with its operating strength and focus on 
16 states (excluding aP and telangana), it will be able to capture 
a significant share of the demand for micro credit in India.

Leverage nBFc-MFI status and strategic 
partnerships to address the missed sFB 
opportunity
as part of the financial inclusion drive, rbI, on September 16, 
2015, granted in-principle approval to 8 nbFc-MFI applicants for 
Small Finance bank. Small finance banks will offer basic banking 
services, accepting deposits and lending to unserved and 
underserved sections including small business units, small and 
marginal farmers, micro and small industries, and entities in the 
unorganized sector.

the company was an applicant for SFb license but did not 
receive in-principle approval from rbI. the company believes 
SFb license is a missed opportunity but not a setback. the 
following four reasons substantiate the belief:
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yy the company is the lowest cost lender among all MFIs 
including those who have received in-principle approval for 
SFb. low lending rate mitigates political risks.

yy the company now has access to low cost refinance. the 
company received ` 100 crore refinance from MUDra.

yy the company can tie up with banks to provide bank 
accounts to its borrows and aim to move to a cashless 
regime, thereby reduce operating costs. 

yy  the company has the highest rating in the MFI sector, a1+ 
for short term and a+ for long term instruments. It is already 
the lowest cost borrower in the sector.

continue to strengthen client  
protection initiatives
the company continues to implement several client protection 
initiatives. they have helped to ingrain the client protection 
practices and customer grievance redressal mechanism which 
are aligned with globally recognised benchmarks, deep in all its 
processes, policies, and culture. these two are now the guiding 
principles for design, development, and implementation of all 
the processes and policies. the company has identified five 
elements for these initiatives:

yy strengthening privacy of its client data: Ensuring that 
clients data is kept confidential at all levels and shared 
only with government agencies, government appointed 
agencies, or on approval of the concerned member.

yy transparent and responsible pricing of loans: Pricing 
of the products are well explained to members and done 
within the regulatory framework of rbI. at 19.75% interest 
rate, bFIl becomes the cheapest loan providing MFI. 

yy timely redressal of queries and grievances of its 
members: bFIl has a well-defined and fully automated 
complaint Grievance redressal Mechanism (cGrM) for 
ensuring timely redressal. 

 It also proactively reaches out to members for their feedback 
on different products through “voice of customers” program.

yy  avoidance of over-indebtedness and multiple 
borrowing among its borrowers: adherence of strict 
KYc policy and credit bureau and automated systems 
ensures the seamless implementation with controls thereby 
avoiding over-indebtedness and multiple borrowing among 
our borrowers.  

yy  establishing appropriate collection practices by its 
employees: Design and Implementation of collection 
practices, in alignment with the rbI and SrO guidelines and 
regulatory frameworks.

the company has been conducting client Protection awareness 
programmes for its members and employees pan-India in 
major vernacular languages with greater focus for the last four 
years. the client Protection Programme of the company has 
been certified by Smart campaign, USa. the company has also 
voluntarily adopted a ceiling of 3% return on assets (roa) from 
its micro credit business.

During FY16, the company’s well-established inbound toll-free 
member helpline successfully serviced 5,94,779 customer calls 
(an increase of 67% over FY15) . Inbound calls have doubled 
over the previous year indicating growing awareness amongst 
customers about the member helpline. Effective cGr processes 
has ensured that 98% of these calls were closed within the 
defined turn-around time (tat). turnaround times and cGr 
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performance is regularly reviewed by, Mr. verghese Jacob who is 
appointed as an independent ombudsman since January 1, 2012. 

the company has also proactively reached out to its customers 
through voice of customer programme to identify their needs 
and collect their feedback on existing products. More than 
1,00,000 customers were surveyed under different surveys, in 
major vernaculars, and assessed for their need of new products, 
satisfaction with existing products and processes, and awareness 
on client protection principles.   

Bring down the cost to borrowers
the company has reduced the interest rates it charges on loans, 
with the objective of bringing down the cost to its borrowers. 
During FY16, the company reduced the interest rate on its 
income-generating loans from 23.55% to 20.75% effective from 
October 1, 2015. With diversification of funding sources and 
further reduction in cost of borrowing, the company again 
reduced the interest rate on its income-generating loans to 
19.75% effective from December 7, 2015, making the company’s 
interest rate the lowest among private sector MFIs. the company 
intends to leverage opportunities in future to further reduce the 
interest rates to borrowers.

diversification of revenue streams and cross 
selling of products and services
the company has built a large distribution network in rural India. 
the company believes it can leverage this network to distribute 
financial and non-financial products of other institutions to its 
members at a cost lower than competition. Its network also 
allows such distributors to access a segment of the market to 
which many do not otherwise have access.

While the company continues to focus on its core business of 
providing micro credit services, it seeks to diversify into other 
businesses by scaling up certain pilot projects involving fee-
based services, and will gradually convert them into separate 
business verticals or operate them through subsidiaries. Its 
objective in these other businesses is to focus on lending that 
will allow it to maintain repayment rates, increase member 
loyalty and also provide economic benefits to its members and 
their families. the company believes that such other products 
and services may offer higher operating margins as compared to 
micro credit under the new regulatory framework and will help it 
increase its overall roa.

the company’s existing initiatives in relation to financial 
products and services other than micro credit include providing:

- loans to its members for the purchase of mobile handsets 
in association with Microsoft corporation (India) Private 
limited and solar lamps in association with D. light Energy 
Private limited and Green light India Private limited.

- loans to its members to facilitate the purchase of sewing 
machines in association with Usha International limited and 
Singer India limited, bicycles in association with Hero cycles 
limited and t.I.cycles of India, bio-mass stoves in association 
with Envirofit (India) Private limited and water purifiers in 
association with Eureka Forbes limited.

enhance operating and financial leverage
the company provides collateral-free credit to a majority of its 
members in their neighbourhood, and its Sangam Managers 
assist with the processes related to credit verification. While 
this helps its borrowers save on travel costs, it results in high 
operating expenses for the company, particularly personnel and 
administrative costs. Personnel costs accounted for 72.4% of its 
operating expenses during FY16.

the company has embarked on cost-optimization initiatives 
by improving its ratio of borrowers per Sangam Manager, while 
realizing the benefits of economies of scale. the borrowers per 
Sangam Manager ratio (outside the states of andhra Pradesh 
and telangana) was 312 as of March 31, 2012 and has been 
improved to 733 as of March 31, 2016. Further, the company 
has merged branches, both in the hitherto undivided andhra 
Pradesh and other states. In addition, the company grew 
its loan portfolio in FY14, FY15 and FY16 without adding a 
significant number of new branches or incurring additional 
capital expenditure. there was a net reduction of approximately 
200 branches during FY13, six branches during FY14 and net 
addition of 13 branches in FY15 and 56 branches in FY16. as 
of March 31, 2016, the company had 1,324 branches. Its total 
headcount was reduced from 16,194 as of March 31, 2012 
to 8,932 as of March 31, 2014. With resumption of hiring, the 
headcount increased to 9,698 as of March 31, 2015 and 11,991 as 
of March 31, 2016. to implement its growth strategy, though the 
company plans to increase its headcount and open branches in 
certain areas, it will continue to focus on efficiencies to maintain 
and improve operating leverage.

Other factors that the company continues to focus on to 
optimize its cost structure include enhancing the productivity 
of employees, introducing technology for expedient reporting 
and re-engineering the internal processes. the results of cost 
optimization are evident in the reduction in cost-to-income ratio 
from 74.5% in FY14 to 48.3% in FY16.

Its debt to equity ratio was 3.7 as of March 31, 2016. With a 
return to full-year profitability in FY14, improved profitability 
in FY15 and FY16, growth in its portfolio outside the states of 
andhra Pradesh and telangana, and increase in the availability 
of financing, the company aims to maximize its operating and 
financial leverage.
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Information technology as an enabler  
technology combined with innovation and business process 
change brings in the greatest return. Pursuing this line, the 
company has focussed on advanced technology solutions that 
drive it to growth through the following:

yy as a part of Enterprise Mobility strategy, bFIl digitally 
empowered its loan officers with tablets. the SMart tab 
project involved provisioning and deployment of 7,000 
tablets across all their branches in the country, and a 
help desk to assist loan officers to manage their devices. 
as a result, back office job is completely moved to field 
computing at the point of delivery in the remote villages of 
the country. With minimal paper work and time savings it 
has resulted in significant increase in efficiencies. bFIl has 
applied to patent this innovative technology.

yy the Enterprise Mobility project, an innovative offline solution 
was awarded SKOcH Order-of-Merit award, SKOcH Smart 
technology award, and Dataquest technology award.

yy  branch Health Monitor (bHM) software was launched across 
the enterprise for raising any service request from branches. 
With strictly defined tat’s, it has significantly improved service 
quality for branches and in turn better servicing of clients. 

yy  Migrated to IPv6 from IPv4 in order to have more efficient 
and security features.

yy  Strengthened data analytics to gain insights for analyzing 
service delivery, process adherence/deviations and to 
understand different patterns across the geographies. 
In addition, data analytics is used for analyzing proposal 
trending across geographies and to report on major KPIs. 

yy  bFIl lays lot of emphasis on training its employees for 
continuous growth and development to meet Organization 
objective and development of employee as an individual. 
training Interface Module (tIM) software for training team 
has been launched to track all the trainings conducted, 
schedules, attendance, online tests, monitoring and further 
certification of all employees.

yy  bFIl started seamless integration with credit bureau (cb) 
through web service technology for cb enquiry, resulting in 
faster service to clients.

yy  Initiated a pilot towards cashless disbursements into the 
member accounts through nEFt.

 
V. RISKS AND MANAGEMENT 

STRATEGIES
risk is an integral part of the company’s business, and sound 
risk management is critical to the success of the organization. as 
a financial intermediary, the company is exposed to risks that 
are particular to its lending and the environment within which 
it operates. the company has identified and implemented 
comprehensive policies and procedures to assess, monitor and 
manage risk throughout the company. the risk management 
process is continuously improved and adapted to the changing 
risk scenario and the agility of the risk management process is 
monitored and reviewed for its appropriateness in the changing risk 
landscape. the process of continuous evaluation of risks includes 
taking stock of the risk landscape on an event-driven basis.

the company has an elaborate process for risk management. 
this rests on the three pillars of business risk assessment, 
Operational controls assessment and Policy compliance 
Processes. Major risks identified by the businesses and functions 



34

Bharat Financial inclusion limited Annual Report 2016

are systematically addressed through mitigating actions 
on a continuing basis. these are discussed with both the 
Management and the risk Management committee. Some of 
the risks relate to competitive intensity and the changing legal 
and regulatory environment. the risk Management committee 
of the board reviews the risk management policies in relation to 
various risks and regulatory compliance issues.

the company identifies the following as key risks: 

political risk 
the company recognizes political risk as one of the major 
risks facing the industry and believes that political risk can be 
mitigated through responsible lending and fair pricing by  
way of:

yy  Lowest cost lender – the company charges the lowest 
interest rates among MFIs to its borrowers.

yy  voluntary cap on roa from core lending – the company 
has voluntarily capped its returns from core lending at 3%.

yy  robust customer grievance redressal (cGr) Mechanism 
with Independent Ombudsman

yy  calibrated growth – the company’s growth strategy aims 
to meet requirements of its members and also address 
concerns of various stakeholders.

concentration risk
the company aims to avoid unbalanced concentration in both 
its loan portfolio and borrowings. to mitigate the concentration 
risk, the company has well defined Geographic & borrower 
dependence norms

geographic concentration norms – In order to mitigate the 
risk of external intervention, concentration in any particular state, 
district or branch, as well as to manage non-payment risk, the 
company has implemented the following limits

Disbursement Related Caps:
the disbursement limits stipulate each state to entail less 
than 15% of the total disbursements for the company (except 
states of Karnataka and Odisha which have a 20% limit); each 
district to entail less than 3% of the total disbursements for the 
company (except districts in states of Karnataka and Odisha 
which have a 4% limit); each branch to entail less than 1% of 
the total disbursements for the company (except branches in 
states of Karnataka and Odisha which have a 1.25% limit); no 
disbursements to be made by branches that have an nPa of 
more than 1% or collection efficiency of less than 95%;

Portfolio Outstanding Related Caps:

- Gross loan Portfolio: 

 Each state to ensure that its Gross loan Portfolio will not 
exceed 75% of the company’s net worth (except states of 
Karnataka, Odisha and Maharashtra which have a 100% 
limit); each district to maintain that its Gross loan Portfolio 
will not exceed 5% of the company’s net worth (up to 5% of 
the operating districts may go up to 10% of the company’s 
net worth); each branch to maintain that its Gross loan 
Portfolio will not exceed 1% of the company’s net worth (up 
to 5% of the operating branches may go up to 2% of the 
company’s net worth).

- loan Portfolio Outstanding: 

 Each state to ensure that its Gross loan Portfolio will not 
exceed 15% of the company’s total portfolio (except states 
of Karnataka and Odisha which have a 20% limit). 

 
caps are subject to tolerance of 10%. 

yy  Borrowing dependence norms – In order to reduce 
dependence on a single borrower, the company has 
adopted a cap on borrowing from any single credit granter 
at 15%. the share of borrowing from top 3 banks reduced 
significantly from 61% in March 2013 to 34% in March 2016.

Operational risk 
the core business of the company is to provide collateral-
free loans in rural areas and consequently requires enhanced 
operational risk management. to mitigate the operational risk, 
the company adopts the following strategy.

yy  integrated cash management system –

 - the company’s disbursements to and collections from 
borrowers are predominantly in cash, making cash 
management an important element of the business. 
to reduce the potential risks of theft, fraud and 
mismanagement, the company has been implementing 
an integrated cash management system since July 
2009 which is operational in approximately 1,274 of its 
branches as of March 31, 2016. the system utilizes an 
Internet banking software platform that interfaces with 
various banks to provide the company with real-time 
cash information for these branches and the loan 
activity therein. 

 - the company believes this integrated system augments 
its management information systems and facilitates its 
bank reconciliations, audits and cash flow management. 
the system also reduces errors. 

yy product and process design – the company adopts a 
standardized approach to product design and operational 
procedures at the branches and centers to enable 
predictability of transactions, as a risk mitigant.  
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yy IsO certified Internal audit – the company has 
adequate controls and processes in place with respect to 
its operations. the Internal audit department acts as the 
third line of defence by monitoring adherence to controls 
and processes and provides inputs for strengthening risk 
management.

Liquidity risk 
the company places significant importance on liquidity 
management and has a bias for liquidity mainly to address 
operational requirements and corporate commitments. along 
with funding strategy and asset liability management, the 
company has well defined liquidity metrics viz, cash burn, 
business continuity and growth tests to ensure sufficient 
liquidity in line with business requirements and aid risk 
mitigation.
 
VI. INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS AND 

THEIR ADEQUACY
the company has a well-established Internal audit Department 
which ensures adherence to systems, policies and procedures to 
maintain financial discipline. the Internal audit Department aims 
at checking the operational risks through its control mechanism 
and by conducting inspection of branches/ offices. based on the 
guidelines received on various issues of control from the reserve 
bank of India and the Government of India, the company’s board 
of Directors and the audit committee of the board have become 
part of the Internal control System for better compliance at all 
levels. 

the company’s Internal control Systems are commensurate 
with the nature of its business and the size and complexity 
of its operations. these are routinely tested and cover all 
branches, regional Offices and the Head Office. Significant audit 

observations and follow-up actions thereon are reported to the 
audit committee. 

the audit committee of the board oversees the Internal audit 
function of the company. the audit committee reviews 
the adequacy and effectiveness of the company’s Internal 
control System, and monitors the implementation of audit 
recommendations including those related to strengthening 
of the company’s risk management policies and systems. the 
audit committee monitors compliance with inspection and 
audit reports of the reserve bank of India, other regulators and 
statutory auditors.

VII. FY16 - UPDATE

OperatIOnaL and FInancIaL hIghLIghts
During FY16, the company reported a profit after tax of ` 303.0 
crore as compared to a profit of ` 187.7 crore in FY15. the 
company reported profits for 14 consecutive quarters and for 
three full years - FY14, FY15 and FY16 since the turnaround. 

revenue increased by 64.5% during FY16. the company 
obtained incremental drawdowns (including securitization) of 
` 7,317.4 crore in FY16, an increase of 45.8% compared to FY15. 
this aided higher disbursements and the company registered 
growth in the loan portfolio in states other than andhra Pradesh 
and telangana during FY16. Gross loan Portfolio in states other 
than andhra Pradesh and telangana increased by 84.0% from  
` 4,171.2 crore crore as on March 31, 2015 to ` 7,676.9 crore 
as on March 31, 2016. Gross loan Portfolio in states other than 
andhra Pradesh and telangana increased at a caGr of 55.3% 
from ` 1,320.0 crore as on March 31, 2012 to ` 7,676.9 crore as 
on March 31, 2016. Further, average loan recovery rates in states 
other than andhra Pradesh and telangana were robust at 99.8% 
for  FY16.
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Operational performance

operational highlights Mar-12 Mar-13 Mar-14 Mar-15 Mar-16

no. of branches 1,461 1,261 1,255 1,268 1,324

no. of districts 329 298 294 314 323

no. of employees 16,194 10,809 8,932 9,698 11,991

no. of members (in lakh) 53.5 50.2 57.8            64.0 69.7

Disbursements for the year (` in crore)          2,737          3,320          4,788          6,891 12,088

Gross loan portfolio  (` in crore)*          1,669          2,359          3,113          4,185 7,688

*Includes securitized, assigned and managed loan portfolio

Financial highlights Mar-12 Mar-13 Mar-14 Mar-15 Mar-16

Incremental borrowings* (` in crore) 1,823 3,149 3,703 5,561 8,309

total revenue (` in crore)             472            353             545             803 1,321

Profit after tax (` in crore)         (1,361)         (297)               70             188 303

total assets (` in crore)          1,681         2,511          2,497          4,699 7,154

return on average asset ^ -40.3% -11.7% 2.3% 4.3% 4.2%

return on average equity -118.9% -74.4% 16.7% 21.6% 25.1%

*amount of sanctions received from banks and financial institutions
^ assets include securitized, assigned and managed loan portfolio

Financial performance (comparison of Fy16 with Fy15) 

Particulars Fy16 Fy15 Increase / 
Decrease` in crore Per cent to 

Revenue
` in crore Per cent to 

Revenue
Income from operations 1,169.1 88.5% 724.0 90.1% 61.5%

Other income 151.5 11.5% 79.1 9.9% 91.6%

Gross revenue 1,320.7 100.0% 803.1 100.0% 64.5%

Employee benefit expenses 292.4 22.1% 231.9 28.9% 26.1%

Finance costs 484.6 36.7% 279.0 34.7% 73.7%

Other expenses 102.8 7.8% 84.0 10.5% 22.4%

Depreciation and amortization 8.4 0.6% 4.6 0.6% 83.4%

Provisions and write-offs 38.6 2.9% 10.0 1.3% 284.7%

total expenditure 926.8 70.2% 609.5 75.9% 52.1%

Profit before tax 393.9 29.8% 193.6 24.1% 103.5%

tax expense 90.9 6.9% 5.9 0.7% 1440.3%

Profit after tax 303.0 22.9% 187.7 23.4% 61.4%

Income from operations
Income from operations increased by 61.5%, from ` 724.0 crore 
in FY15 to ` 1,169.1 crore in FY16. this growth is primarily due 
to an increase in average (quarterly) Gross loan Portfolio by 
68.6% from ` 3,362.9 crore in FY15 to ` 5,670.4 crore in FY16. the 
opening and closing Gross loan Portfolio for FY16 were  
` 4,184.5 crore (March 2015) and ` 7,688.0 crore (March 2016) 
respectively.

Other income
Other income increased by 91.6%, from ` 79.1 crore in FY15 to ` 
151.5 crore in FY16. the increase in other income was primarily 
due to an increase in the company’s other fee income. Other fee 
income relates to fees for acting as business correspondent with 
regard to managed loans and fee received from strategic alliance 
partners for financing their products, such as mobile phones, 
solar lamps, sewing machine, bicycle etc.
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Financial expenses
the company’s financial expenses represent 52.3% of the total 
expenses for FY16. Financial expenses increased by 73.7% from  
` 279.0 crore in FY15 to ` 484.6 crore in FY16 due to an increase 
in average (quarterly) borrowings by 83.8% from ` 2,286.7 crore 
in FY15 to ` 4,203.2 crore in FY16.

employee benefit expenses
Employee benefit expenses consist of salaries and other 
employee benefits. Employee benefit expenses increased by 
26.1% from `231.9 crore in FY15 to ` 292.4 crore in FY16, due to 
annual increments and increase in the number of employees 
from 9,698 at the end of FY15 to 11,991 at the end of FY16.

Other expenses
Other expenses represented 11.1% of the total expenses for 
FY16 and increased by 22.4% from ` 84.0 crore in FY15 to ` 102.8 
crore in FY16. this increase was primarily due to an increase in 
travelling and conveyance expenses.

depreciation and amortization
Depreciation and amortization increased by 83.4%, from ` 4.6 
crore in FY15 to ` 8.4 crore in FY16. this increase was primarily on 
account of net additions of fixed and intangible assets of ` 14.6 
crore during FY16.

provisions and write-offs
Provisions and write-offs represented 4.2% of the total expenses 
for FY16 and increased by ` 28.6 crore, from ` 10 crore in FY15 
to ` 38.6 crore in FY16. this is due to standard assets provision 
of ` 30.8 crore made towards its Joint liability Group (JlG) loan 
portfolio to maintain provisioning required by the nbFc-MFI 
Directions issued by the reserve bank of India vide its circular 
dated December 2, 2011 and as amended vide circular dated 
March 20, 2012.

FUND RAISING
In FY16, the company received sanctions for 8,309.0 crore as 
compared to ` 5,561.0 crore during FY15. the company raised 
funds of ` 7,317.4 crore in FY16 as compared to ` 5,019.9 
crore in FY15. Funds raised in FY16 include ` 2,139.3 crore 
through securitization of portfolio loans, `481.2 crore through 
assignment and ` 200.0 crore through private placement of 
non-convertible Debentures (ncDs) and ` 677.3 through 
issuance of commercial Papers (cPs). 

the company’s debt funding sources are broad based and, as of 
March 31, 2016, its total outstanding borrowings and funds from 
securitization/assignment of loans from public sector banks, 
domestic private banks, foreign banks, and financial and other 
institutions were 38.2%, 42.3%, 6.1% and 13.4% respectively of its 
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total borrowed funds and funds from securitization/assignment 
of loans. as of March 31, 2015, its total outstanding borrowings 
and funds from securitization/assignment of loans from public 
sector banks, domestic private banks, foreign banks, and 
financial institutions and other institutions were 26.4%, 55.2%, 
5.1% and 13.2% respectively of its total borrowed funds and 
funds from securitization/assignment of loans.

the company meets the requirements of PSl guidelines and 
regularly accesses bank financing that qualifies as PSl. the 
rbI on april 23, 2015 revised PSl norms for all the scheduled 
commercial banks (excluding regional rural banks). the scope of 
PSl has been expanded to include new segments for lending 
such as medium enterprises, social infrastructure and renewable 
energy. PSl norms have been detailed earlier in this section.

the PSl guidelines also specify that, going forward, the 
monitoring on compliance for banks on Priority Sector targets 
will be done on a more frequent basis, that is, quarterly (instead 
of yearly) and banks will have to publish the information of their 
Priority Sector advances on both quarterly as well as annual 
basis. With the quarterly compliance on PSl reporting for banks, 
the seasonality in funding may reduce and ensure credit flow to 
the MFI sector on a regular basis through the year
 
VIII. HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT 
the company always banks on the contributions of its field 
employees in embarking on a new growth journey. During FY16, 
the company continued to show signs of positivity and growth, 
providing the Management an appetite for enhancing potential 
and driving growth and development of its people. talent 
Engagement, talent Management, leadership Development 
and Hr technology were the key focus areas for the period.

company continued to conduct various learning programs for 
enhancing potential and providing growth opportunity to its 
people. continuing the thrust on developing and grooming 
of internal leadership among middle-level managers, a series 
of programmes were initiated. ‘GOal’ is a 30 hours program 
on business communication which provides an opportunity 
to internal leadership among middle-level managers to learn 
business language ‘English’ though an instructor led training 
delivery model. ‘lakshya’ continues to serve its purpose of 
developing Unit managers to the next level through a robust 
development cum assessment model. contribution of field 
employees is crucial and so is welcoming them into the 
company. company ensured that field trainees, the first entry 
level employees of the organization are WElcOMED in the 
organization in the right way and in the right spirit through a 
program called   ‘WElcOME – One Day Induction’.

as part of building process capabilities for field staff, company 
provided 6,79,409 man-hours of technical training in seven 
vernacular languages.

the company has been chosen as aon best Employers – 2016. 
the aon Emerging best Employers India 2016 study is done, in 
partnership with bW businessworld and bloomberg tv India. 

as part of Hr automation, self-manager services were extended 
to field staff through HrIS (Human resources Information 
System) – SParK. Processes related to statutory compliance 
was automated through online compliance tracker. In order 
to monitor field Hr reports, the company introduced DaMS – 
Disciplinary actions Management system and Hr connect.

to support its growing business, the company hired business 
leaders from banking industry to head various regional offices.  
the company also started hiring talent from various rural 
Management colleges and trained them to create a talent pool 
for future leadership positions.  the company has provided 
internal growth opportunities to consistent performing 
employees. 

During FY16, there was a net addition of 24% manpower at 
various levels.  as on 31st March, 2016, the overall employee 
strength of the company was 11,991. the human resource 
distribution shows that the field employees in branch offices 
totalled 10,468 (87.3%) and Head Office & regional Office staff 
totalled 1,523 (12.7%). voluntary attrition rate during FY16 was 
20.1%.

Cautionary Statement
this document contains statements about expected future 
events, financial and operating results of bFIl, which are 
forward-looking. by their nature, forward-looking statements 
require the company to make assumptions and are subject to 
inherent risks and uncertainties. there is significant risk that the 
assumptions, predictions and other forward-looking statements 
will not prove to be accurate. readers are cautioned not to place 
undue reliance on forward-looking statements as a number 
of factors could cause assumptions, actual future results and 
events to differ materially from those expressed in the forward-
looking statements. accordingly, this document is subject to 
the disclaimer and qualified in its entirely by the assumptions, 
qualifications and risk factors referred to in the management’s 
discussion and analysis of bFIl’s annual report, FY2016.

ManaGEMEnt DIScUSSIOn & analYSIS



39

Bharat Financial inclusion limited Annual Report 2016

Directors’ report

Dear Members,

Your Board of Directors (the “Board”) takes pleasure in presenting the Thirteenth Annual Report of Bharat Financial Inclusion Limited (formerly 
known as “SKS Microfinance Limited“)(the “Company”) together with the audited financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2016.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The financial performance of the Company for the year ended March 31, 2016 is summarized below: 

Year ended March 31 2016 2015 Change (%)

Total revenue (` in crore) 1,320.7 803.1 64.5

Less: Total expenditure (` in crore) 926.8 609.5 52.1

Profit Before Tax (` in crore) 393.9 193.6 103.5

Profit After Tax (` in crore) 303.0 187.7 61.4

Earnings Per Share (EPS) (`) 23.9 15.2 57.0

Diluted EPS (`) 23.6 15.0 56.8

 y The Company has posted a profit after tax (PAT) of `303.0 crore for FY16 as compared to a PAT of `187.7 crore for FY15. A sum of `60.6 
crore is transferred to statutory reserve as against `37.5 crore for FY15. Consequently, the deficit in the P&L Account to be carried forward 
has reduced to `900.3 crore as against `1143.1 crore for FY15.

 y ROA (including securitized, assigned and managed loan portfolio) and ROE for FY16 were 4.2% and 25.1% respectively.

OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS 

Year ended March 31 2016 2015 Change (%)

Number of branches 1,324 1,268 4.4

Number of members (in lakh) 69.7 64.0 8.9

Number of employees 11,991 9,698 23.6

Amount disbursed (` in crore) 12,087.8 6,890.8 75.4

Gross loan portfolio  (` in crore) 7,688.0 4,184.5 83.7

Gross loan portfolio outside Andhra Pradesh and Telangana  
(` in crore)

7,676.9 4,171.2 84.0

RESOURCE MOBILISATION

During the year under review, the Company has diversified the sources of funds and raised a sum of `7,317.4 crore by way of short-term and 
long-term loans, commercial papers and also non-convertible debentures (NCDs), which was 45.8% higher as compared to `5,019.9 crore 
raised during FY15 and 43.3% higher as compared to `3,503.1 crore during FY14.

The net worth of the Company as on March 31, 2016 was `1,383.0 crore and capital adequacy as on March 31, 2016 was 23.1%, well in excess 
of the mandated 15%.

The Company’s cost of borrowings reduced to 11.6% in FY16 as compared to 12.8% for FY15. This reduction was mainly driven by sustained 
turnaround and diversification of sources of funding. In line with the Company’s policy of passing on the cost advantages accruing from 
economies of scale, operational efficiency and reduction in the cost of borrowing to its borrowers, the Company reduced the rate of interest 
by 1.55% in July 2015, 1.25% in October, 2015 and 1% in December, 2015. With the aforesaid and reduction in FY15, the Company has reduced 
the rate of interest by 4.8%. 

The rate of interest charged by the Company is the lowest rate among Non-Banking Financial Company - Micro Finance Institutions  
(NBFC-MFIs) on its core Income Generating Loans (IGL).
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In addition to the listing of equity shares on NSE and BSE, the NCDs issued by the Company are listed on wholesale debt segment of BSE 
Limited.

In order to capitalize on various opportunities for the further growth of the business and to meet capital adequacy requirement, the Board 
at its meeting held on May 4, 2016, approved raising of capital by issue of securities to the extent of `750 crore in one or more tranches in 
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 (“CA 2013”), SEBI (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2009 
and other laws/guidelines. Your approval for the said proposal has been sought by inclusion of the Special Resolution at sr. no. 6 of the Notice 
of the Thirteenth Annual General Meeting (AGM).

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

During FY16, the Company’s total revenue and profit after tax was `1,320.7 crore and `303.0 crore respectively. As of March 31, 2016, the 
Company had 69.7 lakh Members (55.7 lakh Members in states other than Andhra Pradesh and Telangana), including 58.1 lakh Borrowers 
(46.4 lakh Borrowers in states other than Andhra Pradesh and Telangana) spread across 1,324 branches (1,191 branches in states other than 
Andhra Pradesh and Telangana) in India, with a gross loan portfolio of `7,688.0 crore (`7,676.9 crore in states other than Andhra Pradesh and 
Telangana).

Please refer Management Discussion and Analysis Report for more information on the Company’s Business Overview. 

CHANGE OF COMPANY’S NAME

The Company was incorporated in 2003 with the prefix “SKS” as part of its Corporate name which is an abbreviation for Swayam Krishi Sangam 
(‘Swayam’ - ‘self’,  ‘Krishi’ - hard work and  ‘Sangam’ - society) and started its operations in a single state  (the hitherto undivided Andhra 
Pradesh) with a single product (income-generation loan). Today, 12 years after incorporation, the Company is among the largest Microfinance 
Institution (“MFI”) in India with presence across 18 states covering over 1,00,000 villages catering to its 69.7 lakh woman members, leveraged 
its distribution network and the close-to-the-consumer business model. 

With a pan-India presence, large member base and multiple-product delivery capability, the Company is equipped to play a major 
complimentary role in fulfilling the national priority of Financial Inclusion. In view of this and pursuant to your approval and approval of 
the Government of India- Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Registrar of Companies,  Mumbai, Maharashtra, the name of the Company has been 
changed from “SKS Microfinance Limited” to “Bharat Financial Inclusion Limited” w.e.f. June 13, 2016. The new identity signifies the Company’s 
evolution over the years, how the Company interacts with its members in delivering financial services at an affordable cost, emphasis on client 
protection practices, responsible lending and reflects the Company’s pan-India presence.

DIVIDEND

In order to conserve resources and, given extant provisions of the CA 2013, the Directors have not recommended any dividend for the year 
under review.

DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL 

Changes in the composition of the Board of Directors

During the year under review, Small Industries Development Bank of India (SIDBI) withdrew nomination of its nominee Mr. P. Krishnamurthy 
and nominated Mr. Kartik Gopal Alai as its nominee on the Board of the Company in October, 2015.

Mr. Sumir Chadha resigned as Non-Executive Director of the Company effective May 4, 2016.

The Board wish to place on record its appreciation for the valuable contribution of Mr. P. Krishnamurthy and Mr. Sumir Chadha in the sustained 
growth of the Company during their tenure as Directors of the Company.

The Board, based on the recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, appointed Mr. Rajender Mohan Malla as an 
Additional and Independent Director of the Company with effect from March 11, 2016.
 
A proposal to appoint Mr. Malla as an Independent Director of the Company for a period of five (5) years with effect from March 11, 2016, is 
being included in the Notice of the ensuing AGM to seek your approval.
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Directors Retiring by Rotation

In terms of Section 152 of the CA 2013, Mr. Paresh D.  Patel is due to retire by rotation at the ensuing AGM and, being eligible, offered himself 
for re-appointment.

Declaration of Independence

The Company has received declarations from all Independent Directors of the Company confirming that they meet the criteria of 
independence as prescribed under Section 149(6) of the CA 2013 and the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (“SEBI LODR Regulations”).
 
Key Managerial Personnel

Mr. M. R. Rao, Managing Director & CEO, Mr. S. Dilli Raj, President, Mr. K. V. Rao, Chief Operating Officer, Mr. Ashish Damani, Chief Financial Officer 
and Mr. Rajendra Patil, Company Secretary of the Company are the Key Managerial Personnel (“KMP”) of the Company. 

There are no changes in the KMP during the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT 

Pursuant to the requirement under Section 134(3) (c) of the CA 2013 with respect to Directors’ Responsibility Statement, it is hereby confirmed 
that:

1. In the preparation of the accounts for the year ended March 31, 2016, the applicable accounting standards have been followed and there 
are no material departures from the same;

2. The Directors had selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently, and made judgments and estimates that were 
reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company as at March 31, 2016 and of the profit of 
the Company for the year under review;

3. The Directors had taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the 
provisions of the CA 2013 for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities; 

4. The Directors had prepared annual accounts of the Company on a ‘going concern’ basis;

5. The Directors had laid down internal financial controls to be followed by the Company and that such internal financial controls are 
adequate and were operating effectively; and

6. The Directors had devised proper systems to ensure compliance with the provision of all applicable laws and that such systems were 
adequate and operating effectively. 

POLICY FOR SELECTION AND APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS 

In compliance with the provisions of the CA 2013 and SEBI LODR Regulations, the Board, on the recommendation of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee, approved the Policy for Selection and Appointment of Directors. 

The aforesaid policy provides a framework to ensure that suitable and efficient succession plans are in place for appointment of Directors on 
the Board so as to maintain an appropriate balance of skills and experience within the Board. The Policy also provides for selection criteria for 
appointment of directors, viz.,  educational and professional background, general understanding of the Company’s business dynamics, global 
business and social perspective, personal achievements and Board diversity.  

AUDITORS

(a) Statutory Auditors

At the Eleventh AGM held on September 29, 2014, the Members approved the appointment of M/s. S. R. Batliboi & Co. LLP, Chartered  
Accountants (ICAI Firm’s Registration No. 301003E) as Statutory Auditors for a period of three (3) years commencing from the Eleventh AGM 
till the conclusion of the Fourteenth AGM, subject to ratification by Members every year. As recommended by the Audit Committee, the 
appointment of  M/s. S. R. Batliboi & Co. LLP, Chartered Accountants as Statutory Auditors of the Company until the conclusion of the Fourteenth 
AGM,  proposal for ratification is being included in the Notice of the ensuing AGM for your approval. There is no qualification, reservation or 
adverse remark in the Auditors’ Report, save and except disclaimer made by them in discharge of their professional obligation.

Directors’ report (Contd.)
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(b) Secretarial Auditors

Pursuant to Section 204 of the CA 2013, the Company had appointed M/s. BS & Company, Company Secretaries LLP, as its Secretarial Auditors 
to conduct the secretarial audit of the Company for FY16. The Report of Secretarial Auditor for FY16 is annexed herewith as Annexure - I to 
Directors’ Report. There is no qualification, reservation or adverse remark in the Secretarial Auditors report, save and except disclaimer made by 
them in discharge of their professional obligation.
 
PARTICULARS OF LOANS OR GUARANTEES OR INVESTMENTS

Pursuant to the clarification dated February 13, 2015 issued by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs and Section 186(11) of the CA 2013, the 
provision of Section 134 (3)(g) of the CA 2013 requiring disclosure of particulars of the loans given, investments made or guarantees given or 
securities provided is not applicable to the Company.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

All transactions entered into with Related Parties as defined under the CA 2013 and SEBI LODR Regulations during the year under review were 
in the ordinary course of business and at an arm’s length pricing basis and do not attract the provisions of Section 188 of the CA 2013. The 
details of the transactions with related parties, if any, are placed before the Audit Committee from time to time. 

Details of the related party transactions, which are exempted according to a proviso to Section 188 of the CA 2013, during FY16 are disclosed 
in Note 27 of the financial statements. 

The policy on Related Party Transactions, as approved by the Board, is displayed on the website of the Company at http://www.sksindia.com/
downloads/SKS-Related%20Party%20Transaction%20Policy-Version%201-October%2029%202014.pdf. 

MATERIAL CHANGES AND COMMITMENTS, IF ANY, AFFECTING THE FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

There are no material changes and commitments affecting the financial position of the Company, which has occurred between the end of the 
financial year of the Company i.e. March 31, 2016 and the date of the Directors’ Report.

CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION, FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO UNDER SECTION 134(3)(m) 
OF THE CA 2013
The provisions of Section 134(3) (m) of the CA 2013 relating to conservation of energy and technology absorption do not apply to the 
Company. The Company has, however, used information technology extensively in its operations.
 
During the year under review, the Company’s earning and outgo in foreign exchange earning was Nil and `0.25 crore respectively. In 
connection with the foreign exchange outgo, you are also advised to refer Note 32 of the Financial Statements.

RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY

The Board of the Company has adopted the Risk Management Policy based on the recommendation of the Risk Management Committee 
in order to assess, monitor and manage risk throughout the Company. Risk is an integral part of the Company’s business, and sound risk 
management is critical to the success of the organization.

Detailed information on risk management is provided in the Management Discussion and Analysis Report. 

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR)

In compliance with Section 135 of the CA 2013 read with the Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility Policy) Rules 2014, the Company has 
established the Corporate Social Responsibility Committee (CSR Committee).

The Board adopted the CSR Policy, formulated and recommended by the CSR Committee, and the same is available on the Company’s website.  
 
During FY16, the Company has pursued four (4) CSR Projects in the states of Bihar, Chhattisgarh, Jharkhand, Karnataka, Kerala, Maharashtra, 
Odisha and Rajasthan. CSR activities carried out by the Company are detailed below: 
 
Jagruti Se Unnati is an awareness program through which the Company has tried to build awareness about various Central and State 
Government benefit schemes, amongst people in the state of Maharashtra. 

Directors’ report (Contd.)
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Drishti is a program through which the Company sponsored HelpAge India and Operations Eyesight India to organize eye screening camps 
to identify cataract affected people and conduct free cataract surgeries in the states of Bihar, Chhattisgarh, Jharkhand, Karnataka, Kerala, 
Maharashtra, Odisha and Rajasthan. 
 
IHHL (Individual Household Latrine) is a scheme under Swachh Bharat Mission which has been widely promoted by the Company 
in the rural areas of Amravati district of Maharashtra, motivating people to construct toilets and avail the benefits of the scheme. 
 
Animal Wellness Camps is a treatment cum awareness program through which the Company in collaboration with JK Trust Gram Vikas 
Yojana and Animal Husbandry Department of Odisha State Government, conducted animal welfare camps in rural areas of Odisha with the 
objective to provide primary and emergency veterinary services to the animals.

The disclosure of contents of CSR policy pursuant to clause (o) of sub-section (3) of section 134 of CA 2013 and Rule 9 of the Companies 
(Corporate Social Responsibility) Rules, 2014 is annexed herewith as Annexure - II to the Directors’ Report.

DEPOSITS

During the year under review, the Company has not accepted any deposit from the public.

DETAILS OF SIGNIFICANT AND MATERIAL ORDERS PASSED BY THE REGULATORS OR COURTS OR TRIBUNALS IMPACTING THE GOING 
CONCERN STATUS AND COMPANY OPERATIONS IN FUTURE 
There are no significant material orders passed by the Regulators, Courts or Tribunals which would impact the going concern status of the 
Company and its future operations.

INFORMATION REQUIRED UNDER SEXUAL HARASSMENT OF WOMEN AT WORKPLACE (PREVENTION, PROHIBITION & REDRESSAL) 
ACT, 2013

The Company has a policy against sexual harassment and a formal process for dealing with complaints of harassment or discrimination. 
The Company seeks to ensure that all such complaints are resolved within defined timelines. During FY16, the Company has received 10 
complaints, of these 9 complaints have been resolved and 1 complaint was pending as on March 31, 2016. The Company has conducted 20 
workshops/ awareness programs on prevention of sexual harassment.

AUCTION OF PLEDGED GOLD

During FY16, the Company has conducted auction of pledged gold jewellery pertaining to 2,603 loan accounts with total outstanding amount 
of ` 4.4 crore (principal of ` 3.4 crore plus outstanding interest of `1.1 crore) and the value fetched was ` 4.3 crore.
 
The Company does not have any sister concerns, who have participated in these auctions. Further, the Company has a policy on refund to 
Borrowers of any surplus that arises on auction of pledged gold after settling amount due to your Company.

INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS

The Company has adequate internal controls and processes in place with respect to its operations, which provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of the preparation of financial statements and financial reporting as also functioning of other operations. These 
controls and processes are driven through various policies and procedures. 

Detailed information on Internal Financial Controls is provided in the Management Discussion and Analysis Report.

VIGIL MECHANISM

The Company has adopted the Whistle-blower Policy, and details of the same are explained in the Corporate Governance Report. The Policy is 
also available on the Company’s website.

PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES

The ratio of the remuneration of each director to the median employee’s remuneration and other details in terms of Section 197(12) of the 
CA 2013 read with Rule 5(1) of the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, have been annexed 
herewith as Annexure – III to the Directors’ Report.
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The statement containing particulars of employees as required under Section 197 (12) of the CA 2013 read with Rules 5(2) and 5(3) of the 
Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 is provided in a separate annexure forming part of the 
Directors’ Report. In terms of Section 136 of the CA 2013, the Directors’ Report and the Accounts are being sent to the Members excluding the 
aforesaid annexure and the same is open for inspection at the Registered Office of the Company. A copy of the statement may be obtained 
by the Members, by writing to the Company Secretary of the Company.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Management Discussion and Analysis Report for the year under review is presented separately in this Annual Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

The Company has adopted best corporate practices, and is committed to conducting its business in accordance with the applicable laws, rules 
and regulations. The Company follows the highest standards of business ethics. A report on Corporate Governance is provided separately in 
this Annual Report.

BUSINESS RESPONSIBILITY REPORT  

The Business Responsibility Report for the year under review is annexed as Annexure - IV to the Directors’ Report.

EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLAN (“ESOP”) AND EMPLOYEE SHARE PURCHASE SCHEME (“ESPS”) 

Presently, employee stock options have been granted or shares have been issued under the following schemes:

A. SKS Microfinance Employee Share Purchase Scheme 2007;

B. SKS Microfinance Employee Stock Option Plan 2008 (Independent Directors) ;

C. SKS Microfinance Employee Stock Option Plan 2008;

D. SKS Microfinance Employee Stock Option Plan 2009;

E. SKS Microfinance Employee Stock Option Plan 2010; and

F. SKS Microfinance Employee Stock Option Plan 2011.

The disclosures with respect to each of the above-mentioned ESPS and ESOP, as required by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Share 
Based Employee Benefits) Regulations, 2014, is displayed at http://www.sksindia.com.
 
EXTRACT OF ANNUAL RETURN

Pursuant to Section 134 (3a) and Section 92 (3) of the CA 2013, read with Rule 12 of the Companies (Management and Administration) Rules, 
2014, an extract of the Annual Return as at March 31, 2016 in Form MGT 9 is annexed as Annexure - V to the Directors’ Report.
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Form No. MR-3
[Pursuant to section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rule No.9 of the Companies 

(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014]

SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2016

To, 
The Members,
SKS Microfinance Limited

We were appointed by the Board of Directors of SKS Microfinance Limited (“the Company”) to conduct the Secretarial Audit for the financial 
year ended March 31, 2016.

We have conducted the Secretarial audit in respect of compliance with applicable statutory provisions and the adherence to good corporate 
practices by the Company. Secretarial Audit was conducted in a manner that provided us a reasonable basis for evaluating the corporate 
conducts/statutory compliances and expressing our opinion thereon. 

Based on our verification of the Company’s books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other documents/records maintained by 
the Company and also the information provided by the Company, its officers, agents and authorized representatives during the conduct of 
Secretarial audit, we hereby report that in our opinion, the Company has, during the audit period covering the financial year ended on March 
31, 2016 complied with the statutory provisions listed hereunder and also that the Company has proper Board-processes and compliance 
mechanism in place to the extent, in the manner and subject to the reporting made hereinafter: 

We have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other records maintained by the Company for the financial 
year ended March 31, 2016, according to the provisions of: 

(i) The Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) and the rules made there under; 

(ii) The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 and the rules made there under; 

(iii) The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations and Bye-laws framed thereunder; 

(iv) The Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the rules and regulations made thereunder to the extent of Foreign Direct Investment;

(v) The following Regulations and Guidelines prescribed under the Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992:-  

 (a) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and Takeovers) Regulations, 2011; 

 (b) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 1992 applicable upto May 14, 2015 and the 
Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015 w.e.f. May 15, 2015; 

 (c) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2009; 

 (d) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Employee Stock Option Scheme and Employee Stock Purchase Scheme) Guidelines, 
1999/the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Share Based Employee Benefits) Regulations, 2014; 

 (e) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing of Debt Securities) Regulations, 2008; 

 (f ) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Registrars to an Issue and Share Transfer Agents) Regulations, 1993 regarding the Act 
and dealing with client;

The Company has identified Master Circular and guidelines issued by the Reserve Bank of India as applicable to NBFCs–ND- SI (Microfinance 
Institutions) dated July 1st, 2015 as specifically applicable to the Company.

Annexure - i to Directors’ report
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The Company has identified the following laws, Regulations, Guidelines, Rules, etc., as applicable to the Company:

1. The Employees’ Provident Fund and Miscellaneous Provisions Act, 1952 & Employees’ Provident Fund Schemes, 1952

2. The Employees’ State Insurance Act, 1948 and Rules made thereunder

3. The Minimum Wages Act, 1948 and Rules made thereunder

4. The Payment of Wages Act, 1936 and Rules made thereunder

5. The Payment of Bonus Act, 1965 and Rules made thereunder

6. The Payment of Gratuity Act and Rules made thereunder

7. The Maternity Benefit Act, 1961

8. The Equal Remuneration Act, 1976

9. The Employment Exchange (Compulsory Notification of Vacancies) Act, 1959

10. The Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013

11. Shops and Establishments Acts under various state legislations where the Company has offices.

12. The Contract Labour (Regulation and Abolition) Act, 1970 and rules made thereunder

We have also examined compliance with the applicable clauses of the following: 

(i) Secretarial Standards issued by The Institute of Company Secretaries of India (ICSI) applicable with effect from July 01, 2015. 

(ii) The Listing Agreements entered into by the Company with National Stock Exchange of India Ltd & BSE Ltd applicable upto November 
30, 2015.

(iii) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 applicable w.e.f. 
December 1, 2015.

During the period under review, the Company has complied with the provisions of the Act, Rules, Regulations, Guidelines, Standards, etc. 
mentioned above.

We further report that: 
a. the Board of Directors of the Company is duly constituted with proper balance of Executive Director, Non-Executive Directors and 

Independent Directors. The changes in the composition of the Board of Directors that took place during the period under review were 
carried out in compliance with the provisions of the Act. 

b. adequate notice was given to all directors to schedule the Board meetings, agenda and detailed notes on agenda were sent at least 
seven days in advance, and a system exists for seeking and obtaining further information and clarifications on the agenda items before 
the meeting and for meaningful participation at the meeting. 

c. during the period under review, resolutions were carried through majority. The minutes of the meetings held during the audit period did 
not reveal any dissenting member’s view.  As confirmed by the Management, there were no dissenting views expressed by any of the 
members on any business transacted at the meetings held during the period under review.

d. based on the information, documents provided and the representations made by the Company, its officers during our audit process 
and also on review of the compliance reports of the Company Secretary taken on record by the Board of Directors of the Company 
periodically, in our opinion, there are adequate systems and processes exists in the Company to commensurate with the size and 
operations of the Company, to monitor and ensure compliance with applicable laws, rules, regulations and guidelines.

Annexure - i to Directors’ report
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e. the compliance by the Company of the applicable financial laws like direct and indirect tax laws and maintenance of financial records 
and books of accounts has not been reviewed by us since the same have been subject to review by statutory auditors and other 
professionals.

f. during the audit period the Company has issued and allotted 2,000 11.95% Secured, Non-Cumulative, Redeemable, Taxable, Listed, Rated 
Non-Convertible Debentures (NCDs) of face value of `10,00,000/- (Rupees Ten Lakh only) each aggregating to `200 crore (Rupees Two 
Hundred Crore only) on private placement basis and listed on wholesale debt market (WDM) segment of BSE Limited.

 For B S & Company, Company Secretaries LLP
 Sd/-
 K. V. S. Subramanyam
Date:  April 26, 2016 FCS No.: 5400
Place:  Hyderabad C P No.: 4815

Note: This report is to be read with our letter of even date which is annexed as ‘Annexure’ and forms an integral part of this report.

Annexure - i to Directors’ report
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To, 
The Members,
SKS Microfinance Limited

Our report of even date is to be read along with this letter.

1. Maintenance of Secretarial records is the responsibility of the Management of the Company. Our responsibility is to express as opinion 
on these secretarial records based on our audit.

2.  We have followed the audit practices and process as were appropriate to obtain reasonable assurance about the correctness of the 
contents of the Secretarial records. The verification was done on test basis to ensure that correct facts are reflected in secretarial records. 
We believe that the processes and practices, we followed provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

3.  We have not verified the correctness and appropriateness of financial records and Books of Accounts of the Company.

4.  Wherever required, we have obtained the Management representation about the compliance of applicable laws, rules and regulations etc.

5.  The compliance of the provisions of Companies Act, 2013 and other applicable laws, Rules, Regulations, secretarial standards issued by 
ICSI is the responsibility of the Management. Our examination was limited to the verification of procedures on test basis.

6.  The Secretarial Audit report is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company, nor of the efficacy or effectiveness with 
which the Management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

7.  We further report that, based on the information provided by the Company, its officers, authorized representatives during the conduct of 
the audit and also on the review of quarterly compliance report by the respective departmental heads/Company Secretary/Managing 
Director taken on record by the Board of the Company, in our opinion adequate systems and process and control mechanism exist in 
the Company to monitor compliance with applicable general laws like labour laws & Environment laws and Data protection policy.

8.  We further report that the compliance by the Company of applicable fiscal laws like Direct & Indirect tax laws have not been reviewed 
in this audit since the same has been subject to review by the statutory financial audit and other designated professionals.

       
 For B S & Company, Company Secretaries LLP
 Sd/-
 K. V. S. Subramanyam
Date: April 26, 2016 FCS No.: 5400
Place: Hyderabad C P No.: 4815

Annexure - i to Directors’ report
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Annexure - ii to Directors’ report 

Report on Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) activities in FY16

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

In compliance with Section 135 of the CA 2013 read with the Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility Policy) Rules 2014, the Company has 
established the Corporate Social Responsibility Committee (“CSR Committee”).

The Board adopted the CSR Policy, formulated and recommended by the CSR Committee, and the same is available on the Company’s website.

During FY16, the Company has pursued four (4) CSR Projects in the states of Bihar, Chhattisgarh, Jharkhand, Karnataka, Kerala, Maharashtra, 
Odisha and Rajasthan. CSR activities carried out by the Company are detailed below:

Jagruti Se Unnati is an awareness program through which the Company has tried to build awareness about various Central and State 
Government benefit schemes, amongst people in the state of Maharashtra. 

Drishti is a program through which Company sponsored HelpAge India and Operations Eye Sight India to organize eye screening camps 
to identify cataract affected people and conduct free cataract surgeries in the states of Bihar, Chhattisgarh, Jharkhand, Karnataka, Kerala, 
Maharashtra, Odisha and Rajasthan.

IHHL (Individual Household Latrine) is a scheme under Swachh Bharat Mission which has been widely promoted by the Company in the 
rural areas of Amravati district of Maharashtra, motivating people to construct toilets and avail the benefits of the scheme.

Animal Wellness Camps is a treatment cum awareness program through which the Company in collaboration with JK Trust Gram Vikas 
Yojana and Animal Husbandry Department of Odisha State Government, conducted animal welfare camps in rural areas of Odisha with the 
objective to provide primary and emergency veterinary services to the animals.

The disclosure of the contents of the CSR policy pursuant to Section 134(3)(o) of CA 2013 and Rule 9 of the Companies (Corporate Social 
Responsibility) Rules, 2014, are as follows:  

S. 
No.

Particulars Remarks

1 A brief outline of the Company’s CSR policy, including overview 
of projects or programmes proposed to be undertaken and 
a reference to the web link to the CSR policy and projects or 
programmes.

Please refer to the overview of programmes undertaken by the 
Company, as mentioned above.
The CSR policy is available on the web link : 
https://www.sksindia.com/downloads/SKS-CSR%20Policy%20
-%20Version%201%20-%20dated%20October%20292014.pdf 

2 The Composition of the CSR Committee. Mr.  Geoffrey Tanner Woolley (Chairman);
Mr.  M. R.  Rao;
Dr.  Punita Kumar-Sinha; and
Dr.  Tarun Khanna.

3 Average net profit of the Company for last three financial years. Loss of `367 crore

4 Prescribed CSR Expenditure (two per cent of the amount as in 
item 3 above)

Not Applicable

5 Details of CSR spent during the financial year:

a) Total amount to be spent for the financial year; Considering the fact that the Company incurred loss in FY13, the 
Company was not required to spend any amount towards CSR. 
However, the Board approved a budget of ` 2.5 crore for CSR 
Projects and a sum of ` 1.93 crore was spent towards the same. A 
sum of ` 0.57 crore has not been spent for the reason stated  
at Sr. No 6.

b) Amount unspent, if any

c) Manner in which the amount spent during the financial  
year is detailed below

6 In case the Company has failed to spend the two per cent of 
the average net profit of the last three financial years or any part 
thereof, the company shall provide the reasons for not spending 
the amount in its Board report

-  The Jharkhand Intervention, though proposed to be launched in 
January, 2016 was deferred and started in April, 2016;
-  Due to unfavorable weather conditions, project Drishti was 
delayed as cataract operations could not be performed;
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Table A

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8)

S.  
No.

CSR Project 
or Activity 
Identified

Sector in 
which the 
Project is 
covered

Projects or 
programmes

(1) Local area 
or others

(2) Specify 
the State 
and Dis-
trict where 
projects or 
programmes 
were under-
taken.

Amount 
Outlay

(Budget) 
Project or 
Programme 
wise (` in 
Crore)

Amount 
spent on the 
Projects or 
Programme 
Sub Heads:

(1) Direct 
Expenditure 
on Projects or 
Programmes 
(` in Crore)

Amount 
spent on the 
Projects or 
Programme 
Sub Heads:  
(2) Overheads   
(` in Crore)

Cumulative 
Expenditure 
up to the 
reporting 
period i.e.                   
FY 2015- 
2016  
(` in Crore)

Amount 
Spent Direct 
or through 
Implement-
ing Agency

1 Education-
Jagruti se 
Unnnati

Clause (ii) 
livelihood
enhancement
Clause (iii) 
measures
for reducing  
inequalities
faced by 
socially &
economically   
backward 
groups

Maharashtra 
- Amravati, 
Kolhapur, 
Nagpur, 
Nanded, Pune, 
Sangli and 
Yavatmal.

0.5 0.197 0.06 0.257 Spent directly 
and through 
SOSVA Training 
and Promotion 
Institute

2 Swachh Bharat 
Mission  - IHHL 
(Individual 
Household 
Latrine) 
scheme

Clause (i)
Sanitation

Maharashtra – 
Amravati

0.0329 0.028 0.0609 Spent directly

3 Health Care 
-Drishti

Clause (i)
Promoting 
preventive    
health care

Bihar - Arwal, 
Gaya, Nalanda, 
Patna, Vaishali, 
Jehanabad, 
Samastipur, 
Lakhisari and 
Bhojpur.

1.5 1.08 0.014 1.09 HelpAge India 
and Operation 
Eyesight India

Chhattisgarh  
- Raipur, 
Rajnandgaon, 
Durg, Balod 
and Bemtara;

Jharkhand  - 
Hazaribagh, 
Koderma, 
Giridih and 
Chatra;
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Karnataka  - 
Bidar, Shimoga, 
Bellary, Haveri 
and Raichur;

Kerala  - 
Ernakulum, 
Aleppy, Thrissur 
and Palakkad;

Maharashtra 
- Nashik, 
Aurangabad, 
Jalgaon and 
Latur; 

Odisha - 
Bhadrak, 
Baleswar, 
Keonjhar, 
Cuttack and 
Khurda;

Rajasthan – 
Jaipur

4 Animal 
Wellness  
Camp

Clause (iv)
Animal  
Welfare

Odisha - 
Cuttack, 
Ganjam and 
Bargarh district

0.5 0.22 0.078 0.29 Spent directly 
and through 
JK Trust Gram 
Vikas Yojana

Total 2.5 1.53 0.18 1.71*

 *Excluding staff cost 

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Responsibility Statement of the Corporate Social Responsibility Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company, has been reproduced 
below:

The implementation and monitoring of the Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Policy is in compliance with the CSR objectives and policy 
of the Company.

    Sd/-    Sd/-
    M.  R.  Rao                                    Geoffrey Tanner Woolley
    Managing Director & CEO         Chairman, Corporate Social Responsibility Committee
June 14, 2016   DIN No.: 03276291   DIN No.: 00306749

Annexure - ii to Directors’ report
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The ratio of the remuneration of each Director to the median employee’s remuneration and such other details in terms of Section 197(12) of 
the CA 2013 read with Rule 5 of the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014.

S. No. Requirements Disclosure

i. The ratio of the remuneration of each director to the median remuneration 
of the employees of the Company for the financial year

Mr.  P. H. Ravikumar
Mr.  S.  Balachandran
Mr. Geoffrey Tanner Woolley
Mr.  Kartik Gopal Alai
Mr.  M. R. Rao
Mr.  P.  Krishnamurthy
Dr.  Punita Kumar - Sinha
Mr. Rajender Mohan Malla
Dr.  Tarun Khanna

38.2 : 1
33.1 : 1
32.5 : 1

1.5 : 1
277.4 : 1

5.3 : 1
6.4 : 1

                 -
26.2 : 1

ii The percentage increase in remuneration of each director, Chief Financial 
Officer, Chief Executive Officer, Company Secretary or Manager, if any, in 
the financial year

Mr. M.  R.  Rao,  MD & CEO
Mr. S.  Dilli Raj, President
Mr. K.  V.  Rao, Chief Operating Officer
Mr. Ashish Damani, Chief Financial Officer
Mr. Rajendra Patil, Company Secretary

22.0%
22.0%
16.0%
16.0%
11.0%

iii. The percentage increase in the median remuneration of employees in the 
financial year

The percentage increase in the median remuneration of 
employees in the financial year is around 9.0%.

iv. The number of permanent employees on the rolls of the Company 11,991

v. The explanation on the relationship between average increase in 
remuneration and company performance

 y Performance of the Company

 y Variable compensation is an integral part of 
the total pay package and is based on an 
individual’s performance rating and business unit 
performance.

vi. Comparison of the remuneration of the Key Managerial Personnel against 
the performance of the Company

For FY16, the Key Managerial Personnel were paid 
around 2.5% of the Profit After Tax.

vii. Variations in the market capitalization of the Company, price earnings ratio 
as at the closing date of the current financial year and previous financial 
year and percentage increase or decrease in the market quotations of the 
shares of the Company in comparison to the rate at which the Company 
came out with the last public offer in case of listed companies

The market capitalization of the Company as at March 
31, 2016 was `6,949.3 crore as compared to `5,783.6 
crore as at March 31, 2015. The earning per share of 
the Company was `23.9 as at March 31, 2016 which 
was `15.2 as at March 31, 2015. The stock price of the 
Company as at March 31, 2016 has increased by 19.2% 
to `545.85 from `457.95 as at March 31, 2015.

viii. Average percentile increase already made in the salaries of employees 
other than the managerial personnel in the last financial year and its 
comparison with the percentile increase in the managerial remuneration 
and justification thereof and point out if there are any exceptional 
circumstances for increase in the managerial remuneration

The average percentage increase made in the salaries 
of total employees other than the Key Managerial 
Personnel is around 11.0%, while the average increase in 
the remuneration of the Key Managerial Personnel is in 
the range of 11.0% to 22.0%.

ix. Comparison of remuneration of each of the Key Managerial Personnel 
against the performance of the Company

The ratio of the remuneration of each KMP to the PAT of 
the Company is:
Mr. M. R. Rao, MD & CEO                                                                  0.9%
Mr. S. Dilli Raj, President                                                                   0.8%
Mr. K. V. Rao, Chief Operating Officer                                            0.3%
Mr. Ashish Damani, Chief Financial Officer                                 0.2%
Mr. Rajendra Patil, Company Secretary           0.2%

x. The key parameters for any variable component of remuneration availed 
by the Directors

The variable components of remuneration payable to 
executive director is determined by the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee (NRC) / Board based on 
overall performance of the Company. The non-executive 
independent directors collectively contribute to the 
growth and efficient performance of the Company 
and accordingly annual commission is paid to them in 
addition to  sitting fee,  as determined by NRC / Board.

xi. The ratio of the remuneration of the highest paid Director to that of the 
employees who are not directors but receive remuneration in excess of 
the highest paid Director during the year

Not Applicable

xii. Affirmation that the remuneration is as per the remuneration policy of 
the Company

Yes

Annexure - iii to Directors’ report
Ratio of the remuneration of each Director to the median employee’s remuneration
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Annexure - iV to Directors’ report

Business Responsibility Report

Section A: General Information about the Company

1 Corporate Identity Number (CIN) of the Company L65999MH2003PLC250504

2 Name of the Company Bharat Financial Inclusion Limited 
( Formerly known as ‘SKS Microfinance Limited’)

3- Registered address Unit No. 410, Madhava, 
Bandra-Kurla Complex, Bandra East, 
Mumbai – 400 051, 
Maharashtra, India

4 Website www.sksindia.com

5 E-mail id info@sksindia.com

6 Financial Year reported 2015-16

7 Sector(s) that the Company is engaged in (industrial activity code-wise) Financial Services (Microfinance)

8 List three key products/services that the Company manufactures/provides (as in 
balance sheet)

Microfinance Services i.e. providing loans for 
income generation activities to economically 
weaker section.

9 Total number of locations where business activity is undertaken by the Company

i. Number of International Locations (Provide details of major 5) Nil

ii. Number of National Locations Branches : 1324 
Registered Office: 1 
Head Office: 1
Regional Offices: 22

10 Markets served by the Company – Local/ State/ National/ International National

Section B: Financial Details of the Company

1 Paid-up Capital (`) 127.31 crore

2 Total Turnover (`) 1,320.7 crore

3 Total profit after taxes (I`) 303 crore

4 Total Spending on Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) as percentage of profit 
after tax (%)

Considering the fact that the Company incurred 
losses in FY13, the Company was not required to 
spend any amount towards CSR.  However, the 
Company spent ` 1.93 crore which constitute 
0.56% of PAT for FY16.

5 List of activities in which expenditure in 4 above has been incurred:- Refer Report on CSR activities forming part of 
Directors’ Report

Section C: Other Details

1 Does the Company have any Subsidiary Company/ Companies? The Company does not have any subsidiary

2 Do the Subsidiary Company/Companies participate in the BR Initiatives of the 
parent company? If yes, then indicate the number of such subsidiary company

- Not Applicable -

3 Do any other entity/entities (e.g. suppliers, distributors etc.) that the Company 
does business with, participate in the BR initiatives of the Company? If yes, then 
indicate the percentage of such entity/entities?  
[Less than 30%, 30-60%, More than 60%]

No
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Section D: BR Information

1 Details of Director/Directors responsible for BR

a) Details of the Director/Director responsible for implementation of the BR 
policy/policies

 1. DIN Number 03276291

 2. Name Mr. M. Ramachandra Rao

 3. Designation Managing Director & CEO 

b) Details of the BR head

 1.  DIN Number 03276291

 2.  Name Mr. M. Ramachandra Rao

 3. Designation Managing Director & CEO

 4. Telephone number 040-44526000

 5.  e-mail id info@sksindia.com

2. Principle-wise (as per NVGs) BR Policy/policies (Reply in Y/N) 
 
The National Voluntary Guidelines on Social, Environmental and Economic Responsibilities of Business (NVGs) released by the Ministry of 
Corporate Affairs has adopted nine areas of Business Responsibility. These briefly are as under: 

P1 Businesses should conduct and govern themselves with Ethics, Transparency and Accountability. 

P2 Businesses should provide goods and services that are safe and contribute to sustainability throughout their life cycle. 

P3 Businesses should promote the wellbeing of all employees. 

P4 Businesses should respect the interests of, and be responsive towards all stakeholders, especially those who are disadvantaged, 
vulnerable and marginalised. 

P5 Businesses should respect and promote human rights. 

P6 Business should respect, protect, and make efforts to restore the environment. 

P7 Businesses, when engaged in influencing public and regulatory policy, should do so in a responsible manner. 

P8 Businesses should support inclusive growth and equitable development. 

P9 Businesses should engage with and provide value to their customers and consumers in a responsible manner.
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S.No Questions P P P P P P P P P

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

1 Do you have a policy/policies for .... Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

2 Has the policy being formulated in consultation with the relevant stakeholders? Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

3 Does the policy conform to any national/ international standards? If yes, specify? 
(50 words)

N N N N N N N N N

The spirit and intent of the Company’s Code of Conduct, Fair Practices Code and 
other Codes/Policies are prepared in compliance with applicable laws/rules/
guidelines. In addition, they reflect the vision and mission of the Company of 
providing financial services to the economically weaker sections that create a 
commercial microfinance model that delivers high value to our customers.

4 Has the policy being approved by the Board? If yes, has it been signed by MD/ 
owner/ CEO/ appropriate Board Director?

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

5 Does the company have a specified committee of the Board/ Director/ Official to 
oversee the implementation of the policy?

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

6 Indicate the link for the policy to be viewed online? www.sksindia.com

7 Has the policy been formally communicated to all relevant internal and external 
stakeholders?

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

8 Does the company have in-house structure to implement the policy/ policies Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

9 Does the Company have a grievance redressal mechanism related to the policy/ 
policies to address stakeholders’ grievances related to the policy/policies?

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

10 Has the company carried out independent audit/evaluation of the working of this 
policy by an internal or external agency?

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

3. Governance related to BR

 y Indicate the frequency with which the Board of Directors, 
Committee of the Board or CEO to assess the BR performance 
of the Company. Within 3 months, 3-6 months, Annually, More 
than 1 year

Quarterly

 y Does the Company publish a BR or a Sustainability Report? 
What is the hyperlink for viewing this report? How frequently 
it is published?

Yes. There is no separate a BR or a sustainability Report.  However, the 
Business Plan constitutes the Company’s Sustainability Report which 
is reflected in the Quarterly / Annual Report of the Company and 
available at https://www.sksindia.com/reporting.php
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Section E: Principle-wise performance  

Principle 1 - Businesses should conduct and govern themselves with Ethics, Transparency and Accountability 

1. Does the policy relating to ethics, bribery and corruption 
cover only the company? Yes/ No. Does it extend to the 
Group/ Joint Ventures/ Suppliers/ Contractors/ NGOs / 
Others?

Yes

2. How many stakeholder complaints have been received in 
the past financial year and what percentage was satisfactorily 
resolved by the management? If so, provide details thereof, in 
about 50 words or so.

1.  Please refer note 40 (t) of financial statement for customer 
complaints redressal status.

2.  Please refer Corporate Governance  Report for investor 
complaints redressal status.

Principle 2 - Businesses should provide goods and services that are safe and contribute to sustainability throughout their 
lifecycle

1. List up to 3 of your products or services whose design has incorporated social or 
environmental concerns, risks and/or opportunities.

Microfinance Services i.e. providing loans for 
Income Generation activities to economically 
weaker section.

2. For each such product, provide the following details in respect of resource use (energy, 
water, raw material etc.) per unit of product(optional):
i.  Reduction during sourcing/ production/ distribution achieved since the previous 

year throughout the value chain?

ii. Reduction during usage by consumers (energy, water) has been achieved since 
the previous year?

Not applicable

3. Does the Company have procedures in place for sustainable sourcing (including 
transportation)?
i If yes, what percentage of your inputs was sourced sustainably? Also, provide 

details thereof, in about 50 words or so

Yes.  The Company has policy on raising 
borrowings from different sources to 
optimise mix at the lowest cost of funds.

4. Has the Company taken any steps to procure goods and services from local & small 
producers, including communities surrounding their place of work?
If yes, what steps have been taken to improve their capacity and capability of local and 
small vendors?

Yes, wherever possible.

5.  Does the company have a mechanism to recycle products and waste? If yes what is 
the percentage of recycling of products and waste (separately as <5%, 5-10%, >10%).
Also, provide details thereof, in about 50 words or so.

Yes, wherever possible

Principle 3 - Businesses should promote the well-being of all employees

1. Please indicate the Total number of employees. 11991 employees

2. Please indicate the Total number of employees hired on temporary/ contractual/ casual basis Nil

3. Please indicate the Number of permanent women employees. 323

4. Please indicate the Number of permanent employees with disabilities Nil

5. Do you have an employee association that is recognized by management? No

6. What percentage of your permanent employees is members of this recognized employee association? Not applicable

7. Please indicate the Number of complaints relating to child labour, forced labour, involuntary labour, sexual harassment in the last 
financial year and pending, as on the end of the financial year
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S. 
No.

Category No of complaints
filed during the

financial year

No of complaints
pending as on end of

the financial year
1 Child Labour/ forced labour/ involuntary labour 0 0

2 Sexual harassment 10 1

3 Discriminatory employment 0 0

8. What percentage of your under-mentioned employees were 
given safety & skill up gradation training in the last year?

 y Permanent Employees
 y Permanent Women Employees
 y Casual/Temporary/Contractual Employees
 y Employees with Disabilities

Certain selected employees of the Company at Registered Office, Head 
Office, Regional Offices and Branches have been given fire & other 
safety training and first-aid training.

Principle 4 -  Businesses should respect the interests of, and be responsive towards all stakeholders, especially those who are 
disadvantaged, vulnerable and marginalised.

1. Has the company mapped its internal and external 
stakeholders? Yes/ No

Yes

2. Out of the above, has the company identified the 
disadvantaged, vulnerable & marginalized stakeholders

Yes

3.  Are there any special initiatives taken by the company to 
engage with the disadvantaged, vulnerable and marginalized 
stakeholders. If so, provide details thereof, in about 50 words 
or so.

The Company’s is engaged in  providing financial products at the 
lowest cost to rural women belonging to weaker section of society 
to enable them to start economic activity and generate income for 
their family.

Principle 5 - Businesses should respect and promote human rights 

1. Does the policy of the company on human rights cover 
only the company or extend to the Group/Joint Ventures/ 
Suppliers/ Contractors/ NGOs/ Others?

The Company’s policy on Codes of Conduct apply to staff, borrowers 
and vendors.

2. How many stakeholder complaints have been received in  
the past financial year and what percent was satisfactorily 
resolved by the management?

1.  Please refer note 40 (t) of financial statements for customer 
complaints redressal status.

2.  Please refer Corporate Governance  Report for investor 
complaints redressal status.

Principle 6 - Business should respect, protect, and make efforts to restore the environment
1. Does the policy related to Principle 6 cover only the company or extends to the Group/ Joint Ventures/ Suppliers/ 

Contractors/ NGOs/ others.
Not applicable

2. Does the company have strategies/ initiatives to address global environmental issues such as climate change, 
global warming, etc? Y/N. If yes, please give hyperlink for webpage etc

Not applicable

3. Does the company identify and assess potential environmental risks? Y/N Not applicable

4. Does the company have any project related to Clean Development Mechanism? If so, provide details thereof, in 
about 50 words or so. Also, if Yes, whether any environmental compliance report is filed?

Not applicable

5. Has the company undertaken any other initiatives on – clean technology, energy efficiency, renewable energy, etc. 
Y/N. If yes, please give hyperlink for web page etc.

Not applicable

6. Are the Emissions/ Waste generated by the company within the permissible limits given by CPCB/ SPCB for the 
financial year being reported?

Not applicable

7. Number of show cause/ legal notices received from CPCB/ SPCB which are pending (i.e. not resolved to satisfaction) 
as on end of Financial Year.

Not applicable

Annexure - iV to Directors’ report 
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Principle 7 - Businesses, when engaged in influencing public and regulatory policy, should do so in a responsible manner

1. Is your company a member of any trade and chamber or 
association? If Yes, Name only those major ones that your 
business deals with:

The Company is member of the following associations:

1. Microfinance Institutions Network (MFIN)

2. Sa-Dhan

2.  Have you advocated/ lobbied through above associations 
for the advancement or improvement of public good? Yes/
No; if yes specify the broad areas  (drop box: Governance and 
Administration, Economic Reforms, Inclusive Development 
Policies, Energy security, Water, Food Security, Sustainable Business 
Principles, Others)

MFIN and Sa-Dhan do MFI industry advocacy and are part of policy 
making related to MFI industry.

Principle 8 - Businesses should support inclusive growth and equitable development

1. Does the company have specified programmes/ 
initiatives/ projects in pursuit of the policy related 
to Principle 8? If yes details thereof.

The Company focusses on responsible business practices with community-
centric interventions. The thrust areas are sustainable livelihood – especially skill 
development and employability training, education and health care, all of which 
constitute the Human Development Index – a quality of life indicator.

2.  Are the programmes/ projects undertaken through 
in-house team/ own foundation/ external NGO/ 
government structures/ any other organization?

The Company collaborates with Government bodies, NGOs and donor agencies 
to implement community initiatives in the thematic areas of livelihoods, health, 
education, environment and ethnicity. Through employee volunteerism it also 
utilises in-house resource persons in areas like skill development, etc. The entire 
gamut of CSR activities are implemented through the following delivery arms: 

3.  Have you done any impact assessment of your 
initiative?

Yes

4. What is your company’s direct contribution to 
community development projects- Amount in INR 
and the details of the projects undertaken.

Please refer to Report on CSR Activities for details..

5. Have you taken steps to ensure that this community 
development initiative is successfully adopted by 
the community? Please explain in 50 words, or so

Please refer to Report on CSR Activities for details.

Principle 9 - Businesses should engage with and provide value to their customers and consumers in a responsible manner

1.  What percentage of customer complaints/ 
consumer cases are pending as on the end of 
financial year.

1.  Please refer note 40 (t) of financial statements for customer complaints 
redressal status.

2.  Please refer Corporate Governance  Report for investor complaints 
redressal status.

3.  Does the company display product information 
on the product label, over and above what is 
mandated as per local laws? Yes/No/N.A. /Remarks 
(additional information)

Yes. As per Fair Practices code, the Company is required to display interest being 
charged and other practices being adopted by the Company in lending loans 
to its Borrowers.

4. Is there any case filed by any stakeholder against 
the company regarding unfair trade practices, 
irresponsible advertising and/or anti-competitive 
behaviour during the last five years and pending as 
on end of financial year. If so, provide details thereof, 
in about 50 words or so

There are no cases filed by any stakeholder in the last five years and such case is 
pending as on March 31, 2016.

5. Did your company carry out any consumer survey/ 
consumer satisfaction trends?

Yes. This is done periodically.

Annexure - iV to Directors’ report 
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Form No. MGT-9
EXTRACT OF ANNUAL RETURN

as on the financial year ended on March 31, 2016
[Pursuant to section 92(3) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rule 12(1) of the Companies (Management and Administration) Rules, 2014]

I.  REGISTRATION AND OTHER DETAILS:
i CIN L65999MH2003PLC250504

ii Registration Date September 22, 2003

iii Name of the Company Bharat Financial Inclusion Limited
(Formerly known as ‘SKS Microfinance Limited’) 

iv Category/ Sub-Category of the Company Non-Banking Finance Company – Microfinance Institution 
(NBFC-MFI)

v Address of the Registered Office and contact details Registered Office: 
Unit No. 410, Madhava, 
Bandra-Kurla Complex, Bandra East, 
Mumbai – 400 051, 
Maharashtra, India

Email: skscomplianceofficer@sksindia.com; 
Website: www.sksindia.com; 
Phone 040-44526000 
Fax No. 040-44526001 / 022-26592375.

vi Whether listed company Yes

vii Name, Address and Contact details of Registrar and Transfer 
Agent, if any

Karvy Computershare Pvt. Ltd.
Unit: Bharat Financial Inclusion Limited
(Formerly known as ‘SKS Microfinance Limited’)
Karvy Selenium Tower B, Plot 31-32, Gachibowli Financial 
District, Nanakramguda, Hyderabad - 500 032, Telangana
Email: support@karvy.com; 
Website: www.karvycomputershare.com; 
Phone 040-23312454
Fax No. 040-23311968

II.  PRINCIPAL BUSINESS ACTIVITIES OF THE COMPANY

All the business activities contributing 10 % or more of the total turnover of the Company shall be stated:-

S. No Name and Description of main 
products/ services 

NIC Code of the Product / service % to total turnover of the Company 

1. Microfinance Services 64990
Other financial service activities

88.6%

III. PARTICULARS OF HOLDING, SUBSIDIARY AND ASSOCIATE COMPANIES –

S. No NAME AND ADDRESS OF THE 
COMPANY 

CIN/GLN HOLDING/ SUBSIDIARY/ 
ASSOCIATE 

% of shares held Applicable 
Section 

 -Not Applicable -
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IV.  SHARE HOLDING PATTERN (Equity Share Capital Breakup as percentage of Total Equity)

1.  Category-wise Shareholding

Category of Shareholders No. of Shares held at the  
beginning of the year 

(April 1, 2015)

No. of Shares held at the  
end of the year

(March 31, 2016)

% 
Change 
during 

the  
year#

Demat Physical Total % of  
Total  

Shares

Demat Physical Total % of  
Total 

Shares

A. Promoters

(1) Indian

 a) Individual / HUF - - - - - - - - -

 b) Central Government - - - - - - - - -

 c) State Government(s) - - - - - - - - -

 d) Bodies Corp. - - - - - - - - -

 e) Banks/Financial Institutions - - - - - - - - -

 f ) Any Other…. 

 - Trusts - - - - - - - - -

Sub-total (A) (1):- - - - - - - - - -

(2) Foreign 

 a) NRIs - Individuals  - - - - - - - - -

 b) Other – Individuals - - - - - - - - -

 c) Bodies Corp. 9125231 - 9125231 7.23% 3377333 - 3377333 2.65% -4.58%

 d) Banks/ FI - - - - - - - - -

 e) Any Other - - - - - - - - -

FII Sub Account 2560292 - 2560292 2.03% - - - - -

Sub-total (A) (2):- 11685523 - 11685523 9.25% 3377333 - 3377333 2.65% -4.58%

B. Public Shareholding

1. Institutions 

 a) Mutual Funds 16507581 - 16507581 13.07% 15269226 - 15269226 11.99% -1.08%

 b) Venture Capital Funds - - - - - - - - -

 c) Alternate Investment Funds - - - - - - - - -

 d) Foreign Venture Capital 
  Funds 

- - - - - - - - -

 e) Foreign Portfolio Investors 59536054 - 59536054 47.14% 72155113 - 72155113 56.68% 9.54%

 f ) Financial Institutions/Banks 1702618 - 1702618 1.35% 1553807 - 1553807 1.22% -0.13%

 g) Insurance companies - - - - - - - - -

 h) Provident Funds/Pension 
  Funds

- - - - - - - - -

 i) Foreign Bodies corporate 10355100 - 10355100 8.20% 9114004 - 9114004 7.16% -1.04%

 j) Others (specify) - - - - - - - - -
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Category of Shareholders No. of Shares held at the  
beginning of the year 

(April 1, 2015)

No. of Shares held at the  
end of the year

(March 31, 2016)

% 
Change 
during 
the  
year#

Demat Physical Total % of  
Total  

Shares

Demat Physical Total % of  
Total 

Shares

Sub-total (B)(1):- 88101353 - 88101353 69.76% 98092150 - 98092150 77.05% 7.29%

2. Central Government / State 
 Government(s) / President 
 of India

- - - - - - - - -

Sub-total (B)(2):- - - - - - - - - -

3. Non-Institutions 

 a) Individuals

  i) Individual shareholders 
holding nominal share 
capital up to ` 1 lakh

7012569 113238 7125807 5.64% 8067648 225380# 8293028 6.51% 0.81%

  ii) Individual  shareholders 
holding nominal share 
capital in excess of ` 1 
lakh

3499072 417577 3916649 3.10% 3397625 120692 3518317 2.76% -0.34%

 b) NBFCs Registered with RBI - - - - 4130 - 4130 0.00 0.00

 c) Employee Trusts - - - - - - - - -

 d) Overseas Depositories 
  (Holding DRs) (Balancing 
  -figure)

- - - - - - - - -

 e) Others (specify) 

1.  Trusts - - - - 5000 - 5000 0.00 0.01%

2.  Resident Directors 10500 294166 304666 0.24% 26666 187500 214166 0.17% -0.07%

3. Non-resident Director 8080 - 8080 0.00% 74080 - 74080 0.06% 0.06%

4. Non-resident Indians 1659901 4238866 5898767 4.67% 1187973 4238866 5426839 4.26% -0.41%

5. Clearing Members 343848 - 343848 0.27% 1214725 - 1214725 0.95% 0.68%

6. Bodies Corporate 8890389 - 8890389 7.04% 7074677 - 7074677 5.56% -1.48

Sub-total (B)(3):- 31779459 3081258 36860717 29.19% 21052524 4772438 25819962 20.28% 8.91%

Total Public Shareholding 
(B) = (B)(1) + (B)(2) + (B)(3)

109525712 5081258 114606970 90.75% 119144674 4772438 123912112 97.33% 6.58%

C. Employee Benefit Trust 
(under SEBI (Share 
based Employee Benefit) 
Regulations 2014)

- 17411 17411 0.01% - 16661 16661 0.01% 0.00

Grand Total (A+B+C) 121211235 5081258 126292493 100.00% 122522007 4789099 127311106 100.00%

# Company issued equity shares under various ESOP Plans to employees during FY16.

Annexure  - V to Directors’ report
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(ii) Shareholding of Promoters

S No. Shareholder’s Name Shareholding at the beginning
of the year (April 1, 2015)

Shareholding at the end of the
Year (March 31, 2016)

% Change in
Shareholding
during the
year

No. of 
Shares

% of 
total
Shares 
of the 
Company

% of Shares 
Pledged/ 
encumbered 
to total 
shares

No. of 
Shares

% of total
Shares 
of the 
Company

%  
of Shares 
Pledged/ 
encumbered
to total 
shares

1 WestBridge Ventures II LLC 3490422 2.76% - Nil - - - - -2.76%

2 Kismet Microfinance 5634809 4.46% - Nil - 3377333 2.65% - Nil - 1.81%

3 Kumaon Investment Holdings 2560292 2.03% - Nil - - - - -2.03%

(iii) Change in Promoters’ Shareholding (please specify, if there is no change)

S No. Shareholder’s  
name

Shareholding at the 
beginning of  the year  

(As on April 1, 2015)

Date# Increase / 
Decrease

In  
shareholding

Reason Cumulative 
shareholding  

during the year  
(01.04.2015 –31.3.2016)

No. of shares % of total 
shares                  
of the 

Company

No. of 
shares

% of total 
shares                 
of the  

Company

1 WestBridge  
Ventures II LLC
(Formerly Sequoia  
Capital India II, LLC)

3490422 2.76% 21/08/2015
28/08/2015
30/10/2015

-980000
-150000

-2360422

Transfer 
Transfer 
Transfer 

0 0.00%

2 Kismet 
Microfinance

5634809 4.46% 09/10/2015
16/10/2015
23/10/2015
30/10/2015
06/11/2015
13/11/2015
20/11/2015
27/11/2015
04/12/2015

-388418
-339385

-77315
-347564
-355368
-186513
-170904

-9018
-382991

Transfer 
Transfer 
Transfer 
Transfer 
Transfer 
Transfer 
Transfer 
Transfer 
Transfer 

3377333 2.65%

3 Kumaon 
Investment 
Holdings 
[FII Sub Account 
with HSBC Bank 
(Mauritius) Limited]

2560292 2.03% 14/08/2015
21/08/2015

-1601300
-958992

Transfer 
Transfer 

0 0.00%

# Date of transfer has been considered as the date on which the beneficiary position was provided by the Depositories to the Company

Annexure  - V to Directors’ report
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(iv) Shareholding Pattern of Top Ten Shareholders (other than Directors, Promoters and Holders of GDRs and ADRs):

S No. Shareholder’s  
name

Shareholding at the  
beginning of the year 
(As on April 1, 2015)

Date# Increase/
Decrease in 

shareholding

Reason Cumulative shareholding 
during the year 

(01.04.2015 - 31.3.2016)

No. of  
shares

% of total 
shares 
of the 

Company

No. of 
shares

% of total 
shares of the 

Company

1. MORGAN STANLEY ASIA 
(SINGAPORE) PTE.

6907651 5.47 10/04/2015 -616456 Transfer 5560823 4.36

17/04/2015 -299796

24/04/2015 -50124

01/05/2015 -37771

08/05/2015 -1248604

15/05/2015 +674112

22/05/2015 -197784

29/05/2015 -33304

05/06/2015 -556311

12/06/2015 -743966

19/06/2015 -89007

26/06/2015 -54830

30/06/2015 -50500

03/07/2015 -39713

10/07/2015 -10363

17/07/2015 -28662

24/07/2015 -471

31/07/2015 +684527

07/08/2015 +67175

14/08/2015 -8154

21/08/2015 -138809

28/08/2015 +97538

04/09/2015 +202660

11/09/2015 -450175

18/09/2015 -567400

25/09/2015 +78363

09/10/2015 +225246

16/10/2015 +29

23/10/2015 +6281

30/10/2015 +630942

06/11/2015 +597825

13/11/2015 +590658

Annexure  - V to Directors’ report
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S No. Shareholder’s  
name

Shareholding at the  
beginning of the year 
(As on April 1, 2015)

Date# Increase/
Decrease in 

shareholding

Reason Cumulative shareholding 
during the year 

(01.04.2015 - 31.3.2016)

No. of  
shares

% of total 
shares 
of the 

Company

No. of 
shares

% of total 
shares of the 

Company

20/11/2015 +390445

27/11/2015 -3559

04/12/2015 -464985

11/12/2015 +327631

18/12/2015 +23817

25/12/2015 -207457

31/12/2015 +222401

01/01/2016 +72000

08/01/2016 -1374819

15/01/2016 -19355

22/01/2016 +5677

29/01/2016 -365728

05/02/2016 +332714

12/02/2016 -71293

19/02/2016 +1052639

26/02/2016 +108747

04/03/2016 -206339

11/03/2016 +1648

25/03/2016 +103491

31/03/2016 +92341

2 IDFC * 6888100 5.45 22/05/2015 +236991 Transfer 4300500 3.38

29/05/2015 +19909

09/10/2015 +207000

23/10/2015 +50000

25/12/2015 -35000

31/12/2015 -442214

01/01/2016 -62786

08/01/2016 -200000

15/01/2016 -406500

29/01/2016 -540000

05/02/2016 -100000

12/02/2016 -15000

19/02/2016 -253000

26/02/2016 -304510

Annexure  - V to Directors’ report
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S No. Shareholder’s  
name

Shareholding at the  
beginning of the year 
(As on April 1, 2015)

Date# Increase/
Decrease in 

shareholding

Reason Cumulative shareholding 
during the year 

(01.04.2015 - 31.3.2016)

No. of  
shares

% of total 
shares 
of the 

Company

No. of 
shares

% of total 
shares of the 

Company

04/03/2016 -300000

31/03/2016 -442490

3 SANDSTONE INVESTMENT 
PARTNERS I    

5838900 4.62 04/09/2015 -679398 Transfer 5159502 4.05

4 AMANSA HOLDINGS PRIVATE 
LIMITED  

5038813 3.99 01/05/2015 +346019 Transfer 5400000 4.24

15/05/2015 +87440

12/06/2015 +47934

19/06/2015 +209750

28/08/2015 +297623

04/09/2015 +43308

11/09/2015 +13883

18/09/2015 +200000

25/09/2015 -778577

12/02/2016 -106193

5 DSP BLACKROCK* 4719707 3.74 10/04/2015 -15350 Transfer 0 0.00

17/04/2015 -45665

01/05/2015 -82857

08/05/2015 -30715

15/05/2015 +129958

05/06/2015 -300000

12/06/2015 -90897

26/06/2015 -238867

24/07/2015 -342435

21/08/2015 -108760

28/08/2015 +20096

28/08/2015 -10931

04/09/2015 +106237

11/09/2015 +48593

11/09/2015 -53130

18/09/2015 -275026

23/10/2015 -1218922

06/11/2015 -40530

15/01/2016 -357012

Annexure  - V to Directors’ report
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S No. Shareholder’s  
name

Shareholding at the  
beginning of the year 
(As on April 1, 2015)

Date# Increase/
Decrease in 

shareholding

Reason Cumulative shareholding 
during the year 

(01.04.2015 - 31.3.2016)

No. of  
shares

% of total 
shares 
of the 

Company

No. of 
shares

% of total 
shares of the 

Company

22/01/2016 -838046

29/01/2016 -469104

05/02/2016 -506344

6 TREE LINE ASIA MASTER FUND 
(SINGAPORE) PTE LTD*

3850000 3.05 - - - 3850000 3.02

7 MAX LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY 
LIMITED A/C - ULIF00725*

3805453 3.01 10/04/2015 +580894 Transfer 4549968 3.57

24/04/2015 -147362

01/05/2015 +85789

05/06/2015 +215000

19/06/2015 -188000

24/07/2015 +219107

31/07/2015 +200000

31/07/2015 -95000

07/08/2015 -67478

28/08/2015 +125000

09/10/2015 -70000

23/10/2015 -249959

04/12/2015 +1000

18/12/2015 +4385

08/01/2016 +300

29/01/2016 +2000

12/02/2016 +60659

12/02/2016 -52182

26/02/2016 +60362

04/03/2016 +60000

8 ROUTE ONE FUND I, L.P.  3090267 2.45 05/06/2015 -123479 Transfer 0 0.00

03/07/2015 +13257

31/07/2015 -114925

07/08/2015 -175487

14/08/2015 -57695

21/08/2015 -501700

25/09/2015 1000817

23/10/2015 -739606

Annexure  - V to Directors’ report
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S No. Shareholder’s  
name

Shareholding at the  
beginning of the year 
(As on April 1, 2015)

Date# Increase/
Decrease in 

shareholding

Reason Cumulative shareholding 
during the year 

(01.04.2015 - 31.3.2016)

No. of  
shares

% of total 
shares 
of the 

Company

No. of 
shares

% of total 
shares of the 

Company

30/10/2015 -412567

06/11/2015 -910500

27/11/2015 -404826

04/12/2015 -334374

11/12/2015 -329182

9 KISMET SKS II         3023276 2.39 02/10/2015 -11698 Transfer 2461578 1.93

09/10/2015 -82092

16/10/2015 -87297

23/10/2015 -19036

30/10/2015 -86741

06/11/2015 -88393

13/11/2015 -46292

20/11/2015 -42808

27/11/2015 -3192

04/12/2015 -94149

10 GOVERNMENT PENSION FUND 
GLOBAL

2791664 2.21 10/04/2015 -62864 Transfer 0 0.00

17/04/2015 -38030

01/05/2015 -142244

08/05/2015 -253524

12/06/2015 -338288

10/07/2015 -330345

31/07/2015 -100000

07/08/2015 -55000

14/08/2015 -61000

21/08/2015 -150000

28/08/2015 -187759

04/09/2015 -65000

11/09/2015 -570000

18/09/2015 -437610

# Date of transfer has been considered as the date on which the beneficiary position was provided by the Depositories to the Company.

Annexure  - V to Directors’ report
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(v) Shareholding of Directors and Key Managerial Personnel:

S .
No.

Director’s /  
KMP name

Category of 
Directors/  
KMP

Shareholding at the 
beginning of the year 
(As on April 1, 2015)

Date# Increase/
Decrease In 

shareholding

Reason Cumulative shareholding 
during the year 

(01.04.2015 - 31.3.2016)

No. of 
shares

% of total 
shares 
of the 

Company

No. of 
shares

% of total 
shares of the 

Company

1 Mr. P. H. Ravikumar Independent 
Director

10500 0.00% 16.04.2015
15.06.2015
31.07.2015
02.11.2015
03.11.2015
23.12.2015
24.12.2015

+30000
+15000

+9000
-13000

-9500
-17143

-4857

Allotment
Allotment
Allotment
Transfer
Transfer
Transfer
Transfer

20000 0.01%

2 Mr. Geoffrey Tanner 
Woolley

Independent 
Director

0 0 31.07.2015
01.12.2015
31.12.2015
04.01.2016
25.02.2016

18000
33000

-18000
-32000
18000

Allotment
Allotment
Transfer
Transfer
Allotment

19000 0.01%

3 Mr. M. R. Rao Managing  
Director & CEO

294166 0.24% 31.03.2016 -100000 Transfer 194166 0.15%

4 Mr. P. 
Krishnamurthy1

Nominee  
Director (SIDBI)

Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

5 Mr. K. G. Alai Nominee  
Director (SIDBI)

Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

6 Dr. Punita Kumar-
Sinha

Independent  
Director

Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

7 Mr. Paresh D. Patel Director Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

8 Mr. Rajender 
Mohan Malla2

Independent 
Director

Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

9 Mr. S. Balachandran Independent 
Director

Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

10 Mr. Sumir Chadha Director Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

11 Dr. Tarun Khanna Independent 
Director

8080 0.00% 02.12.2015
06.01.2016
25.02.2016

33000
22000
36000

Allotment
Transfer
Allotment

55080 0.04%

12 Mr. S. Dilli Raj President 127666 0.12% 31.03.2016 62500 Transfer 65166 0.05%
13 Mr. K. V. Rao Chief Operating 

Officer
25892 0.02% 0 0 - 25892 0.02%

14 Mr. Ashish Damani Chief Financial 
Officer

17726 0.01% 16.02.2016 11250 Allotment 28976 0.02%

15 Mr. Rajendra Patil Company 
Secretary

Nil Nil 01.12.2015
17.12.2015

20420
20420

Allotment
Transfer

Nil Nil

1.  SIDBI nominated Mr. K. G. Alai as its new director in place of its existing Nominee Director i.e. Mr.  P.  Krishnamurthy in October 2015.

2.  Mr. Rajender Mohan Malla was appointed as Additional & Independent Director of the Company with effect from March 11, 2016.

3. Mr. Sumir Chadha resigned with effect from May 4, 2016

Annexure  - V to Directors’ report



69

Bharat Financial inclusion limited Annual Report 2016

Annexure  - V to Directors’ report

V.  INDEBTEDNESS

Indebtedness of the Company including interest outstanding/ accrued but not due for payment 

S. No Particulars Secured Loans 
excluding deposits

Unsecured  
Loans 

Deposits Total  
Indebtedness 

1 Indebtedness at the beginning of the financial year
i) Principal Amount
ii) Interest due but not paid
iii) Interest accrued but not due
Total (i+ii+iii)

31,841,494,892                
63,530,296             

101,846,187 
32,006,871,375

                   
956,874,510 

 -    
-    

956,874,510 

                      
                      -   
                      -   
                      -   
                      -   

       
32,798,369,402 

63,530,296  
101,846,187 

32,963,745,885 

2 Change in Indebtedness during the financial year
i)    Addition (Only principal)
ii)   Reduction (Only principal)
Net Change

62,852,874,016           
46,431,626,428            
16,421,247,588 

                   
 6,848,078,295 
 4,770,857,593 
 2,077,220,702  

                      
                      -   
                      -   
                      -     

       
69,700,952,311       
51,202,484,021 
18,498,468,290 

3 Indebtedness at the end of the financial year
i) Principal Amount
ii) Interest due but not paid
iii) Interest accrued but not due

              
48,262,742,480 

-   
368,196,935 

                
3,034,095,212 

-   
9,381,245 

               
                      -   
                    -   

-    

      
51,296,837,692 

  -   
 377,578,180 

Total (i+ii+iii) 48,630,939,415 3,043,476,457                       -   51,674,415,872 

VI.  REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL 

A. Remuneration to Managing Director, Whole-time Directors and/ or Manager:

                  (` In lakhs)

S. 
No

Particulars of Remuneration Name of Managing 
Director

Mr. M. R. Rao

1 Gross salary

(a) Salary as per provisions contained in section 17(1) of the Income-tax Act, 1961 169.93

(b) Value of perquisites u/s 17(2) Income-tax Act, 1961 10.14

(c) Profits in lieu of salary under section 17(3) Income-tax Act, 1961 -

2 Stock Options (1) -

3 Sweat Equity -

4 Commission  - as % of profit  - others, specify… -

5 Others, please specify

a) Bonus
b) Contribution to PF
c) Leave encashment

94.50
11.60

-

Total (A) 286.18

Ceiling as per the CA 2013 2159.20

Mr.  M.  R.  Rao holds 194166 equity shares allotted prior to FY16.
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B.  Remuneration to other Directors

 (` In lakhs)

A Name of the Independent 
Director

Mr. P. H. Ravikumar Mr. Geoffrey 
Tanner Woolley

Mr. S.  
Balachandran

Dr. Tarun  
Khanna

Dr. Punita 
Kumar Sinha

1 Fee for attending Board/ 
committee meetings

14.45 8.50 16.95 2.00 6.00

2 Commission 25.00 25.00 17.19 25.00 0.61
3 Others, please specify - - - - -

Total 39.45 33.50 34.14 27.00 6.61
Total (A) 140.70

B Name of Non-executive 
Director

Mr. P. 
Krishnamurthy

Mr. Paresh D. 
Patel

Mr. Sumir 
Chadha

Mr. K.G.Alai

1 Fee for attending Board/ 
committee meetings

5.50 - - 1.50

2 Commission - - - -
3 Others, please specify - - - -

Total 5.50 - - 1.50
Total (B) 7.0
TOTAL (A)+(B) 147.70
Total Managerial 
Remuneration

433.88

Overall Ceiling as per the CA 
2013

2591.04

C. REMUNERATION TO KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL OTHER THAN MD/ MANAGER/ WTD

                 (` In lakhs)

Sr.No Particulars of  Remuneration Key Managerial Personnel
Mr. S. 
Dilli Raj, 
President

Mr. K. V. Rao, Chief 
Operating Officer

Mr. Ashish 
Damani, 
Chief Financial 
Officer

Mr. Rajendra 
Patil, Company 
Secretary

Total

1. Gross salary
a) Salary as per provisions contained in section 17(1) 

of the Income-tax Act, 1961
145.11 55.00 41.65 44.86 286.62

b) Value of perquisites u/s 17(2) Income-tax Act, 1961 - 11.34 6.32 5.71 23.37
c) Profits in lieu of salary under section 17(3) Income-

tax Act, 1961
- - - - -

2. Stock Options (1) - - - - -
3. Sweat Equity  - - - - -
4. Commission - - - - -

- as % of  profit 
- others, specify 

- - - - -

5 Others, please  specify
- Bonus
- Contribution to PF
- Leave encashment

76.10
9.35
4.28

21.93
4.28
1.38

15.85
3.09

-

11.37
3.25

-

125.23
19.97

5.66
Total 234.84 93.93 66.91 65.19 460.87

VII.  PENALTIES / PUNISHMENT/ COMPOUNDING OF OFFENCES: 

There are no penalties / punishment / compounding of offences for the year ending March 31, 2016
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COMPANY’S PHILOSOPHY ON CODE OF GOVERNANCE

Bharat Financial Inclusion Limited (Formerly known as ‘SKS Microfinance Limited) (“BFIL” or “the Company”) follows the highest standards of 
governance principles, given the profile of customers that the Company works with. This approach has helped the Company weathering the 
turbulent times that the MFI sector has faced over the last five years. This approach has also demonstrated that the vulnerability to a financial 
crisis is reduced through acceptance of the Company’s approach by other stakeholders in the eco-system in which the Company operates. It 
has also ensured sustained access to capital and debt markets on a continuing basis. The Company is committed to strengthen this approach 
through adoption of ‘best in class’ philosophy, systems and processes in the realm of governance.

In India, corporate governance standards for listed companies are mandated under the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) and the regulations 
and guidelines prescribed by Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI).  Till November 30, 2015, all listed entities were required to adhere 
to the corporate governance standards prescribed in the clause 49 of the listing agreement prescribed by SEBI.  SEBI with the objective of 
bringing the basic framework governing the regime of listed entities in line with the Act and at the same time compiling all the mandates 
of varied SEBI regulations/circulars governing equity as well as debt segments of capital market under the ambit of a single document, 
has notified SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (hereinafter referred as “SEBI LODR Regulations”) on 
September 2, 2015.  The SEBI LODR Regulations came into force on the ninetieth day from their publication i.e. December 1, 2015. While many 
of the existing provisions of the listing agreement have been retained in the SEBI LODR Regulations, but it has added many new obligations 
on the listed entities and their boards/ key managerial personnel.

In addition to the above, corporate governance standards for Non-Banking Finance Companies are also prescribed by Reserve Bank of India.

The Company has always believed in implementing corporate governance guidelines and practices that go beyond meeting the letter of 
the law and has comprehensively adopted practices mandated in the Act and SEBI LODR Regulations to fulfil its responsibility towards the 
stakeholders. These guidelines ensure that the Board of Directors (“the Board”) will have the necessary authority to review and evaluate the 
operations when required. Further, these guidelines allow the Board to make decisions that are independent of the Management.

This chapter, along with the chapters on Management Discussion and Analysis and Additional Shareholders Information, reports the Company’s 
compliance with Regulation 34 and 53 of SEBI LODR Regulations.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
 
Composition and category of the Directors

As on March 31, 2016,  the Company’s Board comprised of ten (10) Directors, including six (6) Independent Directors, the Chairman of the Board 
is a Non-Executive and Independent Director. The composition of the Board is in conformity with Regulations 17 of SEBI LODR Regulations, 
which stipulates that the board should have an optimum combination of executive and non-executive directors with at least one (1) woman 
director and at least fifty per cent (50%) of the board should consist of non-executive directors.  It further stipulates that if the chairperson 
of the board is a non-executive and non-promoter Director then at least one-third of the board should comprise of independent directors.

During the year under review, the Board met five (5) times on May 4, 2015, July 22, 2015, October 19, 2015, October 30, 2015 and January 27, 
2016. The time gap between any two meetings was less than four months.

The names of the members of the Board, their status, their attendance at the Board Meetings and the last Annual General Meeting (“AGM”), 
number of other Directorships and Committee membership(s)/ chairmanship(s) of each Director are as under:
 

report on corporAte GoVernAnce 
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Sr. No Name of the 
Director

Category of Directors No. of 
meetings    

held in                
FY16

No. of 
meetings 
attended 

(including 
through 

electronic 
mode)                 

in FY16

Whether 
attended 
last AGM

No. of other 
Director-

ships held in 
other public 
companies

No. of other 
Board 

Committee
Member-

ships

No. of 
Chairman-

ships 
of other 

Board 
Committees

1. Mr. P. H.  Ravikumar Non-executive Chairman & 
Independent Director

5 5 Yes 8 5 1

2. Mr. S. Balachandran Independent Director 5 5 Yes 1 - 1

3. Mr. Geoffrey Tanner Woolley Independent Director 5 5 - - - -

4. Mr.  K. G.  Alai
(w.e.f. October 30, 2015)

Nominee Director (SIDBI) 1 1 NA - - -

5. Mr. M. Ramachandra Rao Managing Director & CEO 5 5 Yes - - -

6. Mr. P. Krishnamurthy
(Up to October 19, 2015)

Nominee Director (SIDBI) 2 2 - NA NA NA

7. Mr. Paresh D. Patel Director 5 3 - - - -

8. Dr. Punita Kumar-Sinha Independent Director 5 5 - 9 4 1

9. Mr. Rajender Mohan Malla
(w.e.f. March 11, 2016)

Additional & Independent 
Director

- - NA 3 - -

10. Mr. Sumir Chadha* Director 5 3 - 1 - -

11. Dr. Tarun Khanna Independent Director 5 2 - - - -

* Resigned w.e.f. May 4, 2016

Notes:
1. None of the Directors of the Company were members in more than ten (10) committees or acted as Chairpersons of more than five (5) committees across 

all public limited companies in which they were Directors. For the purpose of reckoning the limit, Chairmanship/ membership of the Audit Committee 
and the Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee alone have been considered;

2. None of the Directors held directorships in more than ten (10) public limited companies;

3. None of the Directors is related to any Director or is a member of an extended family;

4. None of the employees of the Company is related to any of the Directors;

5. None of the Directors has any business relationship with the Company;

6. None of the Directors has received any loans or advances from the Company during the year.

No. of Shares and convertible instruments held by the Non-Executive Directors

Details of shares or convertible instruments of the Company held by the Non-Executive Directors as on March 31, 2016 are given below:

S.No Director’s name No. of stock options No. of equity shares

1 Mr. P. H. Ravikumar 100,000 20,000

2 Mr. Geoffrey Tanner Woolley 167,000 19,000

3 Dr. Tarun Khanna 167,000 55,080

Familiarization programme 

The Board has been apprised/ familiarized about the business performance, product and processes, business model, nature of the industry 
in which the Company operates, roles and responsibilities of the Board Members under the applicable laws, etc., on a periodic basis and the 
details of such familiarization programmes are available at https://www.sksindia.com/downloads/FamilirisationProgramme.pdf

All new Directors inducted into the Board are introduced to the Company through appropriate orientation sessions. Presentations are 
made by senior management officers to provide an overview of the Company’s operations and to familiarize the new Directors with the 
operations. They are also introduced to the organization’s culture, services, constitution, Board procedures, matters reserved for the Board and 
risk management strategy.
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The Company also facilitates the continual education requirements of its Directors. Support is provided for Independent Directors, if they 
choose to attend professional educational programmes in the areas of Board/ corporate governance.

Information Supplied to the Board 

The Board has complete access to all relevant information of the Company. The quantum and quality of information supplied by the 
management to the Board goes well beyond the minimum requirement stipulated in Regulation 17 (7) of SEBI LODR Regulations. All 
information, except critical unpublished price sensitive information (which is circulated at a shorter notice than the period prescribed under 
Secretarial Standard on Meetings of the Board of Directors), is given to the Directors well in advance of the Board and the Committee meetings.

The Board works closely with the Executive Management Team to constantly review the evolving operating environment and strategies best 
suited to enhance the Company’s performance and periodically reviews compliance reports of all laws applicable to the Company as well as 
steps taken by the Company to rectify instances of non-compliance, if any.

Code of Conduct

The Board has laid down a Code of Conduct for all the Board Members and Senior Management of the Company. The Code of Conduct 
is available on the website of the Company at www.sksindia.com. All Board Members and Senior Management personnel have affirmed 
compliance with the Code of Conduct. A declaration signed by the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) to this effect is enclosed at the end of this report. 

Committees of the Board

The Board has constituted committees to delegate particular matters that require greater and more focused attention in the affairs of the 
Company. 

All decisions pertaining to the constitution of committees, appointment of members and fixing of terms of reference for committee members 
is taken by the Board. Details on the role and composition of these committees, including the number of meetings held during the financial 
year and the related attendance, are provided below:

(a) Audit Committee

 Till May 4, 2016, the Audit Committee was comprised of three (3) members including two (2) Independent Directors:

 1.  Mr.  P.  H.  Ravikumar (Chairman);

 2. Mr.  S.  Balachandran; and

 3.  Mr.  K.  G.  Alai.

 The Audit Committee oversees the financial reporting process and reviews, with the Management, the financial statements to ensure 
that the same are correct and credible. The Audit Committee has the ultimate authority and responsibility to select and evaluate the 
Independent Auditors in accordance with the law. The Audit Committee also reviews performance of the Statutory Auditors, the Internal 
Auditors, adequacy of the internal control system and Whistle-blower mechanism.

 During the year under review, the Audit Committee met five (5) times on May 4, 2015, July 22, 2015, October 19, 2015, October 30, 
2015 and January 27, 2016. The time gap between any two meetings was less than four months. The details of attendance at the Audit 
Committee meetings are given below:

 Attendance record of the Audit Committee

Name of the Member Position Status No. of 
Meetings held

No. of Meetings 
Attended

Mr.  P. H. Ravikumar Independent Director Chairman 5 5

Mr.  S.  Balachandran Independent Director Member 5 5

Mr.  K. G.  Alai (w.e.f. October 30, 2015) Nominee Director - SIDBI Member 1 1

Mr.  P.  Krishnamurthy (Upto October 19, 2015) Nominee Director - SIDBI Member 2 2
 

report on corporAte GoVernAnce (Contd.)
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The President and the Chief Financial Officer, who are responsible for the finance function, the Head of Internal Audit and the representative 
of the Statutory Auditors are invited to attend meetings of the Audit Committee. Mr. Rajendra Patil, Company Secretary & Compliance 
Officer, is the Secretary to the Audit Committee.

 All members of the Audit Committee have accounting and financial management expertise. Mr. P. H. Ravikumar, Chairman of the Audit 
Committee, was present at the Company’s Twelfth AGM held on September 23, 2015 to answer queries of the shareholders.

(b) Asset Liability Management Committee 

 Till May 4, 2016, the Asset Liability Management Committee (“ALM Committee”) was comprised of three (3) members:

 1.  Mr. S. Balachandran (Chairman);

 2.  Mr. M. R. Rao; and

 3. Mr. P. H. Ravikumar 

 The functions of the ALM Committee include addressing concerns regarding asset liability mismatches, interest rate risk exposure, and 
achieving optimal return on capital employed while maintaining acceptable levels of risk including and relating to liquidity, market and 
operational aspects and adhering to the relevant policies and regulations.

 During the year under review, the ALM Committee met three (3) times on May 4, 2015, November 24, 2015 and February 13, 2016. The 
details of attendance at the ALM Committee meetings are given below:

 Attendance record of the ALM Committee

Name of the Member Position Status No. of 
Meetings held

No. of Meetings 
Attended

Mr. S. Balachandran (w.e.f. November 24, 2015) Independent Director Chairman 2 2

Mr. M. R. Rao Managing Director & CEO Member 3 2

Mr. Paresh D. Patel (Up to May 4, 2015) Director Member 1 0

Mr. P. H. Ravikumar Independent Director Member 3 3
Mr. P. Krishnamurthy (Up to October 19, 2015) Nominee Director – SIDBI Member 1 1

(c) Corporate Social Responsibility Committee

 Till May 4, 2016, the Corporate Social Responsibility Committee (“CSR Committee”) was comprised of four (4) members including two (2) 
Independent Directors:

 1.  Mr.  Geoffrey Tanner Woolley (Chairman);

 2.  Mr.  M.  R.  Rao; 

 3.  Dr.  Punita Kumar-Sinha; and

  4.  Dr.  Tarun Khanna

 The functions of the CSR Committee include formulation and monitoring of CSR Policy, recommending CSR Projects and budgets 
thereof, review of CSR initiatives undertaken/ to be undertaken by the Company and to do such other things as directed by the Board 
and in compliance with the applicable laws.

 During the year under review, the CSR Committee met three (3) times on May 4, 2015, July 22, 2015 and October 30, 2015. The details of 
attendance at the CSR Committee meetings are given below:

report on corporAte GoVernAnce (Contd.)
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 Attendance record of the CSR Committee

Name of the Member Position Status No. of 
Meetings held

No. of Meetings 
Attended

Mr. Geoffrey Tanner Woolley Independent Director Chairman 3 3

Mr. S. Balachandran (Up to May 4, 2015) Independent Director Member 1 1

Mr. M. R. Rao Managing Director & CEO Member 3 3

Mr. P. Krishnamurthy (Up to October 19, 2015) Nominee Director Member 2 2

Dr. Punita Kumar-Sinha (w.e.f. July 22, 2015) Independent Director Member 2 2
Dr. Tarun Khanna (w.e.f. July 22, 2015) Independent Director Member 2 1

(d) Nomination and Remuneration Committee  

 Till May 4, 2016, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee (“NRC Committee”) was comprised of six (6) members including four (4) 
Independent Directors:

 1.  Mr.  S.  Balachandran (Chairman);

  2.  Mr.  Geoffrey Tanner Woolley;

  3.  Mr.  Paresh D. Patel; 

  4.  Dr.  Punita Kumar-Sinha

  5.  Mr.  Sumir Chadha

  6.  Dr.  Tarun Khanna 
 
 During the year under review, the NRC Committee met four (4) times on May 4, 2015, July 22, 2015, October 30, 2015 and February12, 2016. 

The details of attendance at the NRC Committee meetings are given below:

 Attendance record of the NRC Committee

Name of the Member Position Status No. of 
Meetings held

No. of Meetings 
Attended

Mr. S. Balachandran Independent Director Chairman 4 4

Mr. Geoffrey Tanner Woolley Independent Director Member 4 4

Mr. Paresh D. Patel Director Member 4 1

Mr. P. H. Ravikumar (up to May 4, 2015) Independent Director Member 1 1

Dr. Punita Kumar-Sinha (w.e.f. July 22, 2015) Independent Director Member 3 3

Mr. Sumir Chadha* Director Member 4 1
Dr. Tarun Khanna Independent Director Member 4 1

 * Resigned w.e.f. May 4, 2016

Performance evaluation of Board Members

The Act and SEBI LODR Regulations stipulates the performance evaluation of the Directors including Chairperson, Board and its Committees. 
Considering the said provisions, the Company has devised a process and criteria for the performance evaluation which has been recommended 
by the NRC Committee and approved by the Board.

The evaluations for the Directors and the Board were done through separate structured questionnaires, one each for Independent and Non-
Executive Directors, Managing Director & CEO, Board and the Committees of the Board.

report on corporAte GoVernAnce (Contd.)
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A separate exercise was carried out to evaluate the performance of all Directors including the Chairman of the Board, who were evaluated 
on parameters such as level of engagement and contribution; knowledge, skill and understanding of the areas which are relevant to them 
in their capacity as members of the Board; independence of judgement; safeguarding the interest of the Company, etc. The performance of 
the Managing Director & CEO was evaluated on additional parameters such as strategy formulation and execution; financial performance; 
leadership; knowledge of the product, etc. The performance evaluation of each Independent Director was carried out by the entire Board, 
excluding the Independent Director concerned. The performance evaluation of the Non-Executive Directors was carried out by the 
Independent Directors.

Remuneration Policy

The NRC Committee determines and recommends to the Board the compensation payable to the Directors. The NRC Committee reckons 
the performance of the team, the manner in which the sector is performing and the prevailing and emerging levels of compensation while 
submitting to the Board their views. All Board-level compensation is approved by the shareholders and disclosed separately in the financial 
statements.

Remuneration for the Managing Director and CEO and other senior executives consists of a fixed component and a variable component. The 
NRC Committee conducts an annual appraisal of the performance of the Managing Director and CEO and other senior executives based on 
a performance-related matrix. The annual compensation of the senior executives is approved by the NRC Committee. It also recommends the 
annual compensation of the Managing Director and CEO, which is approved by the Board.

The Managing Director and CEO of the Company is entitled to an annual variable pay each fiscal year, which is subject to the achievement of 
certain fiscal year milestones by the Company, as determined by the Board.

The compensation payable to the Independent Directors is as decided by the Board, the sum of which does not exceed 1% of the net profits 
for the year, calculated as per the provisions of the Act. The performance of the Independent Directors is reviewed by the Board on an annual 
basis.

Remuneration paid to all Directors for FY16

(` In lakhs)

Name of the Director Sitting Fees Salary and 
Perquisites

Contribution to 
Provident and 

Other Funds

Performance 
linked 

incentive

Commis-
sion & 

Others#

Total

Mr. P.H. Ravikumar 14.45 - - - 25.00 39.45

Mr. S. Balachandran 16.95 - - - 17.19 34.14

Mr. Geoffrey Tanner Woolley 8.50 - - - 25.00 33.50

Mr. K.G. Alai
(w.e.f. October 30, 2015)

1.50 - - - - 1.50

Mr. M. Ramachandra Rao - 180.07 11.60 94.50 - 286.18

Mr. P. Krishnamurthy
(Up to October 11, 2016)

5.50 - - - - 5.50

Dr. Punita Kumar-Sinha 6.00 - - - 0.62 6.62

Mr. Rajender Mohan Malla
(w.e.f. March 11, 2016)

- - - - - -

Dr. Tarun Khanna 2.00 - - - 25.00 27.00

# The commission to Independent Directors for the FY15 was paid during FY16.  Further, the commission was paid to Independent Directors based on the tenure 

of their association with the Company for FY15. 

During FY16, the Company has not advanced loans to any of its Directors. 
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e) Risk Management Committee

 The Company follows well-established and detailed risk assessment and minimization procedures. The Company especially focuses 
on improving its sensitivity to the assessment of risks and improving methods of computation of risk weights. The risk assessment and 
mitigation procedures are reviewed by the Board periodically. The Company’s risk management framework is discussed in detail in the 
chapter on Management Discussion and Analysis.

 Till May 4, 2016, the Risk Management Committee (“RM Committee”) was comprised of three (3) members including two (2) Independent 
Directors:

 1.  Mr.  P.  H.  Ravikumar (Chairman);

 2.  Mr.  S. Balachandran; and

 3.  Mr.  M. R. Rao.

 The functions of the RM Committee include monitoring and reviewing risk management plan, operational risk, information technology 
risk, integrity risk, etc., and taking strategic actions in mitigating risk associated with the business.

 During the year under review, the RM Committee met three (3) times on July 22, 2015, December 3, 2015 and February 13, 2016. The 
details of attendance at the RM Committee meetings are given below:

 Attendance record of the RM Committee

Name of the Member Position Status No. of Meetings held No. of Meetings 
Attended

Mr.  P.  H.  Ravikumar Independent Director Chairman 3 3

Mr.  S.  Balachandran Independent Director Member 3 3

Mr.  M. R. Rao
(w.e.f. December 3, 2015)

Managing Director & CEO Member 2 1

Mr. P. Krishnamurthy (Upto October 19, 
2015)

Nominee Director Member 1 1

 

(f ) Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee

 Till May 4, 2016, the Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee (“SR Committee”) was comprised of three (3) members, who are all Independent 
Directors:

 1.  Mr.  P.  H.  Ravikumar (Chairman);

 2.  Mr.  S.  Balachandran; and

 3.  Mr.  Geoffrey Tanner Woolley

 The functions and powers of the SR Committee include review and resolution of grievances of shareholders, debenture holders and 
other security holders; dealing with all aspects relating to the issue and allotment of shares, debentures and other securities; approve 
sub-division, consolidation, transfer and issue of duplicate share/ debenture certificate.

 During the year under review, the SR Committee met twice (2) on May 4, 2015 and October 30, 2015. Details of attendance at SR  
Committee  meetings are given below:
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 Attendance record of the SR Committee

Name of the Member Position Status No. of Meetings held No. of Meetings 
Attended

Mr.  P. H. Ravikumar Independent Director Chairman 2 2

Mr. S. Balachandran
(w.e.f. October 30, 2015)

Independent Director Member 1 1

Mr.  Geoffrey Tanner Woolley Independent Director Member 2 2

Mr.  P. Krishnamurthy
(Upto October 19, 2015)

Independent Director Member 1 1

 Mr. Rajendra Patil, Company Secretary & Compliance Officer, is the Secretary to the SR Committee.

 Nature of complaints received and attended to during FY16

 Details of queries and grievances received and attended to by the Company during FY16 are given below: 

Nature of Complaint Pending as on 
April 1, 2015

Received during 
2015-16

Resolved 
during 2015-16

Pending as on
March 31, 2016

1.  Transfer / Transmission / Duplicate 0 2 2 0

2.  Non-receipt of Dividend Nil Nil Nil Nil

3.  Dematerialization / Rematerialization of shares Nil Nil Nil Nil

4.  Complaints received from:

- Securities and Exchange Board of India Nil Nil Nil Nil

- Stock Exchanges Nil Nil Nil Nil

- Registrar of Companies/ Ministry of Corporate 
   Affairs

Nil Nil Nil Nil

-  Company & Registrar Nil 71 71 Nil

5.  Legal Nil Nil Nil Nil

 The Board, at its meeting held on May 4, 2016, revised composition of some of the committees and the details of the said committees are 
given in Annexure.

 Terms of reference of the aforesaid committees are available on the website of the Company: www.sksindia.com

 In addition to the aforesaid Committees, the Board has constituted two (2) non-mandatory Committees to oversee specific operational 
activities, namely the ESOP Allotment Committee and the Finance Committee.

GENERAL BODY MEETINGS

Details of location and time, where last three AGMs held are given below:

Financial Year Category Location of 
the meeting

Date Time

2014-15 AGM Y. B. Chavan Auditorium, General Jagannath 
Bhosle Marg, Mumbai - 400 021, Maharashtra

23.09.2015 11.00 a.m.

2013-14 AGM - do - 29.09.2014 11.00 a.m.

2012-13 AGM - do - 03.12.2013 11.00 a.m. 
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The following Special Resolutions were taken up in the last three AGMs, and were passed with the requisite majority:

FY15:  Special Resolutions passed at the Twelfth AGM
 1.  Revision in the commission payable to the Independent Directors of the Company; and
 2.  Issue and allotment of Non-Convertible Debentures and other debt securities on private placement basis. 

FY14:  Special Resolutions passed at the Eleventh AGM
 1.  Revision in the commission payable to the Independent Directors of the Company;
  2.  Adoption of new Articles of Association of the Company containing regulations in conformity with the Act.

FY13:  Special Resolutions passed at the Tenth AGM
  1.  Re-appointment of Mr. M. R. Rao as the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company; and
  2. Payment of Commission to Independent Directors.

There was no special resolution passed during FY16 through Postal Ballot.

A postal ballot is proposed to be conducted vide postal ballot notice dated June 14,  2016 for passing of the special resolutions for the 
following: 

1. Enhancement of the Borrowing Limits.

2. Creation of charge on the Company’s movable and immovable properties to secure borrowings.

3. Issue and allotment of Non-convertible Debenture and other debt securities on private placement basis.

Means of Communication with Shareholders

All important information relating to the Company and its performance, including financial results and shareholding pattern, are posted on 
the website of the Company: www.sksindia.com. The website also displays all official press releases and presentation to analysts made by the 
Company.

The quarterly, half yearly and annual results of the Company’s performance are published in leading newspapers like The Financial Express 
(English) and Loksatta (Marathi).

General Shareholder Information

(i) Annual General Meeting
 Date: July 21, 2016
  Time: 2.30 p.m.
 Venue: Rangaswar Auditorium, Y.  B.  Chavan Centre, General Jagannath Bhosle Marg, Mumbai - 400 021, Maharashtra

(ii) Financial Calendar
  Financial year: April 1 to March 31

  For the year ended March 31, 2016, results were announced on:

 y July 22, 2015: First quarter

 y October 19, 2015 : Second quarter and Half yearly

 y January 27, 2016 : Third quarter

 y May 4, 2016: Fourth quarter and Annual
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  For the year ending March 31, 2017, results will be announced

 y On or before August 14, 2016: First quarter

 y On or before November 14, 2016: Second quarter and Half yearly

 y On or before February 14, 2017: Third quarter

 y On or before May 30, 2017: Fourth quarter and Annual

(iii) Dates of Book Closure
  The dates of book closure are from July 18, 2016 to July 21, 2016 inclusive of both days.

(iv) Name and address of each Stock Exchange(s) at which the Company’s securities are listed and a confirmation about  
payment of annual listing fee to each of such stock exchange(s) At present, the equity shares of the Company are listed on:

 1.  BSE Limited (BSE) 

  Phiroze Jeejeebhoy Towers 

  Dalal Street, Mumbai – 400 00, Maharashtra

 2.  National Stock Exchange of India Limited (NSE). 

  Exchange Plaza, Bandra-Kurla Complex

  Bandra (East), Mumbai – 400 050 

The annual listing fees for FY16 to BSE and NSE has been paid.

(v). Stock Exchange codes

Name of the Stock Exchange Stock Code

The National Stock Exchange of India Limited, Mumbai SKSMICRO

BSE Limited, Mumbai 533228

 

(vi). Market Price Data & Performance in comparison to broad-based indices.

 High, lows and volumes of the Company’s shares for FY16 at BSE and NSE

Month BSE NSE

High Low Volume High Low Volume

April 2015 525.00 420.20 5192198 524.95 420.30 30652743

May 2015 496.75 421.20 4727517 497.15 421.00 31872749

June 2015 474.90 415.05 3345168 474.90 414.90 20659991

July 2015 589.50 462.10 4206704 589.60 464.70 34348533

Aug 2015 588.00 425.40 6954907 588.15 425.10 28228226

Sept 2015 477.00 369.45 8768184 477.00 360.60 58813563

Oct 2015 472.30 398.00 8685915 474.00 398.10 51507499

Nov 2015 460.75 419.75 2984310 461.60 419.90 28283500

Dec 2015 497.50 434.85 2120079 505.00 434.95 24572474

Jan 2016 545.95 435.00 4262455 546.25 435.50 42149643

Feb 2016 577.50 458.90 4513094 577.70 457.70 40673405

March 2016 549.90 488.20 2613267 543.25 486.00 25600367

 Note: High and low are in ` per traded share 

 Volumes is the total monthly volume of trade in number of Company’s shares.
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Performance on BSE versus BSE Sensex
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Note: Company’s share prices at the BSE and the BSE Sensex have been indexed to 100 as on the first working day of FY16

Share Performance on NSE versus Nifty
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Note: Company’s share prices at NSE and the NSE S&P Nifty have been indexed to 10 as on the first working day of FY16
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(vii). Registrar & Share Transfer Agents

 The Company has appointed Karvy Computershare Private Limited (Karvy) as its Registrar and Transfer Agent. All share transfers and 
related operations are conducted by Karvy, which is registered with the SEBI.

 Karvy Computershare Private Limited
 (Unit : Bharat Financial Inclusion Limited (Formerly known as ‘SKS Microfinance Limited’)
 Karvy Selenium Tower B, Plot 31-32,
 Gachibowli Financial District, Nanakramguda,
 Hyderabad 500 032.
 Email: einward.ris@karvy.com
 Phone No: 040-67162222
 Fax No: 040-23001153

(viii).  Share Transfer System

 The Company has constituted a Stakeholders Relationship Committee for redressing shareholder and investor complaints.

(ix). Distribution of shareholding as on March 31, 2016

Category  
(Amount)

No. of  
Members

% of Members Total Shares Amount % of 
Shareholding

1-5000 49737 93.52 3533801 35338010 2.78

5001- 10000 1542 2.90 1187360 11873600 0.93

10001- 20000 783 1.47 1176108 11761080 0.92

20001- 30000 273 0.51 700887 7008870 0.55

30001- 40000 133 0.25 481162 4811620 0.38

40001- 50000 84 0.16 391692 3916920 0.31

50001- 100000 201 0.38 1511250 15112500 1.19

100001 & Above 430 0.81 118328846 1183288460 92.94

TOTAL 53183 100.00  127311106 12723111060 100.00 

(x). Dematerialization of Shares and liquidity

 As at March 31, 2016, over 96.24% shares of the Company were held in dematerialized form.

(xi). Outstanding GDRs/ ADRs/ Warrants/ or any Convertible instruments, conversion date and likely impact on equity

 Nil

(xii). Branch Offices

 The Company had 1324 branches as on March 31, 2016 across India.

(xiii). Commodity price risk or foreign exchange risk and hedging activites.

 Nil
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(xiv). Address for correspondence

 Shareholders/ Investors may write to the Company Secretary at the following address

 The Company Secretary
 Bharat Financial Inclusion Limited
 (formerly known as “SKS Microfinance Limited”)
 Registered Office Address:
 Unit No. 410, ‘Madhava’, Bandra-Kurla Complex
 Bandra (East), Mumbai – 400 051.
 Email: skscomplianceofficer@sksindia.com
 Phone No: 040-4452 6000
 Fax No: 040-4452 6001/ 022-2659 2375

 In addition to the aforesaid, Debentureholders may write to the Debenture Trustee at the following address:
 IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited
 Asian Building, Ground Floor,
 17, R. Kamani Marg, Ballard Estate,
 Mumbai 400 001
 Email: itsl@idbitrustee.co.in
 Phone No: +91 22 4080 7000
 Fax No: +91 22 6631 1776
 Investor Grievance Email: response@idbitrustee.com
  
OTHER DISCLOSURES

Materially significant related party transactions 
No materially significant related party transactions that may have potential conflict with the interests of the Company at large were reported 
during FY16.

Details of non-compliance by the Company

The Company has complied with all the requirements of regulatory authorities. No penalties/ strictures were imposed on the  Company by the 
stock exchanges or the SEBI or any statutory authority on any matter relating to the capital market during the last three years.

Whistle-blower mechanism
The Company has adopted the Whistle-blower Policy pursuant to which employees of the Company can raise their concerns relating to 
malpractices, inappropriate use of funds or any other activity or event which is against the interest of the Company.  Further, the mechanism 
adopted by the Company encourages the employees to report genuine concerns or grievances, and  provides for adequate safeguards against 
victimization of employees who avail of such a mechanism and also provides for direct access to the Chairperson of the Audit Committee, in 
exceptional cases.

Code of Conduct for prevention of insider trading
In compliance with the SEBI (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015 on prevention of insider trading, the Company has adopted a 
revised Code of Conduct for prevention of Insider Trading to regulate, monitor and report trading; and preserve  confidentiality of unpublished 
price sensitive information to prevent misuse of such information by its employees and other connected persons. The Code of Conduct lays 
down guidelines which advise them on procedures to be followed and disclosures to be made while dealing with shares of the Company, and 
cautioning them of the consequences of violations.

Details of compliance with mandatory requirements

The Company is fully compliant with the applicable mandatory requirements of Regulation 34 of SEBI LODR Regulations.
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Adoption of non-mandatory requirements

Although it is not mandatory, the Board has appointed separate persons for the post of Chairman of the Board [Non-Executive (Independent) 
Director] and Managing Director and CEO; and the Internal Auditor reports directly to the Audit Committee.

Weblink where policy on dealing with related party transactions

The policy on Related Party Transactions, as approved by the Board, is displayed on the website of the Company at http://www. sksindia.com/
downloads/SKS-Related%20Party%20Transaction%20Policy-Version%201-October%2029%202014.pdf.

Compliance certificate regarding compliance of conditions of corporate governance 

As required by Schedule V (E) to SEBI LODR Regulations, the Compliance certificate regarding compliance of conditions of corporate governance 
is annexed to this report.

Disclosures of the compliance with corporate governance requirements specified in regulation 17 to 27 and Regulation 46 (2) 
(b) to (i) of SEBI LODR Regulations 

Particulars Regulation Number Compliance status 
(Yes/ No/ NA)

Board composition 17(1) Yes
Meeting of Board of directors 17(2) Yes
Review of Compliance Reports 17(3) Yes
Plans for orderly succession for appointments 17(4) Yes
Code of Conduct 17(5) Yes
Fees/compensation 17(6) Yes
Minimum Information 17(7) Yes
Compliance Certificate 17(8) Yes
Risk Assessment & Management 17(9) Yes
Performance Evaluation of Independent Directors 17(10) Yes
Composition of Audit Committee 18(1) Yes
Meeting of Audit Committee 18(2) Yes
Composition of Nomination & Remuneration Committee 19(1) & (2) Yes
Composition of Stakeholders Relationship Committee 20(1) & (2) Yes
Composition and role of Risk Management Committee 21(1),(2),(3),(4) Yes
Vigil Mechanism 22 Yes
Policy for related party Transactions 23(1),(5),(6),(7) & (8) Yes
Prior or Omnibus approval of Audit Committee for all related party  transactions 23(2), (3) NA
Approval for material related party transactions 23(4) NA
Composition of Board of Directors of unlisted material Subsidiary 24(1) NA
Other Corporate Governance requirements with respect to subsidiary of listed entity 24(2),(3),(4),(5) &  (6) NA
Maximum Directorship & Tenure 25(1) & (2) Yes
Meeting of independent directors 25(3) & (4) Yes
Familiarization of independent directors 25(7) Yes
Memberships in Committees 26(1) Yes
Affirmation with compliance to code of conduct from members of Board of  
Directors and Senior management personnel 

26(3) Yes

Disclosure of Shareholding by Non-Executive Directors 26(4) Yes
Policy with respect to Obligations of directors and senior management 26(2) & 26(5) Yes
Other corporate governance requirements 27 Yes
Website 46 (b) to (i) Yes

CEO CERTIFICATION ON CODE OF CONDUCT

I, M. Ramachandra Rao, Managing Director and CEO of the Company, hereby certify that all the Board Members and Senior Managerial Personnel 
(Core Management Team) have affirmed compliance with the Code of Conduct of the Company laid down by the Board of Directors, for the 
year ended March 31, 2016.

Sd/-
M. R. Rao

Managing Director and CEO
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Annexure

 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CERTIFICATE

Under Regulation 34(3) read with Schedule V(E) of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015

To
The Members
SKS Microfinance Limited

We have examined all the relevant records of SKS Microfinance Limited (the Company) for the purpose of certifying the compliance of the 
conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated under Clause 49 of the erstwhile listing agreements entered with BSE Limited and National 
Stock Exchange of India Limited for the period commencing from April 01, 2015 till November 30,2015 and under Regulation 17 to 27 and 
Clauses (b) to (i) of sub-regulation (2) of Regulation 46 of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015 for the period commencing from December 01, 2015 and ended on March 31, 2016. We have obtained all the 
information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purpose of certification. 

The compliance of the conditions of Corporate Governance is the responsibility of the Management. Our examination was limited to 
the procedures and implementation thereof, adopted by the Company for ensuring the compliance of the conditions of the Corporate 
Governance. It is neither an audit nor an expression of opinion on the financial statements of the Company. 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, we certify that the Company has complied 
with the conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated under Clause 49 of the erstwhile listing agreement entered with BSE Limited and 
National Stock Exchange of India Limited for the period commencing from April 01, 2015 till November 30, 2015 and under Regulation 17 to 
27 and Clauses (b) to (i) of sub-regulation (2) of regulation 46 of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015 for the period commencing from December 01, 2015 and ended on March 31, 2016. 

This Certificate is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor of the efficacy or effectiveness with which the Management 
has conducted the affairs of the Company. 

For BS & Company Company Secretaries LLP

Sd/-
Place:  Hyderabad        (Soumya Dafthardar) 
Date:  April 26, 2016                                                     Designated Partner 

C. P No. 13199
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Revised composition of Committees of the Board w.e.f. May 4, 2016

Forum Revised Composition 

Chairman Members

Audit Committee Mr. P.H. Ravikumar Mr. S. Balachandran 
Mr. K. G. Alai
Mr. Rajender Mohan Malla

Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee Mr. P. H. Ravikumar Mr. S. Balachandran
Mr. Geoffrey  Woolley
Mr. Rajender Mohan Malla 

Risk Management Committee Mr. P. H. Ravikumar Mr. S. Balachandran
Mr. M. R. Rao
Mr. Rajender Mohan Malla

Nomination & Remuneration Committee Mr. S. Balachandran Mr. Paresh Patel
Mr. Geoffrey Woolley
Dr. Tarun Khanna 
Dr. Punita Kumar-Sinha

Asset Liability Management Committee Mr. S. Balachandran Mr. P.H. Ravikumar
Mr. M. R. Rao
Mr. Rajender Mohan Malla
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inDepenDent AuDitors’ report 

To the Members of SKS Microfinance Limited

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of ‘SKS Microfinance Limited’ (“the Company”), which comprise the Balance Sheet as 
at March 31, 2016, the Statement of Profit and Loss and Cash Flow Statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in Section 134(5) of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) with respect to 
the preparation of these financial statements that give a true and fair view of the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the 
Company in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the Accounting Standards specified under section 
133 of the Act, read with Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014. This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting 
records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds 
and other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable 
and prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial control that were operating effectively for 
ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the financial statements 
that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We have taken into account the provisions of the 
Act, the accounting and auditing standards and matters which are required to be included in the audit report under the provisions of the Act 
and the Rules made thereunder. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing, issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India, as specified under Section 143(10) of the Act. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal financial control relevant to the 
Company’s preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of the accounting 
estimates made by the Company’s Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the financial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the financial statements give the information 
required by the Act in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted 
in India of the state of affairs of the Company as at March 31, 2016, its profit, and its cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1.  As required by the Companies (Auditor’s report) Order, 2016 (“the Order”) issued by the Central Government of India in terms of sub-
section (11) of section 143 of the Act, we give in the Annexure 1, a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order.

2.  As required by section 143 (3) of the Act, we report that: 

 (a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary 
for the purpose of our audit;

 (b)  In our opinion proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far as it appears from our examination 
of those books;

 (c)  The Balance Sheet, Statement of Profit and Loss, and Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the 
books of account;
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 (d)  In our opinion, the aforesaid financial statements comply with the Accounting Standards specified under section 133 of the Act, 
read with Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014; 

 (e)  On the basis of written representations received from the directors as on March 31, 2016, and taken on record by the Board of 
Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on March 31, 2016, from being appointed as a director in terms of section 164 (2) 
of the Act;

 (f )  With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls over financial reporting of the Company and the operating 
effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in Annexure 2 to this report;

 (g)  With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and 
Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us:

  i. The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations on its financial position in its financial statements – Refer Note 
38 to the financial statements.

  ii. The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which there were any material 
foreseeable losses. 

  iii. There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and Protection Fund by the Company.

For S.R. BATLIBOI & CO. LLP
ICAI Firm’s Registration Number: 301003E/E300005
Chartered Accountants

sd/-
per Viren H. Mehta
Partner
Membership Number: 048749

Hyderabad
May 4, 2016

Annexure referred to in paragraph 1 under the heading “Report on other legal and regulatory requirements” of our report of 
even date

Re: SKS Microfinance Limited

(i) (a) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including quantitative details and situation of fixed assets.

 (b) Fixed assets have been physically verified by the management during the year and no material discrepancies were identified on 
such verification.

 (c) According to the information and explanations given by the management, there are no immovable properties included in fixed 
assets of the Company and accordingly the requirements under clasue 3(i)(c) of the Order are not applicable to the Company

(ii)  The Company’s business does not involve inventories and, accordingly, the requirements under clasue 3(ii) of the Order are not applicable 
to the Company and hence not commented upon.

(iii)  According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has not granted any loans, secured or unsecured to companies, 
firms, Limited Liability Partnerships or other parties covered in the register maintained under section 189 of the Act. Accordingly, the 
provisions of clause 3 (iii)(a), (b) and (c) of the Order are not applicable to the Company and hence not commented upon.

(iv)  In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, there are no loans, investments, guarantees, and securities 
granted in respect of which provisions of section 185 and 186 of the Act are applicable and hence not commented upon.

(v) The Company has not accepted any deposits from the public.

(vi)  To the best of our knowledge and as explained, the Central Government has not specified the maintenance of cost records under 
section 148(1) of the Act, for the products/services of the Company.

(vii) (a) The Company is generally regular in depositing with appropriate authorities undisputed statutory dues including provident fund, 
employees’ state insurance, income-tax, sales-tax, service tax, customs duty, excise duty, value added tax, cess and other material 
statutory dues applicable to it. 
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  According to the information and explanations given to us, no undisputed amounts payable in respect of provident fund, 
employees’ state insurance, income-tax, service tax, sales-tax, duty of custom, duty of excise, value added tax, cess and other material 
statutory dues were outstanding, at the year end, for a period of more than six months from the date they became payable.

 (b) According to the records of the Company, the dues outstanding of income-tax, sales-tax, service tax, duty of custom, duty of excise, 
value added tax and cess on account of any dispute, are as follows:

Name of the Statute Nature of  
dues

Amount under 
dispute (`)

Amount  
paid (`)

Period to  
which its relates

Forum where dispute is 
pending

Income tax Act, 1961 Income tax 77,927,037 53,837,948 Assessment Years  
2010-11 and 2012-13 

The Commissioner of Income  
Tax (Appeals)

Chapter V of the 
Finance Act, 1994

Service Tax 654,845,273* 44,574,205** Financial years 
2006-07 to 2013-14

Customs Excise & Service Tax 
Appellate Tribunal (‘CESTAT’)

   * Excluding interest and penalty, as applicable.

   **The Company has paid this amount under protest

(viii) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given by the management, the Company has not defaulted in  
repayment of dues to a financial institution, bank, debenture holders or government.

(ix)  According to the information and explanations given by the management, the Company has not raised any money by way of initial 
public offer or further public offer, hence not commented upon.

  Further, monies raised by the Company by way of term loans were applied for the purpose for which those were raised, though idle/
surplus funds which were not required for immediate utilization were gainfully invested in liquid assets payable on demand.

(x)  Based upon the audit procedures performed for the purpose of reporting the true and fair view of the financial statements and according 
to the information and explanations given by the management, we report that no material fraud by the Company or on the Company 
by the officers and employees of the Company has been noticed or reported during the year.

(xi)  According to the information and explanations given by the management, the managerial remuneration has been paid and provided in 
accordance with the requisite approvals mandated by the provisions of section 197, read with Schedule V to the Act.

(xii)  In our opinion, the Company is not a nidhi company. Therefore, the provisions of clause 3(xii) of the Order are not applicable to the 
Company and hence not commented upon.

(xiii)  According to the information and explanations given by the management, transactions with the related parties are in compliance with 
section 177 and 188 of the Act where applicable and the details have been disclosed in the notes to the financial statements, as required 
by the applicable accounting standards.

(xiv)  According to the information and explanations given to us and on an overall examination of the balance sheet, the Company has not 
made any preferential allotment or private placement of shares or fully or partly convertible debentures during the year and hence, 
reporting requirements under clause 3(xiv) are not applicable to the Company and, not commented upon. 

(xv)   According to the information and explanations given by the management, the Company has not entered into any non-cash transactions 
with directors or persons connected with him.

(xvi)  According to the information and explanations given to us, we report that the Company has registered as required, under section 45-IA 
of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934.

For S.R. BATLIBOI & CO. LLP
ICAI Firm’s Registration Number: 301003E/E300005
Chartered Accountants

sd/-
per Viren H. Mehta
Partner
Membership Number: 048749

Hyderabad
May 4, 2016

inDepenDent AuDitors’ report 
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Annexure referred to in paragraph 2 (f) under the heading “Report on other legal and regulatory requirements” of our report 
of even date

Report on Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Act
To the Members of SKS Microfinance Limited 
We have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporting of SKS Microfinance Limited (“the Company”) as of March 31, 2016 in 
conjunction with our audit of the standalone financial statements of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls
The Company’s Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls based on the internal control over 
financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated  in the Guidance Note 
on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants  of India. These responsibilities 
include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were  operating effectively for ensuring the 
orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to the Company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention 
and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records,  and the timely preparation of reliable financial 
information, as required under the Act. 

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls over financial reporting based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance 
Note”) and the Standards on Auditing as specified under section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial 
controls, both applicable to an audit of Internal Financial Controls and, both issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. Those 
Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls over financial reporting was established and maintained and if such controls 
operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial controls system over financial 
reporting and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding 
of internal financial controls over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design 
and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the internal 
financial controls system over financial reporting.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting 
A company’s internal financial control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. A company’s internal financial control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the 
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; 
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with 
authorisations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection 
of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting
Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper 
management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of the internal financial controls over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial control 
over financial reporting may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or 
procedures may deteriorate. 

Opinion
In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls system over financial reporting and such 
internal financial controls over financial reporting were operating effectively as at March 31, 2016, based on the internal control over financial 
reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit 
of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

For S.R. BATLIBOI & CO. LLP
ICAI Firm’s Registration Number: 301003E/E300005
Chartered Accountants

sd/-
per Viren H. Mehta
Partner
Membership Number: 048749

Hyderabad
May 4, 2016

inDepenDent  AuDitors’ report 
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BAlAnce sheet
AS At MARCh 31, 2016

As per our report of even date 
 
For S. R. BATLIBOI & CO. LLP    For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of          
ICAI Firm registration number : 301003E/E300005 SKS Microfinance Limited
Chartered Accountants   

sd/-  sd/- sd/-  
per Viren H. Mehta  P. H. Ravikumar M. R. Rao   
Partner  Non-Executive Chairman Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
Membership No.048749
   sd/- sd/-
  S. Dilli Raj Ashish Damani
  President Chief Financial Officer
 
  sd/-
  Rajendra Patil   
  Company Secretary 
Date: May 4, 2016
Place :  Hyderabad  Place:  Hyderabad 

(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

 
Notes

As at 31st 
March, 2016  

As at 31st 
March,  2015

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS 
  Share Capital 3  1,273,111,060  1,262,924,930 
  Reserves and Surplus 4  12,556,839,779  9,201,633,570 

  13,829,950,839  10,464,558,500 

Share application money pending allotment 5  24,546  64,800 
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
 Long Term Borrowings 6  22,687,374,496  10,572,211,910 
 Long-Term Provisions 7  208,926,876  127,184,909 

  22,896,301,372   10,699,396,819 
CURRENT LIABILITIES
 Short -Term Borrowings 8  6,443,173,705  6,096,276,475 
 Other Current Liabilities 9  27,607,034,440  19,271,887,706 
 Short-Term Provisions 7  760,527,095  455,073,842 

 34,810,735,240  25,823,238,023 
TOTAL  71,537,011,997  46,987,258,142 

ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
 Fixed Assets
  Tangible Assets 10  114,164,875  51,505,818 
     Intangible assets 11  36,147,887  38,019,928 

   Intangible assets under development  14,215,576  12,447,576 
 Non-Current Investments 12  2,000,000  2,000,000 
 Deferred Tax Assets 13  -    -   
 Long-Term Loans and Advances 14  4,135,391,693  2,448,460,510 
 Other Non-Current Assets 15  1,792,671,537  1,252,264,079 

 6,094,591,568   3,804,697,911  
CURRENT ASSETS
 Trade Receivables 16  63,682,166  34,169,498 
 Cash And Bank Balances 17  17,662,827,632  15,367,730,515 
 Short Term Loans and Advances 14  46,080,225,445  27,135,519,718 
 Other Current Assets 15  1,635,685,186  645,140,500 

 65,442,420,429   43,182,560,231  
TOTAL  71,537,011,997   46,987,258,142   
Summary of significant accounting policies 2.1
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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As per our report of even date 
 
For S. R. BATLIBOI & CO. LLP    For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of          
ICAI Firm registration number : 301003E/E300005 SKS Microfinance Limited
Chartered Accountants   

sd/-  sd/- sd/-  
per Viren H. Mehta  P. H. Ravikumar M. R. Rao   
Partner  Non-Executive Chairman Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
Membership No.048749
   sd/- sd/-
  S. Dilli Raj Ashish Damani
  President Chief Financial Officer
 
  sd/-
  Rajendra Patil   
  Company Secretary 
Date : May 4, 2016
Place :  Hyderabad  Place:  Hyderabad 

stAteMent oF proFit AnD loss
FoR the YeAR ended MARCh 31, 2016

(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

 Notes  31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15

Income 

 Revenue from Operations 18  11,691,340,741  7,239,568,175 

 Other Income 19  1,515,387,250  791,088,168 

Total revenue (I)  13,206,727,991   8,030,656,343  

Expenses

 Employee Benefits Expenses 20  2,923,691,210  2,318,537,910 

 Finance Costs  21  4,845,734,781  2,790,451,852 

Other expenses 22  1,028,320,971  839,933,356 

 Depreciation and Amortization Expense 23  83,643,995  45,612,324 

  Provisions and write-offs 24  386,414,751  100,456,998 

Total expenses (II)  9,267,805,708  6,094,992,440 

Profit before tax (III)=(I)-(II)  3,938,922,283  1,935,663,903 

Tax expenses

Current tax (MAT)  909,107,324  59,416,387 

Excess provision of tax relating to earlier years (net) -  (395,920)

Total tax expense (IV)  909,107,324  59,020,467 

Profit after tax (III)-(IV)  3,029,814,959  1,876,643,436 

Earnings per equity share  
[Nominal value of share ` 10 (March 31, 2015: `10)]

25

Basic (Computed on the basis of total profit for the year)  23.90  15.22 

Diluted (Computed on the basis of total profit for the year)  23.58  15.04 

Summary of significant accounting policies

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements                                2.1



93

Bharat Financial inclusion limited Annual Report 2016

cAsh FloW stAteMent  
FoR the YeAR ended MARCh 31, 2016 

(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

 31-Mar-16  31-Mar-15

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Profit before tax  3,938,922,283  1,935,663,903 

Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows:

Interest on shortfall in payment of advance income tax  -    6,078,501 

Depreciation and amortization  83,643,995  45,612,324 

Provision for employee benefits  66,929,670  38,271,997 

(Profit) / loss on sale of fixed assets  (770,575)  (495,322)

Stock option expenditure  110,277,578  106,334,775 

Contingent provision against standard assets  193,565,814  120,947,422 

Provision for non-performing assets  11,779,202  (1,779,602,571)

Portfolio loans and other balances written off  63,790,855  1,756,038,528 

Provision and loss on securitized / managed portfolio  117,278,880  3,073,619 

Other provisions and write offs  46,610,003  31,987,634 

Operating profit before working capital changes  4,632,027,705   2,263,910,810  

Movements in working capital :

Increase / (decrease) in other current liabilities  2,296,379,913  318,995,725 

Decrease / (increase) in trade receivables  (29,512,668)  (8,441,113)

Decrease / (increase) in loans and advances  (20,722,045,769)  (13,842,075,260)

Decrease / (increase) in other current assets  (990,544,686)  (66,006,058)

Decrease / (increase) in other non-current assets  (7,594,852)  (18,047,435)

Decrease / (increase) in Margin money deposit (net)  (599,304,704)  346,150,233 

Cash generated from / (used in) operations  (15,420,595,061)  (11,005,513,098)

Direct taxes paid (net of refunds)  (927,191,189)  (111,955,405)

Net cash flow from / (used in) operating activities (A)  (16,347,786,250)  (11,117,468,503)
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cAsh FloW stAteMent  
FoR the YeAR ended MARCh 31, 2016 

 31-Mar-16  31-Mar- 15

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of fixed assets, including capital work in progress and capital advances  (148,670,507)  (47,715,256)

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets  1,333,938  1,629,929 

Net cash flow from / (used in) investing activities (B)  (147,336,569)  (46,085,327)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from issuance of equity share capital (including share application money)  225,259,548  4,047,790,428 

Share issue expenses  -    (147,473,658)

Long-term borrowings (net) (including non-convertible debentures)  18,151,571,060  14,712,974,343 

Short-term borrowings (net) (including commercial paper)  346,897,230  2,772,771,723 

Net cash flow from / (used in) financing activities (C)  18,723,727,838  21,386,062,836 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A + B + C)  2,228,605,019  10,222,509,006 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  14,374,638,127  4,152,129,121 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (refer note 17)  16,603,243,146  14,374,638,127 

Summary of significant accounting policies                                                          2.1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements

(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated) 

As per our report of even date 
 
For S. R. BATLIBOI & CO. LLP    For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of          
ICAI Firm registration number : 301003E/E300005 SKS Microfinance Limited
Chartered Accountants   

sd/-  sd/- sd/-  
per Viren H. Mehta  P. H. Ravikumar M. R. Rao   
Partner  Non-Executive Chairman Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
Membership No.048749
   sd/- sd/-
  S. Dilli Raj Ashish Damani
  President Chief Financial Officer
 
  sd/-
  Rajendra Patil   
  Company Secretary 
Date : May 4, 2016
Place :  Hyderabad  Place:  Hyderabad 
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notes to FinAnciAl stAteMents  
FoR the YeAR ended MARCh 31, 2016  

1. Corporate information

 SKS Microfinance Limited (‘the Company’) is a public company domiciled in India and incorporated under the provision of the  Companies 
Act, 1956. The Company was registered as a non-deposit accepting Non-Banking Financial Company (‘NBFC-ND’) with the Reserve Bank 
of India (‘RBI’) and has got classified as a Non-Banking Financial Company – Micro Finance Institution (‘NBFC-MFI’) with effect from 
November 18, 2013. Its shares are listed on two stock exchanges in India.

 The Company is engaged primarily in providing micro finance services to women in the rural areas of India who are enrolled as members 
and organized as Joint Liability Groups (‘JLG’). The Company has its operation spread across 18 states.

 In addition to the core business of providing micro-credit, the Company uses its distribution channel to provide other financialproducts 
and services to the members. Programs in this regard primarily relate to providing of loans to the members for the purchase of certain 
productivity-enhancing products such as mobile handsets, solar lamps, bicycle, sewing machines etc. 

2. Basis of preparation

 The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in India 
(Indian GAAP). The Company has prepared these financial statements to comply in all material respects with the  Accounting Standards 
notified  under section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 (‘the Act’), read together with rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 and 
the provisions of the RBI as applicable to a NBFC-MFI and Systemically Important NBFC-ND. The financial statements have been prepared 
on an accrual basis and under the historical cost convention except as detailed in note 2.1 (b).

 The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of financial statements are consistent with those of previous year.

2.1. Summary of significant accounting policies

 a. Use of estimates

  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Indian GAAP requires the management to make judgments, estimates  
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent  
liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. Although these estimates are based on the management’s best knowledge of  
current events and actions, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in the outcomes requiring a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets or liabilities in future periods.

 b. Revenue recognition

  Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue can 
be reliably measured.

  i. Interest income on loans given is recognised under the internal rate of return method. Income or any other charges on 
non-performing asset is recognised only when realised and any such income recognised before the asset became non-
performing and remaining unrealised is reversed.

  ii. Interest income on deposits with banks is recognised on a time proportion accrual basis taking into account the amount 
outstanding and the interest rate applicable.

  iii. Loan processing fees are amortised over the tenure of the loan on straight-line basis.

  iv. Profit / premium arising at the time of securitization / assignment of loan portfolio is amortised over the life of the  underlying 
loan portfolio / securities and any loss arising therefrom is accounted for immediately. Income from interest strip(excess 
interest spread) is recognized in the statement of profit and loss account net of any losses when redeemed in cash. Interest 
retained under assignment of loan receivables is recognized on realization basis over the life of the underlying loan portfolio.   

 

  v. All other income is recognised on an accrual basis.
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 c. Tangible fixed assets

  All tangible assets are stated at cost net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. The cost comprises 
purchase price and directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to its working condition for the intended use. 

 d. Intangible assets   

  Computer software costs are capitalised and amortised using the written down value method at a rate of 40% per annum.
  
 e. Depreciation

  Depreciation on tangible fixed assets is provided on the written down value method using the rates arrived at based on useful life 
of the assets prescribed under Schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013 which is also as per the useful life of the assets estimated by 
the management

 f. Impairment   

  The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication  exists, 
or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Company estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s net selling price and its value in use. The recoverable amount is determined  for an 
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets  or groups 
of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written 
down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset. In determining net selling price, recent market transactions are taken into account, if available. If no such transactions can be 
identified, an appropriate valuation model is used.

  After impairment, depreciation is provided on the revised carrying amount of the asset over its remaining useful life.

 g. Leases (where the Company is the lessee)   

  Finance leases, which effectively transfer to the Company substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the 
leased item, are capitalised at the lower of the fair value of the leased property and present value of the minimum  lease payments 
at the inception of the lease term and disclosed as leased assets. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges 
and reduction of the lease liability based on the implicit rate of return. Finance charges are recognised as finance costs in the 
statement of profit and loss. Lease management fees, legal charges and other initial direct costs are capitalised. A leased asset is 
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable certainty that the company 
will obtain the ownership by the end of the lease term, the capitalized asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter 
of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term. 

  Leases where the lessor effectively retains, substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the leased item, are classified as 
operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the statement of profit and loss on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term.

 h. Investments 

  Investments which are  readily realisable and intended to be held for not more than one year from the date on which such  
investments are made, are classified as current investments. All other investments are classified as long-term investments. Current 
investments are carried in the financial statement at lower of cost and fair value determined on an individual investment basis. 
Long-term investments are carried at cost. However, provision for diminution in value is made to recognise a decline other than 
temporary in the value of the investments. On disposal of an investment, the difference between the carrying amount and net 
disposal proceeds are charged or credited to the statement of profit and loss.

notes to FinAnciAl stAteMents  
FoR the YeAR ended MARCh 31, 2016 (Contd.)  
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 i.  Borrowing costs

  Borrowing cost includes interest and other costs incurred in connection with the arrangement of borrowings. All borrowing  costs 
are expensed in the period they occur.

 j. Foreign currency transactions   

  i.  All transactions in foreign currency are recognised at the exchange rate prevailing on the date of the transaction. 

  ii.  Foreign currency monetary items are reported using the exchange rate prevailing at the close of the financial year.

  iii. Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on the restatement of Company’s monetary items  at 
rates different from those at which they were initially recorded during the year, or reported in previous financial statements, 
are  recognised as income or as expenses in the year in which they arise.

 k. Retirement and other employee benefits   

  i.  Retirement benefit in the form of provident fund is a defined contribution scheme. The Company has no obligation,  other 
than the contribution payable to the provident fund. The Company recognizes contribution payable to the provident fund  
scheme as an expenditure, when an employee renders the related service.

  ii.  Gratuity liability is a defined benefit obligation and is provided for on the basis of an actuarial valuation on projected unit  
credit method made at the end of each financial year. Actuarial gains and losses for defined benefit plans are recognized in 
full in the period in which they occur in the statement of profit and loss.

  iii.  The Company treats accumulated leave expected to be carried forward beyond twelve months, as long-term employee  
benefit for measurement purposes. Such long-term compensated absences are provided for based on the actuarial valuation 
using the projected unit credit method at the year-end. Actuarial gains/losses are immediately taken to the statement of 
profit and loss and are not deferred. The Company presents the leave as a current liability in the balance sheet, to the extent 
it does not have an unconditional right to defer its settlement for 12 months after the reporting date.

  iv. Accumulated leave, which is expected to be utilised within the next 12 months, is treated as short-term employee benefit. 
The Company measures the expected cost of such absences as the additional amount that it expects to pay as a result of  the 
unused entitlement that has accumulated at the reporting date.

  v.  The Company recognizes termination benefit as a liability and an expense when the Company has a present obligation as a 
result of past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

 l. Income taxes

  i.  Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current income tax is measured at the amount expected to be paid to the  
tax authorities in accordance with the Income Tax Act, 1961, enacted in India. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute  
the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted, at the reporting date. Current income tax relating to items  
recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the statement of profit and loss.

  ii. Deferred income taxes reflect the impact of timing differences between taxable income and accounting income originating 
during the current year and reversal of timing differences for the earlier years. Deferred tax is measured using the tax rates and 
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred income tax relating to items recognised directly 
in equity is recognised in equity and not in the statement of profit and loss.

  iii. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable timing differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible 
timing differences only to the extent that there is reasonable certainty that sufficient future taxable income will be available 
against which such deferred tax assets can be realised. In situations where the Company has unabsorbed depreciation 
or carry forward tax losses, all deferred tax assets are recognised only if there is virtual certainty supported by convincing 
evidence that they can be realised against future taxable profits.

notes to FinAnciAl stAteMents  
FoR the YeAR ended MARCh 31, 2016 (Contd.)  
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  iv.  The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date. The Company writes-down the carrying  
amount of deferred tax asset to the extent that it is no longer reasonably certain or virtually certain, as the case may be, that  
sufficient future taxable income will be available against which deferred tax asset can be realised. Any such write-down is 
reversed to the extent that it becomes reasonably certain or virtually certain, as the case may be, that sufficient future taxable 
income will be available. 

  v.  Minimum alternate tax (MAT) paid in a year is charged to the statement of profit and loss as current tax. The Company   
recognizes MAT credit available as an asset only to the extent that there is convincing evidence that the Company will 
pay  normal income tax during the specified period, i.e., the period for which MAT credit is allowed to be carried forward. In 
the year  in which the Company recognizes MAT credit as an asset in accordance with the Guidance Note on Accounting 
for  Credit Available in respect of Minimum Alternative Tax under the Income-tax Act, 1961, the said asset is created by way 
of credit  to the statement of profit and loss and shown as “MAT Credit Entitlement.” The Company reviews the MAT Credit 
Entitlement  asset at each reporting date and writes down the asset to the extent the Company does not have convincing 
evidence that it will pay normal tax during the specified period.

 
 m. Earnings per share

  Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit or loss for the year attributable to equity shareholders by the 
weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year. Partly paid equity shares are treated as fraction of an equity 
share to the extent that they were entitled to participate in dividends related to a fully paid equity share during the  reporting year. 

  For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net profit or loss for the year attributable to equity shareholders and 
the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential equity 
shares.

 n. Provisions

  A provision is recognised when the Company has a present obligation as a result of past event, it is probable that an outflow 
of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. Provisions are not discounted to their present value and are determined based on the best estimate 
required to settle the obligation at the reporting date. These estimates are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect 
the current best estimates.

 o. Contingent liabilities

  A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or 
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond the control of the Company or a present obligation that is not 
recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation. A contingent liability 
also arises in extremely rare cases where there is a liability that cannot be recognised because it cannot be measured reliably. The  
Company does not recognise a contingent liability but discloses its existence in the financial statements.

 p. Cash and cash equivalents

  Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of cash flow statement comprise cash in hand and cash at bank and short-term 
investments with an original maturity of three months or less.

 q. Share based payments

  In case of stock option plan, measurement and disclosure of the employee share-based payment plans is done in accordance with 
Securities and Exchange Board of India (Share Based Employee Benefits) Regulations, 2014 and the Guidance Note on Accounting for 
Employee Share-based Payments, issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. The Company measures compensation 
cost relating to employee stock options using the fair value method. Compensation expense is  amortised over the vesting period 
of the option on the straight line basis.

notes to FinAnciAl stAteMents  
FoR the YeAR ended MARCh 31, 2016 (Contd.)  
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 r. Classification of loan portfolio

  i. Portfolio loans are classified as follows

Asset classification Arrear period

Standard assets Overdue for less than 8 weeks

Non-performing assets

Sub-standard assets Overdue for more than 8 weeks and upto 25 weeks

Loss assets Overdue for more than 25 weeks

   “Overdue” refers to interest and / or installment remaining unpaid from the day it became receivable.

   The above classification is in compliance with Non-Banking Financial Company – Micro Finance Institutions (NBFC-MFIs) 
Directions, dated December 02, 2011, as amended from time to time (‘the NBFC-MFI Directions’).

  ii. Loans and advances other than portfolio loans are classified as standard, sub-standard, doubtful and loss assets in accordance 
with the Systemically Important Non – Banking financial (Non-Deposit Accepting or Holding) Companies Prudential Norms  
(Reserve Bank) Directions, 2015 issued vide Notification No. DNBR. 009/ CGM (CDS) -2015 dated March 27, 2015 (‘the NBFC-
ND-SI Prudential Norms’).

 s. Provisioning policy for Loan portfolio

  i. Provisioning policy for loan portfolio:

Asset Classification Arrear period Provisioning percentage

Standard assets Overdue for less than 8 weeks Refer note 1 and 2

Sub-standard assets Overdue for more than 8 weeks and upto 25 weeks 50%

Loss assets Overdue for more than 25 weeks Written off

   Note 1: The above mentioned provision for standard assets is linked to the Portfolio at Risk (PAR) as shown below:

Portfolio at Risk Provisioning percentage (% of Standard Assets)

0 – 1% 0.30%

Above 1% to 1.5% 0.50%

Above 1.5% to 2% 0.75%

Above 2% 1.00%

   Provision on standard assets has been made in line with the NBFC-ND-SI Prudential Norms.

   Note 2: The overall provision for portfolio loans determined as per the above mentioned provisioning policy is subject to the 
provision prescribed in the NBFC-MFI Directions. These Directions require the total provision for portfolio loans to be higher 
of (a) 1% of the  outstanding loan portfolio or (b) 50% of the aggregate loan installments which are overdue for more than 90 
days and less than  180 days and 100% of the aggregate loan installments which are overdue for 180 days or more. 

   Such additional provision created in order to comply with the NBFC-MFI Directions is classified and disclosed in the Balance  
Sheet alongwith the contingent provision for standard assets.

  ii. Loans and advances other than portfolio loans are provided for at the higher of management estimates and provision 
required as per the NBFC-ND-SI Prudential Norms.

  iii. Provision on securitized / managed portfolio is made as per the Company’s provisioning policy for portfolio loans  mentioned 
in (i) above net of losses, if any and subject to the maximum guarantee given in respect of these arrangements.

  iv. All overdue loans, where the tenure of the loan is completed and in the opinion of the management any amount is not 
recoverable, are written off.

notes to FinAnciAl stAteMents  
FoR the YeAR ended MARCh 31, 2016 (Contd.)  
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(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

3.  Share capital 31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15

Authorized shares 

142,000,000 (March 31, 2015: 142,000,000) equity shares of  `10/- each  1,420,000,000  1,420,000,000 

13,000,000 (March 31, 2015: 13,000,000) preference shares of `10/- each  130,000,000  130,000,000 

Issued, subscribed and fully paid-up shares 

127,311,106 (March 31, 2015: 126,292,493) equity shares of `10/- each fully paid up  1,273,111,060  1,262,924,930 

Total issued, subscribed and fully paid-up share capital  1,273,111,060  1,262,924,930 

(a)  Reconciliation of the shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the reporting year

 Equity shares

31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15

No. of Shares ` No. of Shares `

At the beginning of the year  126,292,493  1,262,924,930  108,212,962 1,082,129,620

Issued during the year – Stock options  1,018,613  10,186,130  408,997 4,089,970

Issued during the year - Qualified Institutional 
Placement

- -  17,670,534  176,705,340 

Outstanding at the end of the year  127,311,106  1,273,111,060  126,292,493  1,262,924,930 

(b)  Terms/ rights attached to equity shares 

The Company has only one class of equity shares having par value of `10 per share. Each holder of equity shares is entitled to  one vote 
per share. Any dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is subject to the approval of the shareholders in the ensuing Annual General 
Meeting. Dividend declared and paid would be in Indian rupees.    

In the event of liquidation of the Company, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive remaining assets of the Company, after 
distribution of all preferential amounts. The distribution will be in proportion to the number of equity shares held  by the shareholders. 
   

(c)  Aggregate number of shares issued for consideration other than cash during the period of five years immediately  
preceding the reporting date:

The Company has issued 2,719,961 shares (March 31, 2015: 2,871,772) during the period of five years immediately preceding the 
reporting date on exercise of options granted under stock option plans wherein part consideration was received in the form of services 
rendered to the Company.    

(d)  Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the Company

No shareholder hold more than 5% shares in the Company as at March 31, 2016

notes to FinAnciAl stAteMents  
FoR the YeAR ended MARCh 31, 2016 (Contd.)  
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(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

Equity shares of `10 each fully paid As at March 31, 2015

No. of Shares % holding in  
the class

Morgan Stanley Asia (Singapore) PTE  6,907,651 5.47%

IDFC Premier Equity Fund  6,488,100 5.14%

As per the records of the Company, including its register of shareholders / members and other declarations received from shareholders 
regarding beneficial interest, the above shareholding represents both legal and beneficial ownerships of shares. 

(e)  For details of shares reserved for issue under the employee stock option (ESOP) plan of the Company, refer note 30. 

(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

4. Reserves and surplus 31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15

Securities premium account

Balance as per the last financial statements  19,093,074,377  15,325,687,947 

Add: Additions on Qualified institutional Placements -  3,799,164,810

Add: additions on stock option exercised (cash premium)  215,113,672  67,765,508 

Add: transferred from stock options outstanding (non-cash premium)  110,166,191  47,929,770 

Less: share issue expenses -  (147,473,658)

Closing Balance  19,418,354,240  19,093,074,377 

Employee stock options outstanding

Balance as per the last financial statements  251,472,842  196,926,761 

Add / (Less): compensation options granted/modified/lapsed/forfeited during the year  110,277,578  106,334,776 

Less: amount transferred towards options expired unexercised  (4,273,477)  (3,858,925)

Less: transferred to securities premium on exercise of stock options  (110,166,191)  (47,929,770)

Closing Balance  247,310,752  251,472,842 

Statutory reserve

Balance as per the last financial statements  1,288,270,608  912,941,921 

Add: amount transferred from surplus balance in the statement of profit and loss  605,962,992  375,328,687 

Closing Balance  1,894,233,600  1,288,270,608 

Surplus/ (deficit) in the statement of profit and loss

Balance as per last financial statements  (11,431,184,257)  (12,925,549,691)

Less: Adjustment of carrying amount of the tangible assets in accordance with schedule II 
of the Companies Act, 2013  -    (10,808,240)

Add: amount transferred towards options expired unexercised  4,273,477  3,858,925 

Add: Profit/ (Loss) for the year  3,029,814,959  1,876,643,436 

Less: transferred to Statutory Reserve [@ 20% of profit after tax as required by section 45-IC 
of Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934]  (605,962,992)  (375,328,687)

Net surplus/ (deficit) in the statement of profit and loss  (9,003,058,813)  (11,431,184,257)

Total reserves and surplus  12,556,839,779  9,201,633,570 
  

notes to FinAnciAl stAteMents  
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(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

5. Share application money pending allotment 31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15

Share application money pending allotment on exercise of options  24,546  64,800 

 24,546  64,800 

(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

 
6.  Long-term borrowings 

Non-current portion Current maturities

31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15

Debentures (Refer note below)

1,000 (March 31, 2015 : 1,000), Series 1, 11.48% 
Secured, Redeemable,  Non-Convertible 
Debentures of ` 1,000,000 each redeemable at 
par on March 30, 2018  1,000,000,000  1,000,000,000  -    -   

1,000 (March 31, 2015 : 1,000), Series 2, 11.48% 
Secured, Redeemable,  Non-Convertible 
Debentures of ` 1,000,000 each redeemable at 
par on March 30, 2018  1,000,000,000  1,000,000,000  -    -   

1,000 (March 31, 2015 : Nil), Series 3, 11.95% 
Secured, Redeemable,  Non-Convertible 
Debentures of ` 1,000,000 each redeemable at 
par on May 15, 2018  1,000,000,000  -    -    -   

1,000 (March 31, 2015 : Nil), Series 4, 11.95% 
Secured, Redeemable,  Non-Convertible 
Debentures of ` 1,000,000 each redeemable at 
par on May 15, 2018  1,000,000,000  -    -    -   

Term loans

Indian rupee loan from banks (secured)  15,883,564,972  7,545,516,963  20,504,557,886  15,174,029,568 

Indian rupee loan from financial institutions 
(secured)  2,223,809,525  1,025,541,126  1,301,731,605  950,649,346 

Indian rupee loan from non banking financial 
companies (secured)  579,999,999  1,153,821  360,000,000  5,202,103 

 22,687,374,496  10,572,211,910 22,166,289,491  16,129,881,017 

The above amount includes

Secured borrowings  22,687,374,496  10,572,211,910  22,166,289,491  16,129,881,017 

Amount disclosed under the head “other  
current liabilities” (note 9)  -    -    (22,166,289,491)  (16,129,881,017)

Net amount  22,687,374,496  10,572,211,910  -    -   

Notes:    

 1. The Series 1 non-convertible debentures have Put Option, which if exercised, shall be redeemed on March 30, 2017 or September 30, 2017.

 2.  The Series 2 non-convertible debentures have Put Option, which if exercised, shall be redeemed on April 30, 2017 or October 30,  2017.

 3 The Series 3 non-convertible debentures have Put Option, which if exercised, shall be redeemed on May 15, 2017. 

 4 The Series 4 non-convertible debentures have Put Option, which if exercised, shall be redeemed on August 15, 2017. 

 5.  Interest on the Series 1 & Series 2 non-convertible debentures at the fixed rate of approx.11.48% per annum compounded on a monthly basis 

equating to effective interest rate of 12.10% per annum payable on an annual basis.

notes to FinAnciAl stAteMents  
FoR the YeAR ended MARCh 31, 2016 (Contd.)  
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(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

Nature of security 31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15

a) Loans secured by hypothecation (exclusive charge) of portfolio loans  15,521,602,720  9,236,752,745 

b) Loans secured by hypothecation (exclusive charge) of portfolio loans and margin 
money deposits

 29,332,061,267  17,465,340,182 

Total outstanding  44,853,663,987  26,702,092,927 

6.  Long-term borrowings (Contd.)

Terms of repayment of long term borrowings (term loans and non convertible debenture) as on March 31, 2016

Original 
maturity 
of loan 

Interest  
rate 

Due within
1 year

Due between 
1 to 2 Years

Due between
 2 to 3 Years

Due between  
3 to 4 Years

 
 

 Total  No. of 
install-
ments 

Amount  
(in `) 

 No. of 
install-
ments 

Amount  
(in `) 

 No. of 
install-
ments 

Amount  
(in `) 

 No. of 
install-
ments 

Amount  
(in `) 

Monthly repayment schedule           

1-3 Yrs

9.01%-
9.50%

 9  107,142,858  12  142,857,142  -    -    -    -    250,000,000 
 8  200,000,000  12  300,000,000  500,000,000 

9.51%-
10.00%

 9  428,571,423  12  571,428,577  -    -    -    -    1,000,000,000 
 11  523,809,517  10  476,190,483  -    -    -    -    1,000,000,000 

 9  428,571,423  12  571,428,577  -    -    -    -    1,000,000,000 
 12  360,000,000  12  360,000,000  7  220,000,000  -    -    940,000,000 

10.51%-
11.00%

 11  80,208,333  12  87,500,000  1  7,291,667  -    -    175,000,000 
 12  500,000,004  10  416,666,662  -    -    -    -    916,666,666 
 12  249,999,996  11  229,166,671  -    -    -    -    479,166,667 
 12  249,999,996  12  250,000,004  -    -    -    -    500,000,000 
 12  571,428,564  7  333,333,342  -    -    -    -    904,761,906 
 10  666,666,670  12  800,000,004  8  533,333,344  -    -    2,000,000,018 

11.01%-
11.50%

 12  333,333,333  6  166,666,667  -    -    -    -    500,000,000 
 2  285,714,286  -    -    -    -    -    -    285,714,286 

 12  90,000,000  7  52,500,000  -    -    -    -    142,500,000 
 12 1,000,000,000  6  500,000,000  -    -    -    -    1,500,000,000 

 6  288,000,000  -    -    -    -    -    -    288,000,000 
 12 1,565,217,391  5  652,173,913  -    -    -    -    2,217,391,304 
 12 1,043,478,261  9  782,608,696  -    -    -    -    1,826,086,957 

11.51%-
12.00%

 6  83,333,333  -    -    -    -    -    -    83,333,333 
 6  83,333,333  -    -    -    -    -    -    83,333,333 

 10  972,222,222  -    -    -    -    -    -    972,222,222 
 12  625,000,000  6  312,500,000  -    -    -    -    937,500,000 
 12  375,000,000  7  218,750,000  -    -    -    -    593,750,000 
 12  75,000,000  1  6,250,000  -    -    -    -    81,250,000 
 12  136,363,636  -    -    -    -    -    -    136,363,636 

12.51%-
13.00%

 12  171,428,571  11  157,142,857  -    -    -    -    328,571,429 
 12  309,090,909  11  283,333,333  -    -    -    -    592,424,242 
 12  54,545,455  11  50,000,000  -    -    -    -    104,545,455 

 2  13,333,333  -    -    -    -    -    -    13,333,333 
2  33,333,333  -    -    -    -    -    -    33,333,333 

notes to FinAnciAl stAteMents  
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104

Bharat Financial inclusion limited Annual Report 2016

notes to FinAnciAl stAteMents  
FoR the YeAR ended MARCh 31, 2016 (Contd.)  

Original 
maturity 
of loan 

Interest  
rate 

Due within
1 year

Due between 
1 to 2 Years

Due between
 2 to 3 Years

Due between  
3 to 4 Years

 
 

 Total  No. of 
install-
ments 

Amount  
(in `) 

 No. of 
install-
ments 

Amount  
(in `) 

 No. of 
install-
ments 

Amount  
(in `) 

 No. of 
install-
ments 

Amount  
(in `) 

Quarterly repayment schedule

1-3 Yrs

9.51%-
10.00%  4  375,000,000  4  375,000,000  -    -    -    -    750,000,000 

10.01%-
10.50%

 4  360,000,000  4  360,000,000  -    -    -    -    720,000,000 
 4  60,000,000  4  60,000,000  -    -    -    -    120,000,000 
 2  100,000,000  4  200,000,000  4  200,000,000  -    -    500,000,000 

10.51%-
11.00%

 4  500,000,000  2  250,000,000  -    -    -    -    750,000,000 
 4  200,000,000  4  200,000,000  -    -    -    -    400,000,000 
 3  545,454,570  4  727,272,760  4  727,272,670  -    -    2,000,000,000 
 4  125,000,000  4  125,000,000  -    -    -    -    250,000,000 
 2  100,000,000  4  200,000,000  4  200,000,000  -    -    500,000,000 
 4  100,000,000  4  100,000,000  -    -    -    -    200,000,000 
 4  150,000,000  4  150,000,000  -    -    -    -    300,000,000 
 4  400,000,000  4  400,000,000  1  100,000,000  -    -    900,000,000 
 4  166,672,000  4  166,672,000  4  166,656,000  -    -    500,000,000 

11.01%-
11.50%

 4  727,272,760  4  727,272,760  2  363,636,290  -    -    1,818,181,810 
 4  200,000,000  4  200,000,000  2  100,000,000  -    -    500,000,000 
 4  333,600,000  4  333,600,000  3  249,400,000  -    -    916,600,000 
 1  90,000,000  -    -    -    -    -    -    90,000,000 
 1  10,000,000  -    -    -    -    -    -    10,000,000 
 4  280,000,000  2  140,000,000  -    -    -    -    420,000,000 
 4  40,000,000  2  20,000,000  -    -    -    -    60,000,000 
 3  60,000,000  4  80,000,000  3  60,000,000  -    -    200,000,000 
 3  90,000,000  4  120,000,000  3  90,000,000  -    -    300,000,000 
 4  600,000,000  4  600,000,000  2  300,000,000  -    -    1,500,000,000 
 4  400,000,000  4  400,000,000  2  200,000,000  -    -    1,000,000,000 

11.51%-
12.00%

 4  114,285,714  2  57,142,857  -    -    -    -    171,428,571 
 4  100,000,000  4  100,000,000  -    -    -    -    200,000,000 
 3  321,428,571  -    -    -    -    -    -    321,428,571 
 4  428,571,429  1  107,142,857  -    -    -    -    535,714,286 
 4  166,667,234  -    -    -    -    -    -    166,667,234 
 2  125,000,000  -    -    -    -    -    -    125,000,000 
 4  500,000,000  1  125,000,000  -    -    -    -    625,000,000 
 4  363,636,364  4  363,636,364  -    -    -    -    727,272,727 
 4  200,000,000  4  200,000,000  -    -    -    -    400,000,000 
 1  41,666,667  -    -    -    -    -    -    41,666,667 

12.01%-
12.50%

 1  71,428,571  -    -    -    -    -    -    71,428,571 
 2  185,714,286  -    -    -    -    -    -    185,714,286 
 2  42,857,143  -    -    -    -    -    -    42,857,143 
 2  250,000,000  -    -    -    -    -    -    250,000,000 
 3  187,500,000  -    -    -    -    -    -    187,500,000 
 4  83,600,000  3  61,900,000  -    -    -    -    145,500,000 

12.51%-
13.00%

 4  166,672,000  3  124,988,000  -    -    -    -    291,660,000 
 3  150,000,000  -    -    -    -    -    -    150,000,000 
 4  333,400,000  2  166,500,000  -    -    -    -    499,900,000 
 4  233,380,000  2  116,550,000  -    -    -    -    349,930,000 
 4  100,020,000  2  49,950,000  -    -    -    -    149,970,000 
4  83,336,000  2  41,660,000  -    -    -    -    124,996,000 



105

Bharat Financial inclusion limited Annual Report 2016

Original 
maturity 
of loan 

Interest  
rate 

Due within
1 year

Due between 
1 to 2 Years

Due between
 2 to 3 Years

Due between  
3 to 4 Years

 
 

 Total  No. of 
install-
ments 

Amount  
(in `) 

 No. of 
install-
ments 

Amount  
(in `) 

 No. of 
install-
ments 

Amount  
(in `) 

 No. of 
install-
ments 

Amount  
(in `) 

Bullet repayment schedule

1-3 Yrs

11.51%-
12.00%

 -    -    -    -    1  2,000,000,000  -    -    2,000,000,000 

12.01%-
12.50%

 -    -    1  2,000,000,000  -    -    -    -    2,000,000,000 

Total  22,166,289,491 17,169,784,526  5,517,589,971 44,853,663,987 
Terms of repayment of long term borrowings (term loans and non convertible debenture) as on March 31, 2015
 Monthly repayment schedule 

1-3 Yrs

11.00%-
11.50%

 9  432,000,000  6  288,000,000  -    -    -    -    720,000,000 

11.51%-
12.00%

 12  166,666,667  6  83,333,333  -    -    -    -    250,000,000 
 12  166,666,667  6  83,333,333  -    -    -    -    250,000,000 
 12 1,714,285,714  2  285,714,286  -    -    -    -    2,000,000,000 
 11  68,750,000  12  75,000,000  1  6,250,000  -    -    150,000,000 
 10  113,636,364  12  136,363,636  -    -    -    -    250,000,000 

12.01%-
12.50%

 12  750,000,000  -    -    -    -    -    -    750,000,000 
 8  777,777,778  10  972,222,222  -    -    -    -    1,750,000,000 

 12  133,333,328  -    -    -    -    -    -    133,333,328 
 11  611,111,111  -    -    -    -    -    -    611,111,111 

 8  500,000,000  -    -    -    -    -    -    500,000,000 
 6  857,142,857  -    -    -    -    -    -    857,142,857 
 9 1,285,714,286  -    -    -    -    -    -    1,285,714,286 

12.51%-
13.00%

 3  42,857,143  -    -    -    -    -    -    42,857,143 
 12  433,333,333  -    -    -    -    -    -    433,333,333 
 12  171,428,571  12  171,428,571  11  157,142,857  -    -    500,000,000 
 10  257,575,758  12  309,090,909  11  283,333,333  -    -    850,000,000 
 10  45,454,545  12  54,545,455  11  50,000,000  -    -    150,000,000 

 2  214,285,714  -    -    -    -    -    -    214,285,714 
 12  80,000,000  2  13,333,333  -    -    -    -    93,333,333 

 9  600,000,000  -    -    -    -    -    -    600,000,000 
 12  200,000,000  2  33,333,333  -    -    -    -    233,333,333 

13.01%-
14.00%

 10  476,190,472  -    -    -    -    -    -    476,190,472 

14.01%-
14.50%

 4  2,758,250  -    -    -    -    -    -    2,758,250 
12  2,443,853  5  1,153,826  -    -    -    -    3,597,679 

Quarterly repayment schedule

1-3 Yrs

11.51%-
12.00%

 4  360,000,000  1  90,000,000  -    -    -    -    450,000,000 
 4  40,000,000  1  10,000,000  -    -    -    -    50,000,000 
 4  280,000,000  4  280,000,000  2  140,000,000  -    -    700,000,000 
 4  40,000,000  4  40,000,000  2  20,000,000  -    -    100,000,000 
 3  321,428,571  3  321,428,571  1  107,142,849  -    -    749,999,991 
 2  50,000,000  4  100,000,000  4  100,000,000  -    -    250,000,000 

12.01%-
12.50%

 4  166,666,667  4  166,666,667  -    -    -    -    333,333,333 
 4  250,000,000  2  125,000,000  -    -    -    -    375,000,000 
 4  500,000,000  4  500,000,000  -    -    -    -    1,000,000,000 
 3  272,727,273  4  363,636,364  4  363,636,364  -    -    1,000,000,000 
 4  166,666,667  1  41,666,667  -    -    -    -    208,333,333 
 3  150,000,000  4  200,000,000  3  150,000,000  -    -    500,000,000 

notes to FinAnciAl stAteMents  
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Original 
maturity 
of loan 

Interest  
rate 

Due within
1 year

Due between 
1 to 2 Years

Due between
 2 to 3 Years

Due between  
3 to 4 Years

 
 

 Total  No. of 
install-
ments 

Amount  
(in `) 

 No. of 
install-
ments 

Amount  
(in `) 

 No. of 
install-
ments 

Amount  
(in `) 

 No. of 
install-
ments 

Amount  
(in `) 

1-3 Yrs

12.51%-
13.00%

 4  142,857,143  -    -    -    -    -    -    142,857,143 
 4  142,857,143  -    -    -    -    -    -    142,857,143 
 4  285,714,286  1  71,428,571  -    -    -    -    357,142,857 
 4  371,428,571  2  185,714,286  -    -    -    -    557,142,857 
 4  85,714,286  2  42,857,143  -    -    -    -    128,571,429 
 4  500,000,000  2  250,000,000  -    -    -    -    750,000,000 
 4  250,000,000  3  187,500,000  -    -    -    -    437,500,000 
 4  83,600,000  4  83,600,000  3  61,900,000  -    -    229,100,000 
 4  166,672,000  4  166,672,000  3  124,988,000  -    -    458,332,000 
 4  83,336,000  4  83,336,000  2  41,660,000  -    -    208,332,000 

13.01%-
13.50%

 3  93,750,000  -    -    -    -    -    -    93,750,000 
 3  56,250,000  -    -    -    -    -    -    56,250,000 
 4  75,000,000  -    -    -    -    -    -    75,000,000 
 4  60,000,000  -    -    -    -    -    -    60,000,000 
 4  165,000,000  -    -    -    -    -    -    165,000,000 
 4  200,000,000  3  150,000,000  -    -    -    -    350,000,000 
 4  333,400,000  4  333,400,000  2  166,500,000  -    -    833,300,000 
 4  233,380,000  4  233,380,000  2  116,550,000  -    -    583,310,000 
4  100,020,000  4  100,020,000  2  49,950,000  -    -    249,990,000 

Bullet repayment schedule
1-3 Yrs 12.10%  -    -    -    -    1  2,000,000,000  -    -    2,000,000,000 

Total  16,129,881,017  6,633,158,507  3,939,053,403  -   26,702,092,927 
 

(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

7.  Provisions Long-term Short-term

31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15

Provision for employee benefits

Provision for gratuity (refer note 31)  148,801,718  95,102,270  -    -   

Provision for leave benefits  -    -    62,577,482  49,347,260 

 148,801,718  95,102,270  62,577,482  49,347,260 

Other provisions

Provision for taxation (Net of advance tax)  -    -    17,177,436  17,177,436 

Contingent provision against standard assets (refer 
note 33)  38,145,942  21,882,625  439,370,789  262,068,291 

Provision for non-performing assets (refer note 33)  21,979,216  10,200,014  -    -   

Provision for securitised / managed portfolio (refer 
note 2.1 (s) (iii))  -    -    241,401,388  126,480,855 

 60,125,158  32,082,639  697,949,613  405,726,582 

 208,926,876  127,184,909  760,527,095  455,073,842 
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(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated

8.  Short-term borrowings 31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15

Loan repayable on demand

Cash credit from banks  1,326,219,834  1,235,466,368 

Other loans and advances

Indian rupee loan from banks (secured)  2,220,000,000  3,065,000,000 

Indian rupee loan from non banking financial companies (secured)  -    901,403,893 

Commercial paper  2,896,953,871  894,406,214 

 6,443,173,705  6,096,276,475 

The above amount includes

Secured borrowings  3,409,078,493  5,139,401,965 

Cash credit from banks is secured by hypothecation of portfolio loans and margin money deposit and is repayable on demand. 
Indian rupee loan from banks are term loans secured by hypothecation of portfolio loans and margin money deposit 
Indian rupee loan from non banking financial companies are term loans secured by hypothecation of portfolio loans

(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

9. Other current liabilities 31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15

Employee benefits payable  243,141,478  185,511,480 

Payable towards securitisation / assignment transactions  2,466,057,696  1,796,176,141 

Expenses payable  92,882,955  70,254,358 

Other payable  350,159,376  161,891,541 

Other liabilities

Current maturities of long-term borrowings (refer note 6)  22,166,289,491  16,129,881,017 

Interest accrued but not due on borrowings  377,578,176  101,846,187 

Interest accrued and due on borrowings  -    63,530,296 

Statutory dues payable  36,752,930  26,718,071 

Unrealised gain on securitisation transactions  1,237,381,570  424,910,209 

Unamortized income

Unamortized  fee income  636,790,768  311,168,406 

 27,607,034,440  19,271,887,706 

(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

10.  Tangible assets Furniture and 
fixtures

Computers Office  
equipments

Vehicles  Total 

Cost 

At April 1, 2014  118,435,980  195,793,158  54,234,234  304,376  368,767,748 

Additions  2,338,174  17,886,230  6,101,733  1,544,141  27,870,278 

Disposals  (2,871,557)  (5,435,703)  (3,949,874)  -    (12,257,134)

At March 31, 2015  117,902,597  208,243,685  56,386,093  1,848,517  384,380,892 

Additions  7,046,041  107,040,247  15,585,861  -    129,672,149 

Disposals  (1,713,768)  (7,588,251)  (6,990,721)  (261,551)  (16,554,291)

notes to FinAnciAl stAteMents  
FoR the YeAR ended MARCh 31, 2016 (Contd.)  



108

Bharat Financial inclusion limited Annual Report 2016

(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)
Furniture and 

fixtures
Computers Office equip-

ments
Vehicles  Total 

At March 31, 2016  123,234,870  307,695,681  64,981,233  1,586,966  497,498,750 

Depreciation

At April 1, 2014  100,379,522  174,044,667  25,757,554  128,785  300,310,528 

Charge for the year  5,744,781  13,929,183  21,341,048  75,195  41,090,207 

Disposals  (2,807,564)  (5,086,972)  (2,947,419)  -    (10,841,955)

At March 31, 2015  103,316,739  182,886,878  44,151,183  203,980  330,558,780 

Charge for the year  5,013,987  51,674,833  8,000,244  522,531  65,211,595 

Disposals  (1,695,622)  (6,228,290)  (6,244,309)  (149,198)  (14,317,419)

At March 31, 2016  106,635,104  228,333,421  45,907,118  577,313  381,452,956 

Impairment loss 

At April 1, 2014  182,828  915,594  1,498,439  -    2,596,861 

Charge for the year  -    (106,260)  (174,307)  -    (280,567)

At March 31, 2015  182,828  809,334  1,324,132  -    2,316,294 

Charge for the year  -    (23,983)  (411,392)  -    (435,375)

At March 31, 2016  182,828  785,351  912,740  -    1,880,919 

Net Block

At March 31, 2015  14,403,030  24,547,473  10,910,778  1,644,537  51,505,818 

At March 31, 2016  16,416,938  78,576,909  18,161,375  1,009,653  114,164,875 

All assets have been recognized at cost

(Amount in ̀  unless otherwise stated)

11.  Intangible assets Computer software  Total 

Gross block

At April 1, 2014  187,308,705  187,308,705 

Addition  22,437,396  22,437,396 

At March 31, 2015  209,746,101  209,746,101 

Addition  16,560,358  16,560,358 

At March 31, 2016  226,306,459  226,306,459 

Amortization

At April 1, 2014  156,395,816  156,395,816 

Charge for the year  15,330,357  15,330,357 

At March 31, 2015  171,726,173  171,726,173 

Charge for the year  18,432,399  18,432,399 

At March 31, 2016  190,158,572  190,158,572 

Net block

At March 31, 2015  38,019,928  38,019,928 

At March 31, 2016  36,147,887  36,147,887 

notes to FinAnciAl stAteMents  
FoR the YeAR ended MARCh 31, 2016 (Contd.)  
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(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated) 

12. Non-current investments 31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15 

Non-trade investments (valued at cost)

Investment in equity instruments (unquoted)

200,000 (March 31, 2015 : 200,000) Equity shares of `10/- each fully paid-up in Alpha Micro 
Finance Consultants Private Limited  2,000,000  2,000,000 

 2,000,000  2,000,000 

Aggregate amount of unquoted investments  2,000,000  2,000,000 
 

(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

13. Deferred tax asset 31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15 

Deferred tax asset

Impact of expenditure charged to the statement of profit and loss in the current year but 
allowed for tax purposes on payment basis  21,656,815  16,773,134 

Impact of difference between tax depreciation and depreciation/ amortization charged for the 
financial reporting  15,274,439  19,132,071 

Impact of accumulated tax losses and unabsorbed depreciation  3,260,003,277  4,695,288,289 

Impact of provision for standard and non performing assets  268,434,517  154,726,119 

Others  229,558  68,583 

Deferred tax asset  3,565,598,606  4,885,988,195 

Deferred tax asset recognised  -   -

The deferred tax asset amounting to ` 3,565,598,606 as at March 31, 2016 has not been recognized (refer note 2.1 (l)). The said sum of  
` 3,565,598,606 will be available to offset tax on future taxable income.

(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

14.  Loans and advances Non-current Current

31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15

A. Portfolio Loans

Joint liability group loans 

Unsecured, considered good*  3,593,031,504  2,188,262,541  44,333,543,391  25,678,906,608 

Unsecured, considered doubtful**  36,744,741  18,693,542  -    -   

 3,629,776,245  2,206,956,083  44,333,543,391  25,678,906,608 

Individual loans 

Secured, considered good*  -    -    201,185,956  487,726,853 

Secured, considered doubtful**  4,025,434  4,480,560  -    -   

 4,025,434  4,480,560  201,185,956  487,726,853 

 3,633,801,679  2,211,436,643  44,534,729,347  26,166,633,461 

notes to FinAnciAl stAteMents  
FoR the YeAR ended MARCh 31, 2016 (Contd.)  
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(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

14.  Loans and advances (Contd.) Non-current Current

31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15

Joint liability group loans placed as 
collateral towards securitisation / 
assignment transaction (refer note 40 (d))

Unsecured, considered good*  221,562,718  -    1,374,769,469  862,800,579 

Unsecured, considered doubtful**  634,636  523,120  -    -   

 222,197,354  523,120  1,374,769,469  862,800,579 

 (A)  3,855,999,033  2,211,959,763  45,909,498,816  27,029,434,040 

* Represents standard assets in accordance with Company’s asset classification policy (refer note 2.1 (s) & 33)     
** Represents non-performing assets in accordance with Company’s asset classification policy (refer note 2.1 (s) & 33) 

B. Security deposits

Unsecured, considered good  39,355,533  38,251,183 - -

 (B)  39,355,533  38,251,183 - -

C. Advances recoverable in cash or kind 

Unsecured, considered good  51,728,988  6,500,578  129,258,640  74,469,929 

Unsecured, considered doubtful  32,864,710  32,262,628  -    -   

 84,593,698  38,763,206  129,258,640  74,469,929 

Provision for doubtful advances  (32,864,710)  (32,262,628)  -    -   

 (C)  51,728,988  6,500,578  129,258,640  74,469,929 

D. Other loans and advances (unsecured, 
considered good)

Loans to SKS Microfinance Employees Benefit 
Trust (refer note 35)  27,444,750  48,969,462  -    -   

Advance fringe benefit tax (net of provision)  937,183  937,183  -    -   

Advance income tax (net of provision)  159,926,206  141,842,341  -    -   

Prepaid expenses  -    -    41,467,989  31,615,749 

(D)  188,308,139  191,748,986  41,467,989  31,615,749 

Total   (A+B+C+D)  4,135,391,693  2,448,460,510  46,080,225,445  27,135,519,718 

notes to FinAnciAl stAteMents  
FoR the YeAR ended MARCh 31, 2016 (Contd.)  
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(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated) 

15. Other assets Non-current Current

31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15

Non-current bank balances (refer note 17)  1,756,317,904  1,223,505,298  -    -   

Interest accrued but not due on portfolio loans  -    -    101,271,629  108,263,174 

Interest accrued and due on portfolio loans  -    -    2,090,774  9,231,151 

Interest accrued but not due on deposits placed with 
banks  36,353,633  28,758,781  85,017,383  50,660,716 

Interest strip on securitisation transactions  -    -    1,237,381,583  424,910,209 

Unbilled revenue  -    -    157,095,442  52,075,250 

Others-unsecured, considered good  -    -    52,828,375  - 

 1,792,671,537  1,252,264,079  1,635,685,186  645,140,500 

(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

16. Trade receivables Current

31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15

Outstanding for a period less than six months from the date they are due for payment

     Unsecured, considered good  62,606,085  34,169,498 

Outstanding for a period exceeding six months from the date they are due for payment

     Unsecured, considered good  1,076,081  -   

 63,682,166  34,169,498 

(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

17. Cash and bank balances Non-current Current

31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15

Cash and cash equivalents

Balances with banks

On current accounts  -    -    4,118,461,204  4,896,142,382 

Deposits with original maturity of less than 
three months  -    -    12,200,000,000  9,000,000,000 

Cash on hand  -    -    284,781,942  478,495,745 

 -    -    16,603,243,146  14,374,638,127 

Other bank balances

Margin money deposit (refer note (a) below)  1,756,317,904  1,223,505,298  1,059,584,486  993,092,388 

 1,756,317,904  1,223,505,298  1,059,584,486  993,092,388 

Amount disclosed under non-current assets (refer note 15)  (1,756,317,904)  (1,223,505,298)

 -    -    17,662,827,632  15,367,730,515 

Note (a): Represent margin money deposits placed to avail term loans from banks, financial institutions and as cash collateral in connection with securitization 

transactions.

notes to FinAnciAl stAteMents  
FoR the YeAR ended MARCh 31, 2016 (Contd.)  
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(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated) 

18.  Revenue from operations 31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15 

Interest income on portfolio loans  9,538,854,573  5,664,537,532 

Excess interest spread on securitization / income from assignment  
(refer note 2.1 (b) (iv) & 40 (d & f )  1,103,015,705  667,547,446 

Other operating revenue

Loan processing fees  725,778,792  455,002,586 

Recovery against loans written off  146,897,792  263,824,773 

Interest on margin money deposits*  176,793,879  188,655,838 

 11,691,340,741  7,239,568,175 

* Represents interest on margin money deposits placed to avail term loans from banks, financial institutions and on deposits placed as cash collateral in 

connection with securitization.

(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

19. Other income 31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15 

Interest on fixed deposits  385,805,444  253,079,627 

Other fee income  1,119,770,406  531,913,971 

Profit on sale of assets  770,575  495,322 

Miscellaneous income  9,040,825  5,599,248 

 1,515,387,250  791,088,168 

(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

20. Employee benefit expenses 31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15 

Salaries and bonus / incentives  2,444,815,365  1,978,260,855 

Leave benefits  28,564,487  25,945,779 

Contribution to provident fund  87,930,813  60,470,402 

Contribution to Employee State Insurance Corporation  33,757,294  28,183,640 

Gratuity expenses (refer note 31)  89,093,298  40,244,836 

Staff welfare expenses  131,725,068  89,458,181 

Stock option expenditure  107,804,885  95,974,217 

 2,923,691,210  2,318,537,910 

(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

21. Finance costs 31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15 

Interest 

On term loans from banks  3,382,650,662  2,220,625,342 

On term loans from financial institutions  264,183,013  142,004,825 

On term loans from non banking financial companies  107,676,532  95,617,336 

On bank overdraft facility  35,170,401  47,847,455 

On debentures  452,264,137  1,326,027 

On commercial paper  429,142,407  60,504,064 

On shortfall in payment of advance income tax  -    6,078,501 

Other finance costs  168,978,468  211,026,575 

Bank charges  5,669,161  5,421,727 

 4,845,734,781  2,790,451,852 

notes to FinAnciAl stAteMents  
FoR the YeAR ended MARCh 31, 2016 (Contd.)  
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(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

22. Other expenses 31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15 

Rent  155,975,638  142,192,035 

Rates and taxes  3,834,788  4,179,187 

Insurance  18,201,595  18,569,603 

Repairs and maintenance

  Plant and machinery  54,681,505  26,529,555 

  Others  84,214,194  74,700,913 

Electricity charges  28,653,878  25,688,302 

Travelling and conveyance  351,165,396  282,429,640 

Communication expenses  69,393,949  58,892,473 

Printing and stationery  56,012,758  61,536,397 

Legal and professional fees  99,379,104  70,129,965 

Directors' sitting fees  5,490,000  4,230,000 

Directors stock option expenditure  2,472,693  10,360,558 

Auditors' remuneration (refer details below)  12,556,886  10,166,838 

Other provisions and write off  46,610,003  31,987,634 

CSR expenditure  19,344,705  1,500,000 

Miscellaneous expenses  20,333,879  16,840,256 

 1,028,320,971  839,933,356 

(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

Payment to auditors 31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15 

As auditor:

Audit fee  7,845,000  5,445,000 

Limited review  3,150,000  3,150,000 

In other capacity:

Other services (certification fees)  440,000  450,000 

Reimbursement of expenses  1,121,886  1,121,838 

 12,556,886  10,166,838 

notes to FinAnciAl stAteMents  
FoR the YeAR ended MARCh 31, 2016 (Contd.)  
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(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

23. Depreciation and amortization expense 31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15 

Depreciation of tangible assets  65,211,596  30,281,967 

Amortization of intangible assets  18,432,399  15,330,357 

 83,643,995  45,612,324 

24.  Provisions and write-offs 31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15 

Contingent provision against standard assets (refer note 33)  193,565,814  120,947,422 

Provision for non-performing assets (refer note 33)  11,779,202  (1,779,602,571)

Portfolio loans and other balances written off  63,790,855  1,756,038,528 

Provision and loss on securitized / managed portfolio (refer note 2.1 (s) (iii))  117,278,880  3,073,619 

 386,414,751  100,456,998 

25. Earnings per share (EPS) 31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15 

The following reflects the profit and share data used in the basic and diluted EPS computations:

Net Profit for calculation of basic EPS  3,029,814,959  1,876,643,436 

Net Profit for calculation of diluted EPS  3,029,814,959  1,876,643,436 

No. of shares No. of shares 

Weighted average number of equity shares in calculating basic EPS  126,777,718  123,299,110 

Effect of dilution:

Stock options granted under ESOP  1,696,125  1,459,555 

Weighted average number of equity shares in calculating diluted EPS  128,473,843  124,758,665 

notes to FinAnciAl stAteMents  
FoR the YeAR ended MARCh 31, 2016 (Contd.)  
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26. Segment information

 The Company operates in a single reportable segment i.e. financing, which has similar risks and returns for the purpose of AS 17 on 
‘Segment Reporting’ specified under section 133 of the Companies Act 2013, read with rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014. 
The Company operates in a single geographical segment i.e. domestic.

27. Related Parties

a. Names of the related parties with whom transactions have been entered

Key Management Personnel Mr. M.R.Rao, Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 
Mr. S. Dilli Raj, President 
Mr. K.V. Rao, Chief Operating Officer
Mr. Ashish Damani, Chief Financial Officer 
Mr. Rajendra Patil, Company Secretary 

b. Related party transactions

(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

Transactions during the year 31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15

Salary, incentives and perquisites 

– Mr. M. R. Rao 28,617,601  22,320,729 

– Mr. S. Dilli Raj 23,484,106  17,733,095 

– Mr. K.V. Rao 9,393,692 7,310,086

– Mr. Ashish Damani 6,691,740 5,348,975

– Mr. Rajendra Patil 6,519,607 4,835,264

  Note: As the provisions for gratuity and leave benefits are made for the Company as a whole, the amounts pertaining to the Key Management 

Personnel are not specifically identified and hence are not included above.

28. Capital and other commitments

 Estimated amounts of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account (net of advances) and not provided:

(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

Particulars March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015

For development of computer software 1,781,424 1,425,424

For purchase of computer and computer peripherals - 172,750

Maintenance cost for computers 3,808,000 -

29. Contingent liabilities not provided for

(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

Particulars March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015

Credit enhancements provided by the Company towards securitisation (including cash 
collaterals, principal and interest subordination)

3,785,994,487 2,216,270,453

Performance security provided by the Company pursuant to business correspondent 
agreement

862,232,673 477,749,783

Tax on items disallowed by the Income Tax department not acknowledged as debt by the 
Company *

212,550 5,475,348

 *Based on the expert opinion obtained by the Company, crystallisation of liability on these items is not considered probable.

notes to FinAnciAl stAteMents  
FoR the YeAR ended MARCh 31, 2016 (Contd.)  
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30. Stock option scheme

 The Company has provided various share-based payment schemes to its Directors and Employees. The plans in operation are Plan II 
(Other Independent Directors) and Plan III (Employees). The alphabet a, b, c, etc. represents different grants made under these plans.  
During the year ended March 31, 2016, the following series were in operation:

(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Plan II (f ) Plan II (g) Plan III (a) Plan III (c) Plan III (e) 

Date of grant Nov 23, 2011 Mar 12, 2013 Nov 3, 2009 Dec 15, 2009 May 4, 2010

Date of Board approval Nov 23, 2011 Mar 12, 2013 July 29, 2009 Nov 4, 2009 May 4, 2010

Date of shareholder's approval Jul 16, 2010 Dec 07, 2011 Sep 30, 2009 Dec 10, 2009 Dec 10, 2009

Number of options granted 300,000 400,000 514,750 568,000 6,000

Exercise price `109.95 `150.00 `300 `300 `300

Method of settlement Equity Equity Equity Equity Equity

Vesting period End of year 1–33%  End of year 1–33%  End of year 1–40% 20 % equally at the 
end of each year

20 % equally at the 
end of each year

End of year 2–33% End of year 2–33% End of year 2–25%

End of year 3–34% End of year 3–34% End of year 3–25%

End of year 4–10%

Exercise period 36 months from 
the date of vesting

On or before Mar 
11, 2018

60 months from 
the date of grant

72 months from 
the date of grant

72 months from 
the date of grant

Vesting conditions Refer note 1 Refer note 1 Refer note 1 Refer note 1 Refer note 1

Name of the plan ESOP 2010 ESOP 2011 ESOP 2009 ESOP 2009 ESOP 2009

yy Exercise period extended upto May 2, 2016 and June 14, 2016 for plan III (a) and III (c) respectively.

yy

Particulars Plan III (f ) Plan III (g) Plan III (h) Plan III (i) Plan III (j) Plan III (k) Plan III (l) 

Date of grant Sep 7, 2011 Mar 22, 2013 Aug 23, 2013 Oct 23, 2013 Feb 04, 2014 April 28, 
2014

August 16, 
2014

Date of Board approval Sep 7, 2011 Mar 22, 2013 Aug 23, 2013 Oct 23, 2013 Feb 04, 2014 April 28, 
2014

August 16, 
2014

Date of shareholder’s 
approval

Nov 8, 2008,
Sep 30, 2009,
July 16, 2010

Dec 07, 2011 Dec 07, 2011 Dec 07, 2011 Dec 07, 2011 Dec 07, 2011 Nov 08, 2008

Number of options 
granted

1,486,329 119,112 15,760 11,564 58,000 50,000 2,082,200

Exercise price `229.40 `150 `113 `160.45 `174.95 `253.65 `264.75

Method of settlement Equity Equity Equity Equity Equity Equity Equity
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(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Plan III (f ) Plan III (g) Plan III (h) Plan III (i) Plan III (j) Plan III (k) Plan III (l) 

Vesting period 50 % equally 
at the end of 
each year

End of year 
1 – 33%  
End of year 
2 – 33%
End of year 
3 – 34%

25 % equally 
at the end of 
each year

25 % equally 
at the end of 
each year

25 % equally 
at the end of 
each year

25 % equally 
at the end of 
each year

End of year 
1 – 33%  
End of year 
2 – 33%
End of year 
3 – 34%

Exercise period 36 months 
from the date 
of vesting

On or before 
Mar 21, 2018

On or before 
Aug 22, 2018

On or before 
Oct 22, 2018

On or before 
Feb 03, 2019

On or before 
April 27, 
2019

On or before 
August 15, 
2018

Vesting conditions Refer note 1 Refer note 1 Refer note 1 Refer note 1 Refer note 1 Refer note 1 Refer note 1

Name of the plan ESOP 2008
ESOP 2009
ESOP 2010

ESOP 2011 ESOP 2011 ESOP 2011 ESOP 2011 ESOP 2011 ESOP 2008

yy

Particulars Plan III (m) Plan III (n) Plan III (o) Plan III (p) Plan III (q) Plan III (r) Plan III (s) 

Date of grant October 29, 
2014

January 30, 
2015

May 04, 2015 July 22, 2015 October 30, 
2015

February 04, 
2016

February 13, 
2016

Date of Board 
approval

October 29, 
2014

January 30, 
2015

May 04, 2015 July 22, 2015 October 30, 
2015

February 04, 
2016

February 13, 
2016

Date of shareholder’s 
approval

Dec 07, 2011 Dec 07, 2011 Dec 07, 2011 Dec 07, 2011 Dec 07, 2011 Dec 07, 2011 Dec 07, 2011

Number of options 
granted

87,000 93,500 21,500 45,500 3,000 66,000 4,500

Exercise price `316.15 `426.85 `470.05 `529.15 `433.40 `548.45 `495.65

Method of settlement Equity Equity Equity Equity Equity Equity Equity

Vesting period 25 % equally 
at the end of 
each year 

25 % equally 
at the end of 
each year 

25 % equally 
at the end of 
each year 

25 % equally 
at the end of 
each year 

25 % equally 
at the end of 
each year 

25 % equally 
at the end of 
each year 

25 % equally 
at the end of 
each year 

Exercise period On or before 
October 28, 
2019

On or before 
January 29, 
2020

On or before 
May 03, 2020

On or before 
July 21, 2020

On or before 
October 29, 
2020

On or before 
February 03, 
2021

On or before 
February 12, 
2021

Vesting conditions Refer note 1 Refer note 1 Refer note 1 Refer note 1 Refer note 1 Refer note 1 Refer note 1

Name of the plan ESOP 2011 ESOP 2011 ESOP 2011 ESOP 2011 ESOP 2011 ESOP 2011 ESOP 2011

Note 1: Option holders are required to continue to hold the services being provided to the Company at the time of exercise of options.
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The details of all grants in operation during financial year 2015-16 have been summarised below:

(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

Plan Grant Date Exercise
Price

Outstanding at 
the beginning 

of the year

Grant 
during

the year

Exercised 
during

the year

Lapsed 
during

the year

Outstanding
at the end of

the year

Exercisable 
at the end of 

the year

Weighted 
average 

Remaining 
contractual life 

of options  
(in years)

Weighted 
average 

Fair value 
of options 

granted

Weighted 
average share 

price during the 
exercise period  

(in `) ^

Plan II (b) 01-Feb-08 70.67 15,000 - 15,000 - - - - 17.72 484.01

Plan II (c) 10-Nov-08 70.67 3,000 - 3,000 - - - - 52.14 484.01

Plan II (d) 29-Jul-09 300.00 18,000 - 18,000 - - - - 21.57 582.18

Plan II (e) 01-Feb-10 300.00 45,000 - 45,000 - - - - 72.53 503.65

Plan II (f ) 23-Nov-11 109.95 245,000 - 111,000 - 134,000 134,000 1.6 77.23 465.01

Plan II (g) 12-Mar-13 150.00 300,000 - - - 300,000 300,000 1.9 71.81 -

Plan III (a) 03-Nov-09 300.00 139,870 - 134,370 4,200 1,300 1,300 0.1 41.18 463.48

Plan III (b) 15-Dec-09 150.00 168,031 - 158,726 9,305 - - - 115.30 478.01

Plan III (c) 15-Dec-09 300.00 105,700 - 65,400 - 40,300 40,300 0.2 69.29 501.07

Plan III (d) 04-May-10 150.00 618 - 618 - - - - 233.75 471.84

Plan III (e) 04-May-10 300.00 3,000 - 2,735 - 265 265 0.1 152.53 499.60

Plan III (f ) 07-Sep-11 229.40 448,683 - 264,375 18,915 165,393 165,393 0.4 146.73 480.41

Plan III (g) 22-Mar-13 150.00 101,370 - 36,202 - 65,168 65,168 2.0 57.43 494.37

Plan III (h) 23-Aug-13 113.00 6,178 - 3,090 - 3,088 - 2.4 57.37 432.83

Plan III (i) 23-Oct-13 160.45 11,564 - 5,782 - 5,782 - 2.6 76.08 519.08

Plan III (j) 04-Feb-14 174.95 58,000 - 10,550 - 47,450 18,450 2.8 91.52 444.83

Plan III (k) 28-Apr-14 253.65 50,000 - 12,500 - 37,500 - 3.1 128.14 456.17

Plan III (l) 16-Aug-14 264.75 2,064,100 - 116,315 35,090 1,912,695 559,236 2.4 109.40 491.33

Plan III (m) 29-Oct-14 316.15 87,000 - 14,500 29,000 43,500 - 3.6 145.08 469.02

Plan III (n) 30-Jan-15 426.85 93,500 - 1,125 15,000 77,375 18,500 3.8 188.68 519.08

Plan III (o) 04-May-15 470.05 21,500 - - 21,500 - 4.1 188.39 -

Plan III (p) 22-Jul-15 529.15 45,500 - 8,000 37,500 - 4.3 221.67 -

Plan III (q) 30-Oct-15 433.40 3,000 - - 3,000 - 4.6 186.16 -

Plan III (r) 04-Feb-16 548.45 66,000 - 29,000 37,000 - 4.8 227.53 -

Plan III (s) 13-Feb-16 495.65 4,500 - - 4,500 - 4.9 217.59 -

3,963,614 140,500 1,018,288 148,510 2,937,316 1,302,612

Plan III (a) - Exercise period ending on November 2, 2015, extended upto May 2, 2016
Plan III (c) - Original exercise period ending on December 14, 2015, extended upto June14, 2016
Plan III (f ) - Notice of exercise received for 107 options, however the allotment was pending as on March 31, 2016
^ Disclosure of weighted average share price during the exercise period is applicable only for plans where there has been an exercise of options in current financial year.
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The details of all grants in operation during financial year 2014-15 have been summarised below:

(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

Plan Grant Date Exercise
Price

Outstanding at 
the beginning 

of the year

Grant 
during

the year

Exercised 
during

the year

Lapsed 
during

the year

Outstanding
at the end of

the year

Exercisable
at the end of 

the year

Weighted 
average

Remaining
contractual

life of 
options

(in years)

Weighted 
average

Fair value of
options 
granted

Weighted 
average

share price 
during the 

exercise 
period
(in `) ^

Plan II (b) 01-Feb-08 70.67 15,000 - - - 15,000 15,000 0.8 17.72 -

Plan II (c) 10-Nov-08 70.67 3,000 - - - 3,000 3,000 0.8 52.14 -

Plan II (d) 29-Jul-09 300.00 18,000 - - - 18,000 18,000 0.3 21.57 -

Plan II (e) 01-Feb-10 300.00 49,500 - 4,500 - 45,000 45,000 0.8 72.53 363.25

Plan II (f ) 23-Nov-11 109.95 300,000 - 55,000 - 245,000 245,000 2.7 77.23 301.12

Plan II (g) 12-Mar-13 150.00 300,000 - - - 300,000 198,000 2.9 71.81 -

Plan III (a) 03-Nov-09 300.00 160,590 - 14,020 6,700 139,870 139,870 0.6 41.18 412.07

Plan III (b) 15-Dec-09 150.00 407,367 - 210,568 28,768 168,031 168,031 0.6 115.30 385.63

Plan III (c) 15-Dec-09 300.00 125,240 - 3,000 16,540 105,700 105,700 0.6 69.29 361.03

Plan III (d) 04-May-10 150.00 1,648 - 898 132 618 408 1.1 233.75 401.71

Plan III (e) 04-May-10 300.00 3,000 - - - 3,000 2,400 1.1 152.53 -

Plan III (f ) 07-Sep-11 229.40 618,483 - 119,404 50,396 448,683 448,683 1.4 146.37 409.90

Plan III (g) 22-Mar-13 150.00 107,548 - 2,039 4,139 101,370 66,904 3.0 57.43 273.08

Plan III (h) 23-Aug-13 113.00 15,760 - - 9,582 6,178 1,545 3.4 57.37 -

Plan III (i) 23-Oct-13 160.45 11,564 - - - 11,564 2,891 3.6 76.08 -

Plan III (j) 04-Feb-14 174.95 58,000 - - - 58,000 14,500 3.9 91.52 -

Plan III (k) 28-Apr-14 253.65 - 50,000 - - 50,000 - 4.1 128.14 -

Plan III (l) 16-Aug-14 264.75 - 2,082,200 - 18,100 2,064,100 - 3.4 109.40 -

Plan III (m) 29-Oct-14 316.15 - 87,000 - - 87,000 - 4.6 145.08 -

Plan III (n) 30-Jan-15 426.85 - 93,500 - - 93,500 - 4.8 188.68 -

Total 2,194,700 2,312,700 409,429 134,357 3,963,614 1,474,932

Plan II (b & c) - Exercise period ending on February 1, 2013, extended upto February 1, 2016.

Plan II (d) - Original exercise period ending on July 29, 2014, extended upto July 29, 2015.

Plan II (e) - Original exercise period ending on February 01, 2015, extended upto February 01, 2016.

Plan III (a) - Original exercise period ending on November 02, 2014, extended upto November 02, 2015

Plan III (b) - Notice of exercise received for 432 options, however the allotment was pending as on March 31, 2015

^ Disclosure of weighted average share price during the exercise period is applicable only for plans where there has been an exercise of options in current 

financial year.
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Stock options granted during the year: The Black-Scholes Model has been used for computing the weighted average fair value considering 
the following:

(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

Plan III (o) Plan III (p) Plan III (q) Plan III (r) Plan III (s)

Share price on the date of grant (`) 463.80 536.85 431.20 538.35 538.35

Exercise price (`) 470.05 529.15 433.40 548.45 548.45

Expected volatility (%) 40.64 39.67 44.82 44.22 44.22

Expected dividend rate (%) 0 0 0 0 0

Life of the options granted (years)

Vest 1 - 3.00 
Vest 2 - 3.50 
Vest 3 - 4.00 
Vest 4 - 4.50

Vest 1 - 3.00 
Vest 2 - 3.50 
Vest 3 - 4.00 
Vest 4 - 4.50

Vest 1 - 3.00 
Vest 2 - 3.50 
Vest 3 - 4.00 
Vest 4 - 4.50

Vest 1 - 3.00 
Vest 2 - 3.50 
Vest 3 - 4.00 
Vest 4 - 4.50

Vest 1 - 3.00 
Vest 2 - 3.50 
Vest 3 - 4.00 
Vest 4 - 4.50

Risk-free interest rate (%)

Vest 1 - 7.89 
Vest 2 - 7.88 
Vest 3 - 7.88 
Vest 4 - 7.88

Vest 1 - 8.02 
Vest 2 - 8.00 
Vest 3 - 8.01 
Vest 4 - 8.06

Vest 1 - 7.69 
Vest 2 - 7.73 
Vest 3 - 7.78 
Vest 4 - 7.84

Vest 1 - 7.58 
Vest 2 - 7.64 
Vest 3 - 7.73 
Vest 4 - 7.80

Vest 1 - 7.59 
Vest 2 - 7.66 
Vest 3 - 7.75 
Vest 4 - 7.83

Fair value of the option

Vest 1 - 166.80 
Vest 2 - 181.89 
Vest 3 - 195.91 
Vest 4 - 208.96

Vest 1 - 196.93 
Vest 2 - 214.08 
Vest 3 - 230.17 
Vest 4 - 245.50

Vest 1 - 165.38 
Vest 2 - 179.89 
Vest 3 - 193.37 
Vest 4 - 205.98

Vest 1 - 201.33 
Vest 2 - 219.55 
Vest 3 - 236.66 
Vest 4 - 252.57

Vest 1 –193.45 
Vest 2 - 210.27 
Vest 3 – 225.99 
Vest 4 - 240.64

Weighted average fair value 188.39 221.67 186.16 227.53 217.59

The expected life of the stock option is based on historical data and current expectations and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns 
that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility for the one year period ended on the date of grant 
is indicative of future trends, which also may not necessarily be the actual outcome.

Stock options modified during the year (incremental fair value calculated using the Black-Scholes Model):

Particulars Before After Before After

Details of the plan Plan III (a) Plan III (c)

Share price on the date of modification (`) 431.20 431.20 449.55 449.35

Exercise price (`) 300.00 300.00 300.00 300.00

Expected volatility (%) 44.23 44.23 43.47 43.47

Life of the options granted (years) 0.003 0.5 0.003 0.5

Risk-free interest rate (%) 7.24 7.24 7.30 7.30

Expected dividend rate (%) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Fair value of the option 131.26 147.11 149.61 164.1

Incremental fair value 15.85 14.49
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Effect of the share-based payment plans on the statement of profit andloss and on the financial position:

(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

Particulars For the year ended 
March 31, 2016

For the year ended 
March 31, 2015

Directors stock option expenditure 2,472,693  10,360,558 

Employees stock option expenditure 107,804,885  95,974,217 

Subtotal 110,277,578  106,334,775 

Total compensation cost pertaining to equity-settled employee share  
based payment

110,277,578  106,334,775 

Particulars As at   
March 31, 2016

As at 
March 31, 2015

Stock options outstanding (gross) 327,939,283  429,975,441 

Deferred compensation cost outstanding (80,628,531)  (178,502,599)

Stock options outstanding (net) 247,310,752  251,472,842 

31. Retirement benefits 

 The Company has a defined benefit gratuity plan. Every employee who has completed five years or more of service is eligible for gratuity 
on cessation of employment and it is computed at 15 days salary (last drawn salary) for each completed year of service subject to limit 
of `1,000,000 as per The Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972. The scheme is funded with an insurance Company in the form of a qualifying 
insurance policy.

 The following tables summarise the components of net benefit expense recognised in the statement of profit and loss and the funded 
status and amounts recognised in the Balance Sheet for the gratuity plan.

Statement of profit and loss

Net employees benefit expense (recognised in employees benefit expense):

Particulars For the year ended 
March 31, 2016

For the year ended 
March 31, 2015

Current service cost 17,218,235  13,793,687 

Interest cost on benefit obligation 9,494,099  7,999,270 

Expected return on plan assets (2,011,060)  (1,535,443)

Net actuarial (gain) / loss recognised in the year 64,392,024  19,987,322 

Net employee benefit expense 89,093,298  40,244,836 

Actuary return on plan assets* 4,158,694  1,544,268 

*Represents expected return as determined by the actuary for financial year 2015-16.

Balance Sheet

Details of provision for gratuity:

Particulars Gratuity

March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015

Defined benefit obligation 200,488,343 118,085,811

Fair value of plan assets (51,686,625) (22,983,541)

Plan liability 148,801,718 95,102,270
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Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Gratuity

March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015

Opening defined benefit obligation 118,085,811 87,519,363

Interest cost 9,494,049 7,999,270

Current service cost 17,218,235 13,793,687

Benefits paid (10,849,460) (11,222,656)

Actuarial (gains) / losses on obligation 66,539,658 19,996,147

Closing defined benefit obligation 200,488,343 118,085,811

Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

Particulars Gratuity

March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015

Opening fair value of plan assets 22,983,541 17,648,775

Expected return 2,011,060 1,535,443

Contributions by employer 35,393,850 15,013,154

Benefits paid (10,849,460) (11,222,656)

Actuarial gains / (losses) 2,147,634 8,825

Closing fair value of plan assets 51,686,625 22,983,541

The Company expects to contribute `27,800,000 (March 31, 2015: `26,944,219) to gratuity in the next year.

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of the fair value of total plan assets are as follows:

Particulars Gratuity

March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015

Investment with insurer 100% 100%

The overall expected rate of return on assets is determined based on the average long term rate of return expected on investment of the fund 
during the estimated term of the obligations.

The principal assumptions used in determining gratuity:

Particulars Gratuity

March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015

Discount rate 7.84% 8.04%

Expected rate of return on assets 8.75% 8.75%

Salary escalation rate per annum 12.5% for the first 
two years and 7% 

there after

10% for the first two 
years and 7% there 

after

Rates of leaving service 15% 15%
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Amounts for the current and previous four years are as follows:

(Amount in ` unless otherwise stated)

Particulars Gratuity

31-Mar-16 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-14 31-Mar-13 31-Mar-12

Defined benefit obligation 200,488,343 118,085,811 87,519,363 78,251,840 79,421,404

Plan assets 51,686,625 22,983,541 17,648,775 27,981,896 37,575,021

Surplus / (deficit) (148,801,718) (95,102,270) (69,870,588) (50,269,944) (41,846,383)

Experience adjustments on  
plan liabilities 57,600,983 19,996,147 11,391 (14,046,486) (17,347,115)

Experience adjustments on plan assets 2,147,634 8,825 (940,135) (210,115) (1,148,560)

32. Expenditure in foreign currency (on accrual basis)

Particulars For the year ended 
March 31, 2016

For the year ended 
March 31, 2015

Professional fees* 1,711,644  17,359,063 

Travelling expenses 512,571  2,041,582 

Membership and subscriptions 226,450  216,300 

Total 2,450,665  19,616,945 

*Professional fees include an amount of `Nil (Previous year:`11,584,063) towards consultancy services in connection with the Qualified Institutional Placement 
adjusted to securities premium account as per section 52 of the Companies Act, 2013.The expenditure in foreign currency does not include commission 
payable to two foreign directors (Previous year: `5,000,000) as the amount payable to individual directors shall be determined subsequently by the Board 
of Directors, in accordance with the shareholder resolution passed at 12th Annual General Meeting held on September 23, 2015. However, the total amount 
payable to all directors has been charged to the statement of profit and loss.

33. Loan portfolio and provision for standard and non-performing assets as at March 31, 2016:

Asset classification Portfolio loans  
outstanding (Gross)

Provision for standard and  
non-performing assets

Portfolio loans  
outstanding (Net)

As at
March 31, 

2016

As at
March 31, 

2015

As at
March 31, 2015

Provision  
made during  

the year

Provision  
written back 

during the year

As at
March 31, 

2016

As at
March 31,  

2016

As at
March 31, 

2015

Standard assets 49,724,093,038 29,217,696,581 283,950,916 193,565,815 - 477,516,731 49,246,576,307 28,933,745,665 

Sub-standard assets 38,851,191 22,260,955 9,912,761 9,512,835 - 19,425,596 19,425,595 12,348,194 

Doubtful assets -   1,436,267 287,253 - (287,253) -   -   1,149,014 

Loss assets 2,553,620 -   -   2,553,620 - 2,553,620 -   -   

Total 49,765,497,849 29,241,393,803 294,150,930 205,632,270 (287,253) 499,495,947 49,266,001,902 28,947,242,873 

Loan portfolio and provision for standard and non-performing assets as at March 31, 2015:

Asset classification Portfolio loans  
outstanding (Gross)

Provision for standard and  
non-performing assets

Portfolio loans  
outstanding (Net)

As at
March 31, 

2015

As at
March 31, 

2014

As at
March 31,  

2014

Provision  
made during  

the year

Provision  
written back 

during the year

As at
March 31, 

2015

As at
March 31,  

2015

As at
March 31, 

2014

Standard assets 29,217,696,581 15,400,920,668 163,003,494 120,947,422 - 283,950,916 28,933,745,665 15,237,917,174

Sub-standard assets 22,260,955 16,635,844 2,879,145 7,033,616 - 9,912,761 12,348,194 13,756,700

Doubtful assets 1,436,267 2,572,000 514,400 - 227,147 287,253 1,149,014 2,057,600

Loss assets - 1,786,409,040 1,786,409,040 - 1,786,409,040 - - -

Total 29,241,393,803 17,206,537,553 1,952,806,079 127,981,038 1,786,636,187 294,150,930 28,947,242,873 15,253,731,474
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34. Leases (operating lease)

yy Office Premises:

yy Head office, registered office and branch office premises are obtained on operating lease. The branch office premises are generally rented 
on cancellable term ranging from twelve months to thirty six months with or without escalation clause, howevernone of the branch lease 
agreement carries non-cancellable lease periods.The registeredoffice premise has been obtained on a lease term of thirty six months 
with an escalation clause of five percent after every twelve months. The rent agreement for head office premise has been renewed on a 
lease term of nine years with an escalation clause of five percent after every twelve months. There are no restrictions imposed by lease 
arrangements. There are no subleases. Lease payments during the year are charged to statement of profit and loss.  

Description March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015

Operating lease expenses recognised in the statement of profit and loss 155,975,638 142,192,035

Minimum lease obligations

   Not later than one year 16,499,080 3,487,746

   Later than one year but not later than five years 3,221,648 5,721,624

yy

yy Vehicles:

yy The Company has taken certain vehicles on cancellable operating lease. Total lease expense under cancellable operating lease during the 
year was `20,334,349 (Previous year:`12,431,034).

yy

35. The Company has given interest free collateral free loan to an employee benefit trust under the Employee Stock Purchase Scheme to 
provide financial assistance to its employees to purchase equity shares of the Company under such scheme. The loan is repayable by the 
trust under a back to back arrangement by the trust with the employees of the Company. The year-end balance for the total loan granted 
is `27,444,750 (March 31, 2015: `48,969,462).

yy

36. In the financial years 2013-14 and 2015-16, the Company has received four demand orders from service tax authorities against the 
show-cause notices received in earlier years. The orders pertain to applicability of service tax on various items like income from asset 
assignment transactions, administration charges collected by the Company on distribution of insurance products to its borrowers, 
reimbursement of certain expenses from an insurance company, etc. 

 The amount of service tax demanded in two orders received in 2013-14 aggregated to `460,522,457 (plus penalty and interest, as 
applicable). The Company had filed appeals and stay petition against these demand orders with The Customs, Excise and Service Tax 
Appellate Tribunal (‘CESTAT’) and received a stay order in respect of one of the two orders amounting to `118,091,538 (plus penalty and 
interest, as applicable). 

 During the financial year 2015-16, the Company received a stay order from CESTAT for the demand raised in the previous year for 
`342,493,571 (plus penalty and interest, as applicable) against pre-deposit of `30,000,000. Further, the Company has received two orders 
on similar matters aggregating `194,322,736 (plus penalty and interest, as applicable). The Company has filed an appeal before the 
CESTAT against these orders.

 Based on the merits of the cases, the Company and its tax advisors believe that its position is likely to be upheld in the appellate process 
for the above matters. Accordingly, no provision has been made for the amounts mentioned above as at March 31, 2016.

37. The Company has provided for minimum alternate tax (‘MAT’) liability of `909,107,324 for the year ended March 31, 2016. The MAT credit 
entitlement amounting to `968,523,711 as at March 31, 2016 has not been recognized as an asset on the balance sheet. The said sum of 
` 968,523,711 will be available to offset future normal tax liability of the Company.

38. The Company has certain litigations pending with income tax authorities, service tax authorities and other litigations which have arisen 
in the ordinary course of business. The Company has reviewed all such pending litigations having an impact on the financial position, 
and has adequately provided for where provisions are required and disclosed the contingent liabilities where applicable, in its financial 
statements. Refer note 29and 36 for further details.

yy

notes to FinAnciAl stAteMents  
FoR the YeAR ended MARCh 31, 2016 (Contd.)  
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39. Dues to micro,small and medium enterprises

yy There are no amounts that need to be disclosed in accordance with the Micro Small and Medium Enterprise Development Act, 2006 (the 
‘MSMED’) pertaining to micro or small enterprises.

yy

yy For the year ended March 31, 2016, no supplier has intimated the Company about its status as micro or small enterprises or its registration 
with the appropriate authority under MSMED.

yy

40. Additional disclosures required by the RBI

 a. Capital to Risk AssetsRatio (‘CRAR’):

Particulars March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015

i) CRAR (%) 23.07% 31.69%

ii) CRAR – Tier I Capital (%) 23.07% 31.69%

iii) CRAR – Tier II Capital (%) 0.00% 0.00%

iv) Amount of subordinated debt raised as Tier-II capital - -

v) Amount raised by issue  of  Perpetual  Debt Instruments - -

yy b. Investments:

 (` in crore)

Particulars March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015

(1) Value of Investments

(i) Gross Value of Investments

(a) in India 0.20 0.20

(a) outside India, - -

(ii) Provisions for Depreciation

(a) in India - -

(a) outside India, - -

(iii) Net Value of Investments

(a) in India 0.20 0.20

(a) outside India, - -

(2) Movement   of   provisions   held   towards depreciation on investments

(i) Opening balance - -

(ii) Add : Provisions made during the year - -

(iii) Less : Write-off / write-back of excess provisions during the year - -

(iv) Closing balance - -

yy

yy c. Derivatives:

 The Company has no transactions / exposure in derivatives in the current and previous year.

 The Company has no unhedged foreign currency exposure as on March 31, 2016 (March 31, 2015: Nil).
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yy d. Disclosures relating to Securitisation:
 During the year the Company has sold loans through securitization. The information on securitization activity of the Company as an 

originator is as shown below:
 (` in crore)

Particulars For the year ended  
March 31, 2016

For the year ended  
March 31, 2015

Total number of loans securitized 1,488,135 1,637,891

Total book value of loans securitized 2,139.32             1,432.54 

Total book value of loans securitizedincluding loans placed as collateral 2,319.92             1,558.66 

Sale consideration received for loans securitized 2,139.32             1,432.54 

Excess interest spread recognised in the statement of profit and loss 86.83                  66.75 

Particulars As at March  
31, 2016

As at March 31, 
2015

Credit enhancements provided and outstanding (Gross):

Interest subordination 123.74                  42.49 

Principal subordination 157.92 86.33

Cash collateral 114.14                102.03 

(` in crore)

Sr.  
No.

Particulars For the year ended 
March 31, 2016

For the year ended 
March 31, 2015

1. No. of SPVs sponsored by the NBFC for securitisation transactions during the 
year

7 8

2. Total amount of securitised assets as per the books of the SPVs sponsored by 
the NBFC as on the date of balance sheet:

1,885.96 1,089.56 

3. Total amount of exposures retained to comply with minimum retention 
requirement (‘MRR’)  as on the date of balance sheet:
a) Off balance sheet exposures
 - First loss -   -   
 - Others -   -   
b)  On balance sheet exposures
 - First loss 157.92 86.33 
 - Others -   -   

4. Amount of exposures to other than MRR:
a) Off-balance sheet exposures
 i)  Exposure to own securitisations
 -  First loss -   -   
 -  Others -   -   
 ii)  Exposure to third party securitisations
 -  First loss -   -   
 -  Others -   -   
a) On-balance sheet exposures
 i)  Exposure to own securitisations
 -  First loss 237.88 144.52 
 -  Others
 ii)  Exposure to third party securitisations
 -  First loss -   -   

 -  Others -   -   
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yy e. Details of financial assets sold to securitisation / reconstructioncompany for asset reconstruction:
  The Company has not sold financial assets to Securitisation / Reconstruction companies for asset reconstruction in the current and 

previous year.

yy f. Details of assignment transactions undertaken:

Particulars March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015

No. of accounts 395,710 -

Aggregate value (net of provision) of accounts sold 481.23 -

Aggregate consideration 481.23 -

Additional consideration realized in respect of accounts transferred in  
earlier years

- -

Aggregate gain or loss over net book value - -

yy g. Details of non-performing financial assets purchased / sold:

yy  The Company has not purchased / sold non-performing financial assets in the current and previous year.

yy

yy h. Asset Liability Management 

yy  Maturity pattern of certain Assets and Liabilities as on March 31, 2016:

yy (` in crore)

Particulars Upto 
30/31 

days

Over 1 
months 

upto 2 
months

Over 2 
months 

upto 3 
months

Over 3 
months 

upto 6 
months

Over 6 
months 

upto 
1year

Over 
1 year 
upto 3 

years

Over 3 
years 

upto 5 
years

Over 5 
years

Total

Deposits - - - - - - - - -

Advances * 571.02 562.56 515.27 1,343.49 1,611.36 408.86 1.91 4.90 5,019.37

Investments - - - - - - - 0.20 0.20

Borrowings 336.07 120.33 282.99 809.30 1,312.26 2,268.74 - - 5,129.69

Foreign currency assets - - - - - - - - -

Foreign currency liabilities - - - - - - - - -

 * net of provision on NPA

yy  Maturity pattern of certain Assets and Liabilities as on March 31, 2015:

 (` in crore)

Particulars Upto
30/31 

days

Over 1 
months 

upto 2 
months

Over 2 
months 

upto 3 
months

Over 3 
months 

upto 6 
months

Over 6 
months 

upto 
1year

Over 1 
yearupto 

3 years

Over 3 
years 

upto 5 
years

Over 5 
years

Total

Deposits - - - - - - - - -

Advances * 330.35 294.56 296.80 794.75 997.09 241.86 1.85 0.11 2,957.38

Investments - - - - - - - 0.2 0.2

Borrowings 321.17 158.33 209.33 608.96 924.81 1057.22 - - 3,279.84

Foreign currency assets - - - - - - - - -

Foreign currency liabilities - - - - - - - - -

 * net of provision on NPA

notes to FinAnciAl stAteMents  
FoR the YeAR ended MARCh 31, 2016 (Contd.)  
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i. Exposures:
 The Company has no exposure to the real estate sector and capital market directly or indirectly in the current and previous year.

j. Details of financing of parent company products:
 This disclosure is not applicable as the Company does not have any holding / parent company.

k. Unsecured Advances– Refer note 14.

l. Registration obtained from other financial sector regulators:
 The Company is registered with following other financial sector regulators (Financial regulators as described by Ministry of Finance):

i. Ministry of Corporate Affairs
ii. Ministry of Finance (Financial Intelligence Unit)

m. Disclosure of penalties imposed by RBI and other regulators:
 No Penalties were imposed by RBI and other regulators during current and previous year.

n. Ratings assigned by credit rating agencies and migration of ratings during the year:

(` in crore)

Deposits Instrument Name of the 
rating agency

Date of 
rating

Rating assigned Valid up to Borrowing limit or 
conditions imposed 

by rating agency

MFI Grading CARE Ratings 29-Mar-16 MFI 1 See Note-1 N/A

Bank Loan Rating  
(Long-term facilities) CARE Ratings 08-Mar-16* CARE A+

See Note-2 4,500.00
Bank Loan Rating  
(Short-term facilities) CARE Ratings 08-Mar-16* CARE A1+

Long-term Debt (NCD) CARE Ratings 30-Jun-15 CARE A+ See Note-2 400.00

Short-term Debt (CP/NCD) CARE Ratings 30-Jun-15 CARE A1+ 29-Jun-16 200.00

Short-term Debt (CP) ICRA 05-Oct-15 ICRA A1+ 04-Dec-16 750.00

Securitisation CARE Ratings 12-Jun-15 AA (SO) 15-Mar-17 83.65

Securitisation CARE Ratings 24-Nov-15 AA (SO) 15-Jul-17 243.08

Securitisation ICRA 04-Dec-15 AA (SO) 12-Sep-17 372.47

Securitisation CARE Ratings 30-Jan-16 AA (SO) 15-Nov-17 651.80

Securitisation ICRA 26-Feb-16 AA (SO) 12-Dec-17 216.21

Securitisation CARE Ratings 10-Mar-16 AA (SO) 20-Dec-17 214.61

Securitisation CARE Ratings 15-Mar-16 AA (SO) 20-Jan-18 538.11

 Note-1: MFI Grading is a one-time assessment of the Company and it is not kept under surveillance.
 Note-2: the Rating is subject to annual surveillance till final repayment / redemption of rated facilities.
 *last date of revalidation during the year.

notes to FinAnciAl stAteMents  
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o. Provisions and Contingencies (shown under the head expenditure in Statement of Profit and Loss)
 (` in crore)

Particulars March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015

Provisions for depreciation on Investment                 -    -   

Provision made towards Income tax           90.91  6.51 

Provision towards NPA             1.18  (177.96)

Provision for standard Assets           19.36  12.09 

Provision for securitised / managed portfolio           11.49  (0.04)

Provision for leave benefits             2.86 2.59

Provision for gratuity             8.91 4.02

Provision for advances recoverable in cash or kind             0.06  0.08

Provision for Impairment loss           (0.04)  (0.03)

p. Draw down from Reserves:
 There has been no draw down from reserves during the year ended March 31, 2016 (previous year: Nil).

q. Concentration of Advances, Exposures and NPAs:
(` in crore)

Particulars March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015

Concentration of Advances

Total advances to twenty largest borrowers 0.26 0.26 

(%) of advances to twenty largest borrowers to total advances 0.01% 0.01%

Concentration of Exposures   

Total exposure to twenty largest borrowers/customers 0.27 0.26 

(%) of exposure to twenty largest borrowers/customers to total exposure 0.01% 0.01%

Concentration of NPAs   

Total exposure to top four NPA accounts 0.04 0.04 

r. Sector-wise NPAs

Sector (%) of NPAs to total advances in 
that sector as at March 31, 2016

(%) of NPAs to total advances in 
that sector as at March 31, 2015

Agriculture and allied activities 0.08% 0.07%

MSME - -

Corporate borrowers - -

Services 0.07% 0.06%

Unsecured personal loans - -

Auto loans - -

Other personal loans 1.96% 0.91%

notes to FinAnciAl stAteMents  
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s. Movement of NPAs
 (` in crore)

Particulars March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015

(i) Net NPAs to Net Advances (%) 0.04% 0.05%

(ii) Movement of NPAs (Gross)

(a) Opening balance ^ 2.37  180.56 

(b) Additions during the year 18.59  2.19 

(c) Reductions during the year (incl. loans written off ) (16.82)  (180.38)

(d) Closing balance 4.14  2.37 

(iii) Movement of Net NPAs

(a) Opening balance 1.35  1.58 

(b) Additions during the year 8.97  1.20 

(c) Reductions during the year (8.38) (1.43)

(d) Closing balance 1.94  1.35 

(iv) Movement of provisions for NPAs 

(a) Opening balance 1.02  178.98 

(b) Provisions made during the year 9.62  0.99 

(c) Write-off / write-back of excess provisions (8.44)  (178.95)

(d) Closing balance 2.20  1.02 

 ^ Opening balance of NPAs include amount of `Nil (Previous year: `178.64 crore) representing portfolio in the state of Andhra Pradesh which had been 
fully provided for.

t. Disclosure of Customer Complaints

Particulars For the year ended 
March 31, 2016

For the year ended 
March 31, 2015

(i) No. of complaints pending at the beginning of the year 1,464 239

(ii) No. of complaints received during the year 17,164 13,474

(iii) No. of complaints redressed during the year 18,060 12,249

(iv) No. of complaints pending at the end of the year 568 1,464

 The Company has a Customer Grievance Redressal Mechanism including an independent ombudsman for convenience of customers to 
register their complaints and for the Company to monitor and redress them.

u. Information on instances of fraud
 Instances of fraud for the year ended March 31, 2016:
 (` in crore)

Nature of fraud No. of cases Amount of fraud Recovery Amount written-off

Cash embezzlement 65 0.53 0.38 0.15

Loans given against fictitious documents 57 1.31 0.61 0.71

Fraud by borrowers 5 0.03 0.01 0.02

 

notes to FinAnciAl stAteMents  
FoR the YeAR ended MARCh 31, 2016 (Contd.)  



131

Bharat Financial inclusion limited Annual Report 2016

 Instances of fraud for the year ended March 31, 2015:
 (` in crore)

Nature of fraud No. of cases Amount of fraud Recovery Amount written-off

Cash embezzlement^ 21  0.20  0.10  0.10 

Loans given against fictitious documents 9  0.06  0.04  0.03 

Fraud by borrowers 2  0.02  -    0.02 

 ^Includes one case of security misappropriation amounting to `0.02 crore which has been recovered.

v. Information on Net Interest Margin:

Particulars For the year ended
March 31, 2016

For the year ended
March 31, 2015

Average interest (a) 21.42% 22.84%

Average effective cost of borrowing (b) 11.84% 13.16%

Net interest margin (a-b) 9.58% 9.68%

w. Outstanding of loans against security of gold as a percentage to total assets is 0.29% (March 31, 2015: 1.05%).
yy

41. Previous year’s figures have been regrouped where necessary to conform to this year’s classification.

notes to FinAnciAl stAteMents  
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For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of          
SKS Microfinance Limited

  
sd/- sd/- sd/- sd/- sd/- 
P.H. Ravikumar M.R.Rao  S.Dilli Raj Ashish Damani Rajendra Patil  
Non-Executive Chairman Managing Director and  President Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
 Chief Executive Officer
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Our New Nomenclature
 
We are now Bharat Financial Inclusion 
Limited.
 
SKS was an abbreviation for Swayam 
Krishi Sangam. the name was adopted 
at the time of inception. At that point in 
time, the company ran its operations in 
a single state – the undivided Andhra 
Pradesh and offered a single product – an 
income generation loan. today, 12 years 
later, we have emerged as one of the 
largest microfinance companies in india 
with presence across 18 states, covering 
1,00,000 villages and catering  to its 69.7 
lakh women  members. We leveraged 
our distribution network and close-
to-the-consumer model to facilitate 
purchase of productivity enhancement 
tools.
 
During the last two decades, the 
old paradigms of the microfinance 
business have changed. Within the 
company, value has now migrated from 
competition centricity to customer 

centricity; Scale to Efficiency; and, 
Growth to Profitable Growth. today, we 
have established our position in the 
marketplace for responsible lending, 
delivering promises, best-of-breed 
efficiency and paperless centre meetings. 
Having undergone a transformation in 
the last five years, it was only appropriate 
and natural for us to consider a new 
name reflecting our new brand and 
delivery capabilities. 
 
With a pan-india presence, a large 
member base and a multiple-product 
delivery capability, we are well equipped 
to play a complimentary role in fulfilling 
the national priority of financial inclusion. 
‘Bharat’ , the Sanskrit name of india, is 
truly national. ‘Financial Inclusion’ is 
the delivery of financial services at an 
affordable cost to economically weaker 
sections of the society – which is our core 
business. We have a unique distinction 
of having a formidable, pre-dominantly 
rural network across the country, making 
the new name perfectly suited for us. 
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FORM A 

1 Name of the Company: SKS Microfinance Limited 

2 Annual financial statements for the year ended 31-Mar-16 

3 Type of Audit observation Unmodified 

4 Frequency of observation N/A 

5 'to he signed by- 

For S. R. BATLIBOI & CO. LLP 
	

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
ICAI Firm registration number : 301003E/E300005 

	
SKS Microfinance Limited 

Chartered Accountants 

per 'iren H. Mehta ttlq‘.  
Partner 

Membership No.048749 

 

P. 	avikumar 

Audit Committee Chairman 
M.R.Rao 
Managing Director and 

Chief Executive Officer 

Ashish am r ani 

Chief Financial Officer 

vi'aj 


	Page 1



